
 

Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday October 21st, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 
Welcome to the October 21st, 2024 Regular Meeting of The Lyman Select Board. 

This meeting is a public proceeding and is being recorded. 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS  
a. Public Hearing – GA Maximums - Pricilla Ouelette 

o Vote to adopt Amendments to GA Maximums 
b. Lyman Historical Society – Revolutionary Veteran Pierce Murphy 

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.  

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others 
b. Mail     •Spirit of America Award         

ITEM #3 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Franchise Agreement, Updates if any  
b. RFP – Equipment Sandblasting, Open Bids 
c. RFP – Assessment Equalization Project – Open Bids 
d. Review/ Discuss Forestry Agreement, updates from Forester.  
e. FEMA Floodplain Management Ordinance – Emergency enactment, per charter 3.13 (for continued 

emergency ordinance until November 5th, 2024) 
 

ITEM #4 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS  
a. Fire Chief – All Hands 

o Review/ Approve GMFR Personnel Policy 
b. Cemetery Committee – Adopt a Plot initiative/Summary 
c. ECO ME Rep – Composting Survey Results 
d. Treasurer Expense Report 
e. Town Clerk – Excise Report 

 
ITEM #5 NEW BUSINESS 

a. Discussion re: workshop for budget goals.  
 
ITEM #6 MINUTES 

a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 10/7/2024 

ITEM #7  SIGN WARRANTS  
a. Payroll Warrant #15 in the amount of $32,551.87 
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #16 (FY2025) in the amount of $74,700.16 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
1 M.R.S.A §405 (A) Discussion regarding personnel matters.  

 
OTHER 

 
ADJOURN 



Town of Lyman 
Select Board 

Notice of Public Hearing 

The Select Board will hold a public hearing on 

Monday October 21st, 2024 at 6:00pm  

Located at the Lyman Town Hall to allow for public comment and present 

information regarding amendments to the  

General Assistance Ordinance Maximums 

Full text of the proposed amendments is available at the Town Hall 

and on the Towns website 

www.lyman-me.gov 

The Select Board’s regular meeting will follow after the public hearing. 

ITEM #1: (a.) Public Hearing - GA Maximums Amendments 



  
 

 

 

Maine Department of Health and Human Services 

Office for Family Independence 

11 State House Station 

109 Capitol Street 

Augusta, Maine 04333-0011 

Tel.: (207) 624-4168; Toll-Free: (800) 442-6003 

TTY: Dial 711 (Maine Relay); Fax: (207) 287-3455 

  

 

Janet T. Mills 

Governor 

 
Sara Gagné-Holmes 

Acting Commissioner 

 

 

  
To:  Welfare Officials and Contracted Agents 

From:  Sara Denson, Program Manager, General Assistance 

Date:  September 4, 2024 

Subject: New GA Maximums for October 1, 2023 

  

Enclosed please find the following items:   

• MMA's updated General Assistance Ordinance (9/2024) 

• MMA’s new (October 1, 2024–September 30, 2025) “General Assistance Ordinance 

Appendices” (A – H). 

• Recovery Residence Housing Maximums (October 1, 2024-September 30, 2025) 

• “GA Ordinance Adoption Form” which was developed so that municipalities may 

easily send DHHS proof of the adoption of any updated or changed GA Ordinance. Once 

the selectpersons or council adopts the new ordinance, the enclosed form should be 

signed and submitted to DHHS. (see “Filing of GA Ordinance and/or Appendices” below 

for further information). 

• “GA Maximums Adoption Form” which was developed so that municipalities may 

easily send DHHS proof of GA maximums adoption.  Once the selectpersons or council 

adopts the new maximums, the enclosed form should be signed and submitted to DHHS. 

(see “Filing of GA Ordinance and/or Appendices” below for further information). 

 

Updates 

Please note that updates have been made to Appendix A (overall maximums), Appendix B (food 

maximums), Appendix C (housing maximums) and Appendix H (funeral maximums) of the 

General Assistance Ordinance.  There is also a new Recovery Residence Housing Maximums 

guide.  You can find information about the MMA Model Ordinance on the Maine Welfare 

Director’s Association (MWDA) website at www.mainewelfaredirectors.org.  

 

Appendix A – H  

The enclosed Appendices A – H have been revised for your municipality’s General Assistance 

Ordinance.  These new Appendices, once adopted, should replace the existing Appendices A – 

H.  Even if you are not updating your GA Ordinance, the municipal officers must approve/adopt 

the new Appendices yearly.   

 

http://www.mainewelfaredirectors.org/


 

 

The Adoption Process 

The municipal officers (i.e., selectpersons/council) adopt the local General Assistance 

Ordinance and yearly Appendices, even in town meeting communities.  The law requires that 

the municipal officers conduct a notice and hearing prior to the adoption of the Ordinance and/or 

Appendices.  Seven days posted notice is recommended, unless local law (or practice) provides 

otherwise. 

At the hearing, the municipal officers should: 

 

1) Allow all interested members of the public an opportunity to comment on the proposed 

ordinance;  

2) End public discussion, close the hearing; and  

3) Move and vote to adopt the ordinance and/or appendices either in its posted form or as amended 

in light of public discussion. 

 

Municipalities May Establish Their Own Maximums 

Municipalities may establish their own maximum levels of assistance provided that the proposed 

levels of assistance are reasonable and meet adequate standards sufficient to maintain the health 

and safety of applicants in the municipality. The municipality must submit to the Department 

documentation to justify these levels of assistance and verify that the figures developed are 

appropriate to maintain health and decency. 

 

A municipality’s maximum assistance level for Food may not be below the Department provided 

figures which are issued by the USDA and published annually following a study of cost of food 

for various family sizes.  A market basket survey may be used to establish food maximums if the 

maximums provided by the USDA are insufficient to maintain health in the municipality. 

(C.M.R. 10-144, Chapter 323, Section V). 

 

Filing of GA Ordinance and/or Appendices 

Please remember that General Assistance law requires each municipality to send DHHS a copy of 

its ordinance once adopted, should that ordinance differ from the MMA Model. Any changes or 

amendments, such as new Appendices, must also be submitted to DHHS.  DHHS will accept the 

enclosed “adoption sheet” as proof that your Municipal Officers have adopted the current MMA 

Model GA maximums and/or ordinance. If you are not making changes to your adopted ordinance, 

you are only required to submit verification that the new Appendices have been adopted. 

 



[For use when adopting updated appendices only without amending the body of an existing GA 
ordinance] 

Rev. 8-2021 

MUNICIPALITY OF _______________ 

GENERAL ASSISTANCE ORDINANCE 

Pursuant to 22 M.R.S. § 4305(1), the municipal officers of the Municipality of 

________________________, after notice and hearing, hereby amend the municipal General 

Assistance Ordinance by repealing and replacing appendices A through H of the existing 

ordinance with the attached appendices A through H, which shall be in effect from October 1, 

202__ through September 30, 202__.  This amendment will be filed with the Maine Department of 

Health & Human Services (DHHS) pursuant to 22 M.R.S. § 4305(4), and a copy of the ordinance 

and amended appendices shall be available for public inspection at the municipal office along with 

a copy of the 22 M.R.S. chapter 1161.  

Signed this _______ day of ________________, 20___, by the municipal officers: 

__________________________  ________________________________ 

(Print Name)        (Signature) 

__________________________ ________________________________ 

(Print Name)        (Signature) 

__________________________  ________________________________ 

(Print Name)        (Signature) 

__________________________  ________________________________ 

(Print Name)        (Signature) 

_________________________  ________________________________ 

(Print Name)        (Signature) 

[Please send a copy of the enactment page only to  DHHS, 109 Capitol Street, SHS 11, Augusta, ME 04330-0011]



Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas

Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly
$133.70 $575.40 $144.90 $623.70

Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly
$142.10 $611.10 $136.50 $588.00

Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly
$176.40 $758.10 $148.40 $638.40

Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly
$151.20 $648.90 $173.60 $746.20

Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly
$151.20 $648.90 $134.40 $578.90

Weekly Monthly
$172.20 $739.90

Metropolitan FMR Areas

Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly
$170.80 $734.30 $267.40 $1,150.80

Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly
$205.10 $882.70 $185.50 $798.00

Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly
$154.00 $662.20 $202.30 $869.40

Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly
$140.70 $605.50 $231.70 $997.50

Rev. 08/29/24

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Cumberland 
Cty. HMFA

Lewiston/ 
Auburn MSA

Penobscot Cty. 
HMFA

Portland 
HMFA

Knox County

Lincoln 
County

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Sagadahoc 
Cty. HMFA

York Cty. 
HMFA

York/Kittery/S
. Berwick 

HMFA

Bangor HMFA

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Washington 
County

Piscataquis 
County

Somerset 
County

Waldo County

Franklin 
County

Hancock 
County

Kennebec 
County

Oxford 
County

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

Recovery Residence Rates

2024-2025 GA Housing Maximums
Recovery Residences

The following Recovery Residence maximums are in effect from 10/1/2024- 9/30/2025

Aroostook 
County

Recovery Residence Rates



Appendix A 
Effective:  10/01/24-09/30/25 

 

 
Prepared by MMA 

8/2024 
 

1  

2024-2025 GA Overall Maximums  
 

Metropolitan Areas 
 Persons in Household 

COUNTY 1 2 3 4 5* 

Bangor HMFA: 
Bangor, Brewer, Eddington, Glenburn, Hampden, 
Hermon, Holden, Kenduskeag, Milford, Old Town, 
Orono, Orrington, Penobscot Indian Island 
Reservation, Veazie 

 
969 

 
1,068 

 
1,367 

 

 
1,744 

 
2,333 

      
Cumberland County HMFA: Baldwin, 
Bridgton, Brunswick, Harpswell, Harrison, Naples, 
New Gloucester, Pownal, Sebago 

 
1,139 

 
1,280 

 
1,689 

 
2,131 

 
2,476 

      
Lewiston/Auburn MSA: 
Auburn, Durham, Greene, Leeds, Lewiston, Lisbon, 
Livermore, Livermore Falls, Mechanic Falls, Minot, 
Poland, Sabattus, Turner, Wales 

 
881 

 
965 

 
1,232 

 
1,608 

 
1,947 

      
Penobscot County HMFA: 
Alton, Argyle UT, Bradford, Bradley, Burlington, 
Carmel, Carroll plantation, Charleston, Chester, 
Clifton, Corinna, Corinth, Dexter, Dixmont, Drew 
plantation, East Central Penobscot UT, East 
Millinocket, Edinburg, Enfield, Etna, Exeter, 
Garland, Greenbush, Howland, Hudson, Kingman 
UT, Lagrange, Lakeville, Lee, Levant, Lincoln, 
Lowell town, Mattawamkeag, Maxfield, Medway, 
Millinocket, Mount Chase, Newburgh Newport, 
North Penobscot UT, Passadumkeag, Patten, 
Plymouth, Prentiss UT, Seboeis plantation, 
Springfield, Stacyville, Stetson, Twombly UT, 
Webster plantation, Whitney UT, Winn, Woodville 

 
874 

 
884 

 

 
1,169 

 
1,464 

 
1,603 

      
Portland HMFA: 
Cape Elizabeth, Casco, Chebeague Island, 
Cumberland, Falmouth, Freeport, Frye Island, 
Gorham, Gray, Long Island,  North Yarmouth, 
Portland, Raymond, Scarborough, South Portland, 
Standish, Westbrook, Windham, Yarmouth; Buxton, 
Hollis, Limington, Old Orchard Beach 

 
1,451 

 
1,663 

 
2,141 

 
2,715 

 
3,332 

      
Sagadahoc HMFA: 
Arrowsic, Bath, Bowdoin, Bowdoinham, 
Georgetown, Perkins UT, Phippsburg, Richmond, 
Topsham, West Bath, Woolwich 

 
969 

 
1,159 

 
1,413 

 
1,939 

 
2,335 



Appendix A 
Effective:  10/01/24-09/30/25 

 

 
Prepared by MMA 

8/2024 
 

2  

 
COUNTY 1 2 3 4 5* 

York County HMFA:  
Acton, Alfred, Arundel, Biddeford, Cornish, Dayton, 
Kennebunk, Kennebunkport, Lebanon, Limerick, 
Lyman, Newfield, North Berwick, Ogunquit, 
Parsonsfield, Saco, Sanford, Shapleigh, Waterboro, 
Wells 

 
1,192 

 
1,261 

 
1,567 

 
2,039 

 
2,297 

      
York/Kittery/S.Berwick HMFA: 
Berwick, Eliot, Kittery, South Berwick, York 

 
1,371 

 

 
1,444 

 
1,905 

 
2,589 

 
3,305 

*Note:  Add $75 for each additional person. 
 
Non-Metropolitan Areas 
 Persons in Household 
 

COUNTY 1 2 3 4 5* 
 
Aroostook County 

 
766 

  
842 

 
1,043 

 
1,421 

 
1,524 

 
Franklin County 

 
807 

 
893 

 
1,174 

 
1,558 

 
1,764 

 
Hancock County 

 
1,096 

 
1,102 

 
1,307 

 
1,734 

 
1,740 

 
Kennebec County 

 
943 

 
946 

 
1,214 

 
1,529 

 
1,784 

 
Knox County 

 
935 

 
946 

 
1,163 

 
1,550 

 
1,657 

 
Lincoln County 

 
1,037 

 
1,076 

 
1,332 

 
1,733 

 
2,154 

 
Oxford County 

 
902 

 
910 

 
1,185 

 
1,575 

 
1,869 

 
Piscataquis County 

 
777 

 
860 

 
1,131 

 
1,398 

 
1,689 

 
Somerset County  

 
897 

 
931 

 
1,140 

 
1,487 

 
1,612 

 
Waldo County 

 
1,075 

 
1,085 

 
1,305 

 
1,620 

 
2,219 

 
Washington County 

 
838 

 
846 

 
 1,101 

 
1,508 

 
1,598 

 
* Please Note:  Add $75 for each additional person. 



Appendix B 
Effective:  10/01/24 to 09/30/25 

 B-1 Prepared by MMA - 8/2024 
   

2024-2025 Food Maximums 
 

Please Note:  The maximum amounts allowed for food are established in accordance with the 
U.S.D.A. Thrifty Food Plan. As of October 1, 2024, those amounts are: 
 
 

Number 
in  Weekly  Monthly  

Household Maximum Maximum  
1      67.91       292.00  
2    124.65       536.00  
3    178.60       768.00  
4    226.74       975.00  
5    269.30    1,158.00  
6    323.26    1,390.00  
7    357.21    1,536.00  
8    408.37    1,756.00  

 
 
 
 
Note:  For each additional person add $220 per month. 
 
 

https://fns-prod.azureedge.us/sites/default/files/resource-files/snap-cola-fy25.pdf


Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/24-09/30/25 

 

 C-1 Prepared by MMA – 8/2024
   

2024-2025 GA Housing Maximums  
(Heated & Unheated Rents) 

 
NOTE: NOT ALL MUNICIPALITIES SHOULD ADOPT THESE SUGGESTED 
HOUSING MAXIMUMS!  ONLY consider adopting the following numbers if these figures 
are consistent with local rent values.  If not, a market survey should be conducted, and the 
figures altered accordingly. The results of any such survey must be presented to DHHS prior to 
adoption. Or, no housing maximums should be adopted and eligibility should be analyzed in 
terms of the Overall Maximum—Appendix A. (See Instruction Memo for further guidance.) 
 
Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas 
Aroostook County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 144 619 174 748 
1 152 654 191 822 
2 186 798 237 1,019 
3 261 1,123 324 1,393 
4 270 1,162 347 1,492 

     
Franklin County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 154 660 184 789 
1 164 705 203 873 
2 216 929 267 1,150 
3 293 1,260 356 1,530 
4 326 1,402 403 1,732 

     
Hancock County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 224 964 251 1,079 
1 224 964 252 1,083 
2 253 1,087 299 1,284 
3 341 1,467 397 1,707 
4 341 1,467 397 1,707 

     
Kennebec County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 189 811 215 926 
1 189 811 216 927 
2 231 994 277 1,191 
3 294 1,262 349 1,502 
4 339 1,459 407 1,752 



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/24-09/30/25 

 

 C-2 Prepared by MMA – 8/2024
   

Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas 
Knox County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 187 803 214 918 
1 187 803 216 927 
2 219   943 265 1,140 
3 298 1,283 354 1,523 
4 310 1,332 378 1,625 

     
Lincoln County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 210 905 237 1,020 
1 211 906 246 1,057 
2 259 1,112 304 1,309 
3 341 1,466 397 1,706 
4 425 1,829 493 2,122 

     
Oxford County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 179 770 206 885 
1 179 770 207 891 
2 224 965 270 1,162 
3 304 1,308 360 1,548 
4 359 1,544 427 1,837 

     
Piscataquis County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 147 630 177 759 
1 156 672 195 840 
2 206 886 257 1,107 
3 256 1,100 319 1,370 
4 309 1,327 385 1,657 

     
Somerset County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 178 765 205 880 
1 178 765 212 912 
2 214 920 260 1,117 
3 284 1,220 339 1,460 
4 299 1,287 367 1,580 

 



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/24-09/30/25 

 

 C-3 Prepared by MMA – 8/2024
   

Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas 
Waldo County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 219 943 246 1,058 
1 219 943 248 1,066 
2 252 1,085 298 1,282 
3 315 1,353 370 1,593 
4 440 1,894 509 2,187 

     
Washington County Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 164 706 191 821 
1 164 706 192 827 
2 205 881 251 1,078 
3 289 1,241 344 1,481 
4 296 1,273 364 1,566 

Metropolitan FMR Areas 
Bangor HMFA Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 195 837 221 952 
1 209 898 244 1,049 
2 267 1,147 312 1,344 
3 344 1,477 399 1,717 
4 467 2,008 535 2,301 

     
Cumberland Cty. 
HMFA 

Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 234 1,007 261 1,122 
1 258 1,110 293 1,261 
2 342 1,469 387 1,666 
3 434 1,864 489 2,104 
4 500 2,151 568 2,444 

     
Lewiston/Auburn MSA Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 174 749 201 864 
1 185 795 220 946 
2 235 1,012 281 1,209 
3 312 1,341 368 1,581 
4 377 1,622 445 1,915 



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/24-09/30/25 

 

 C-4 Prepared by MMA – 8/2024
   

Metropolitan FMR Areas 
Penobscot Cty. HMFA Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 173 742 199 857 
1 173 742 201 865 
2 221 949 266 1,146 
3 278 1,197 334 1,437 
4 297 1,278 365 1,571 

     
Portland HMFA Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 307 1,319 334 1,434 
1 347 1,493 382 1,644 
2 447 1,921 492 2,118 
3 569 2,448 625 2,688 
4 699 3,007 767 3,300 

     
Sagadahoc Cty. HMFA Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 195 837 221 952 
1 230 989 265 1,140 
2 277 1,193 323 1,390 
3 389 1,672 445 1,912 
4 467 2,010 536 2,303 

     
York Cty. HMFA Unheated Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 247 1,060 273 1,175 
1 254 1,091 289 1,242 
2 313 1,347 359 1,544 
3 412 1,772 468 2,012 
4 459 1,972 527 2,265 

     
York/Kittery/S. Berwick 
HMFA 

 
Unheated 

 
Heated 

Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 
0 288 1,239 315 1,354 
1 296 1,274 331 1,425 
2 392 1,685 438 1,882 
3 540 2,322 596 2,562 
4 693 2,980 761 3,273 

 



FOR MUNICIPAL USE ONLY 
 

MMA 
08/23 

1 

2023-2024 GA MAXIMUMS SUMMARY SHEET 
 

Note:  The overall maximums found in Appendices A, B, C, D, E, and F are effective from 
October 1, 2023 to September 30, 2024. 

 
APPENDIX A - OVERALL MAXIMUMS  

 
County  Persons in Household 

  1 2 3 4 5 6 
        
        

NOTE:  For each additional person add $75 per month. 
 

(The applicable figures from Appendix A, once adopted, should be inserted here.) 
 
 

APPENDIX B - FOOD MAXIMUMS Not Updated 
 

Number in Household Weekly Maximum Monthly Maximum 
1 $ 67.91  $ 292.00 
2 124.65    536.00 
3 178.60   768.00 
4 226.74    975.00 
5 269.30  1,158.00 
6 323.26  1,390.00 
7 357.21                      1,536.00  
8 408.37 

 
 1,756.00 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $220 per month. 
 
 

APPENDIX C - HOUSING MAXIMUMS 
 

 Unheated  Heated 
Number of 
Bedrooms 

 Weekly  Monthly  Weekly  Monthly 

0         
1         
2  
3         
4         

(The applicable figures from Appendix C, once adopted, should be inserted here.) 



FOR MUNICIPAL USE ONLY 
 

MMA 
08/23 

2 

 
APPENDIX D - UTILITIES  

 
ELECTRIC 

 
NOTE:  For an electrically heated dwelling also see “Heating Fuel” maximums below.  But remember, an 
applicant is not automatically entitled to the “maximums” establishedapplicants must demonstrate 
need. 
 

1)  Electricity Maximums for Households Without Electric Hot Water: The maximum amounts 
allowed for utilities, for lights, cooking and other electric uses excluding electric hot water and heat: 

Number in Household Weekly Monthly 
1 $19.95 $ 85.50 
2 $22.52 $ 96.50 
3 $24.97 $107.00 
4 $27.53 $118.00 
5 $29.88 $128.50 
6 $32.55 $139.50 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $10.50 per month. 
 

2)  Electricity Maximums for Households With Electrically Heated Hot Water:  The maximum 
amounts allowed for utilities, hot water, for lights, cooking and other electric uses excluding heat: 

Number in Household Weekly Monthly 
1 $29.63 $127.00 
2 $34.07 $146.00 
3 $39.67 $170.00 
4 $46.32 $198.50 
5 $55.65 $238.50 
6 $58.68 $251.50 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $14.50 per month. 
 

NOTE: For electrically heated households, the maximum amount allowed for electrical utilities per 
month shall be the sum of the appropriate maximum amount under this subsection and the appropriate 
maximum for heating fuel as provided below. 
 

APPENDIX E - HEATING FUEL  
 

Month Gallons Month Gallons 
September 50 January 225 
October 100 February 225 
November 200 March 125 
December 200 April 125 

  May 50 
 



FOR MUNICIPAL USE ONLY 
 

MMA 
08/23 

3 

NOTE:  When the dwelling unit is heated electrically, the maximum amount allowed for heating 
purposes will be calculated by multiplying the number of gallons of fuel allowed for that month 
by the current price per gallon.  When fuels such as wood, coal and/or natural gas are used for 
heating purposes, they will be budgeted at actual rates, if they are reasonable.  No eligible 
applicant shall be considered to need more than 7 tons of coal per year, 8 cords of wood per year, 
126,000 cubic feet of natural gas per year, or 1000 gallons of propane. 
 

APPENDIX F - PERSONAL CARE & HOUSEHOLD SUPPLIES 
 
 

Number in Household Weekly Amount Monthly Amount 
1-2 $10.50 $45.00 
3-4 $11.60 $50.00 
5-6 $12.80 $55.00 
7-8 $14.00 $60.00 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $1.25 per week or $5.00 per month. 
 

SUPPLEMENT FOR HOUSEHOLDS WITH CHILDREN UNDER 5 
 
When an applicant can verify expenditures for the following items, a special supplement will be budgeted 
as necessary for households with children under 5 years of age for items such as cloth or disposable 
diapers, laundry powder, oil, shampoo, and ointment up to the following amounts: 
 

Number of Children Weekly Amount Monthly Amount 
1 $12.80 $55.00 
2 $17.40 $75.00 
3 $23.30 $100.00 
4 $27.90 $120.00 

 



Appendix G 
Effective:  10/01/24-09/30/25 

 

 
Prepared by MMA 

8/2024 

1  

2024-2025 Mileage Rate  
 
This municipality adopts the State of Maine travel expense reimbursement rate as set by the Office of the 
State Comptroller.  The current rate for approved employment and necessary medical travel etc. is 50 cents 
(50¢) per mile.  
 
Please refer to the Office of the State Controller for changes to this rate at 626-8420 or visit 
http://www.state.me.us/osc/ 
 

http://www.state.me.us/osc/


Appendix H 
    Effective:  10/01/24-9/30/25 

 H-1 Prepared by SD 
- 9/2024 

Funeral Maximums  
 

Burial Maximums 
 

The maximum amount of general assistance granted for the purpose of burial is $1,620.   
The municipality’s obligation to provide funds for burial purposes is limited to a 
reasonable calculation of the funeral director’s direct costs, not to exceed the maximum 
amounts of assistance described in this section.  Allowable burial expenses are limited to:  

• removal of the body from a local residence or institution 
• a secured death certificate or obituary 
• embalming  
• a minimum casket 
• a reasonable cost for necessary transportation 
• other reasonable and necessary specified direct costs, as itemized by 

the funeral director and approved by the municipal administrator. 

 
Additional costs may be allowed by the GA administrator, where there is an actual cost, 
for: 
 

• the wholesale cost of a cement liner if the cemetery by-laws require 
one; 

• the opening and closing of the grave site; and 
• a lot in the least expensive section of the cemetery.  If the municipality 

is able to provide a cemetery lot in a municipally owned cemetery or 
in a cemetery under municipal control, the cost of the cemetery lot in 
any other cemetery will not be paid by the municipality. 

 
 



Appendix H 
    Effective:  10/01/24-9/30/25 

 H-2 Prepared by SD 
- 9/2024 

 
Cremation Maximums 

The maximum amount of assistance granted for a cremation shall be $1,125.   

The municipality’s obligation to provide funds for cremation purposes is limited to a 
reasonable calculation of the funeral director’s direct costs, not to exceed the maximum 
amounts of assistance described in this section.  Allowable cremation expenses are 
limited to:  

• removal and transportation of the body from a local residence or 
institution 

• professional fees 
• crematorium fees 
• a secured death certificate or obituary 
• other reasonable and necessary specified direct costs, as itemized by 

the funeral director and approved by the municipal administrator. 

Additional costs may be allowed by the GA administrator where there is an actual cost, 
for: 

• a cremation lot in the least expensive section of the cemetery 
• a reasonable cost for a burial urn not to exceed $55 
• transportation costs borne by the funeral director at a reasonable rate 

per mile for transporting the remains to and from the cremation 
facility. 

 



ITEM #2: (b.) Mail

Robert L. Andrews 
Vice-Chairperson 
District 1 COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

COUNTY OF YORK 

Gregory T. Zinser 
County Manager 

Kathryn A. Dunwnt 
Assistant to the Manager Richard R. Dutremble 

Chairperson 
Lorene B. Lemieux 
Finance Director 

District 2 

Justin Chenette 
District 3 

45 Kennebunk Road 
Alfred, Maine 04002 Linda Hutchins- Corliss 

Deputy County Manager 
Human Resource Director DonnaL. Ring 

District4 

Richard Clark 
District 5 

October 2, 2024 

Priscilla Miles 
411 Hill Road 
Lyman, ME 04002 

Dear Priscilla Miles: 

(207) 459-2313 
Fax (207) 324-9494 

www. \' orkcounLymaine.gov 

We are honored to announce that your Association has been selected by your town of Lyman to be 
awarded the SPIRIT OF AMERICA AW ARD FOR 2024. 

The Spirit of America Foundation was established in Augusta, ME to encourage volunteerism & it allows 
the Spirit of America Foundation Tribute to be presented in the name of any Maine municipality. The first 
Spirit of America Foundation award was presented to Alma Jones by Augusta Mayor William Burney on 
Nov. 26, 1991. Maine Governors John Baldacci and Angus King and Maine Municipal Association 
Director Chris Lockwood are among many who have played key roles at one of the 500+ Spirit of 
America ceremonies over the years. 

The awards ceremony to celebrate the winners of this prestigious award will be held on November 20, 
2024 beginning at 3:30 p.m. To participate in the awards ceremony, you may attend the ceremony being 
held at the York County Government Building located at 149 Jordan Springs Road in Alfred or to attend 
virtually, please visit our website at: wwws orkcount\ maine,gov and go to AGENDAS. Click onto the 
ZOOM link and you will be able to view and participate. The link will also be posted on our Facebook 
page at: Y orkCountyMaineGovemment. 

Sincerely, _ 

!1v1u1tL. J cfJ01 g 
Commissioner Donna RVg 
District 4 
cc: Select Board 



TOWN OF LYMAN 
11 So. Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002  

Tel: (207)-247-0642 FAX: (207)-499-7563 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

TRANSFER STATION  
EQUIPMENT SANDBLAST & PAINT SERVICES 

PROJECT TITLE: Transfer Station – Equipment Sandblast & Paint Services 

PROPOSAL DUE DATE:  10/21/2024 by 1:00pm  
Sealed bids will be opened on 10/21/2024 during the Select Board meeting. 

CONTENTS OF THIS RFP: 

1. Introduction
2. Scope of Work
3. Conditions & Instructions to Bidders
4. Pricing
5. Submission of Proposals
6. Bid Proposal Form

1. INTRODUCTION

The Town of Lyman is seeking qualified contractors to perform off-site sandblasting and painting of entire loader 

apparatus, and replacement of the cab floor. The intent of this RFP is to solicit proposals from experienced vendors 

capable of delivering high-quality, durable results while minimizing equipment downtime. 

The scope of work is as outlined in this request for proposal. This document does not commit the Town of Lyman to 
any contract for any service, supply, or subscription whatsoever. The Town of Lyman will not reimburse any 
information or administrative costs incurred as a result of participation in response to the RFP. All costs associated 
with response will solely reside at the responding party’s expense.  

Please submit your proposal in a sealed envelope to the Town of Lyman by 10/21/2024 by 1:00pm EST. Proposals 
must be addressed to: 

Town of Lyman, Select Board 
RFP: Transfer Station – Equipment Sandblast & Paint Services 
11 South Waterboro Rd 
Lyman, ME 04002 

Please mark sealed proposals plainly “RFP: Transfer Station – Equipment Sandblast & Paint Services”. Proposals will 
be opened publicly during the Select Boards regular meeting on 10/21/2024. The Town will not except late bids.  

Questions regarding this request for proposal should be directed to: 

townmanager@lyman-me.gov  
Or call the Town Manager Office: 207-247-0642 

ITEM #3: (b.) RFP - Sandblasting Equipment

mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov


2. SCOPE OF WORK

The loader apparatus is a critical piece of equipment at our Transfer Station, and this project aims to restore and 

extend its service life. The scope of work includes the following key tasks: 

DETAILS: 

SANDBLASTING 

• Objective: Complete removal of all existing paint, rust, and contaminants from the loader surface areas.

• Requirements:

o Use appropriate sandblasting media to avoid damaging the loader apparatus.

o Ensure all surfaces are thoroughly cleaned and prepared for painting.

o Dispose of all debris and waste in compliance with environmental regulations.

PAINTING 

• Objective: Apply a durable, corrosion-resistant paint finish to the loader cab.

• Requirements:

o Apply a primer coat to all exposed metal surfaces post-sandblasting.

o Apply a minimum of two coats of high-quality salt resistant paint specifically designed for industrial

machinery. Provide color choice options for the consumer.

o Ensure the paint application is smooth, with no visible defects such as runs, sags, or missed areas.

CAB FLOOR REPLACEMENT 

• Objective: Replace the existing cab floor with a new, durable material that meets or exceeds original

equipment specifications.

• Requirements:

o Remove the existing cab floor, ensuring that any underlying structural issues are identified and

addressed.

o Install a new cab floor using materials that are resistant to wear, corrosion, and heavy use.

o Ensure the installation is secure, with all seams and joints properly sealed.

o Inspect the completed work to ensure it meets safety and durability standards.

o Paint the cab floor with a durable corrosion-resistant paint

OTHER DELIVERABLES & QUALIFICATIONS  

The Town of Lyman will coordinate appropriate measures for transportation needs of the loader apparatus. 

Work should be completed in a reasonable time frame that minimizes equipment downtime. The bidder must 

specify the project timeline in the bid proposal. Project start date is anticipated to be scheduled by October 22nd, 

2024.  

Bidder shall provide warranty information for materials and workmanship 

The selected contractor must be experienced in sandblasting and painting heavy machinery and cab floor 

replacement for similar equipment.   



3. CONDITIONS & INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

• Bidders shall use the enclosed bid form and submit additional information/credentials attached with bid form.

• Proposals must include separate line-item costs for any or all the items outlined on the proposal form.

• Proposals must be completed in full and must be signed by a firm official or representative. Proposals may be
withdrawn prior to the time set for the official opening. Request for withdrawn must be submitted in writing.

• Proposals will be opened publicly. Bidders or representatives may be present at opening.

• Issuance of this RFP and receipt of proposals does not commit the Town to award a contract. The Town
reserves the right to postpone receipt date, accepting or rejecting any or all proposals received in response
to this RFP, or to negotiate with any of the consultants/firms submitting an RFP, or to cancel all or part of this
RFP.

• Please state “RFP: Transfer Station – Equipment Sandblast & Paint Services” on submitted, sealed envelope.

• The Town of Lyman reserves the right to waive any formality and technicality, whichever is deemed best for
the interest of the Town.

• The Select Board will review sealed bids in an open public meeting and may, at the boards’ discretion, delay award
pending further review. It should be noted that the contract resulting from this RFP will be awarded to the
respondent whose proposal is determined to be in the “best interest” of the Town. Therefore, the proposal
offering the lowest cost may not necessarily be the proposal that is selected for award.

• RIGHT OF REFUSAL. The Town reserves the right to: a) Reject any or all proposals, or to make no award. b)
Select certain applications from the proposals. c) Require modifications to initial proposals. d) to make partial
or multiple awards. e) award based on initial proposals received, without discussion of such proposals. f)
invite selected vendors to make oral presentations to the evaluations team. Failure of a vendor to comply
with the request for meeting may be grounds for bid rejections. g) excuse technical defects in a proposal
when, in its sole discretion, such as excuse is beneficial to the Town.

4. PRICING

Proposals will clearly state and explain all costs associated with the services provided including lead time and 
warranty information.  

There is no expressed or implied obligation on the part of the Town of Lyman to reimburse bidders for any expenses 
incurred in preparing or presenting proposals in response to this request.  

5. SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS

All proposals must be submitted in sealed envelopes, addressed to the Town of Lyman, Select Board and plainly 
marked “RFP: Transfer Station – Equipment Sandblast & Paint Services” 



Bid proposals will be date stamped on the outside of the envelope immediately upon receipt. Any bid may be 
withdrawn in writing prior to the scheduled time for opening bids. Any bids received after the time and date 
specified shall not be considered and shall be returned to the bidder unopened. Bidders shall bid to specifications 
and any exceptions must be noted. A bidder submitting a bid thereby certifies that the bid is made in good faith 
without fraud, collusion, or connection of any kind with any other bidder for the same work, and that the bidder is 
competing solely on his/her behalf without connection with or obligation to any unsolicited person or firm.  

No electronically submitted proposals will be accepted in response to this request. 

The Town Manager will serve as the single point of contact for this request. All official communication between the 
bidder and the Town upon release of this RFP shall be with the Town Manager. Any other communication will be 
considered unofficial and non-binding on the Town. However, bidders are encouraged to visit the Transfer Station 
and/or inquire about the scope of work, if necessary, to help submit an accurate bid.  

Lindsay Gagne 
Town Manager 
11 South Waterboro Rd 
Lyman, ME 04002 
Tel. (207)-247-0642 
email: Townmanager@lyman-me.gov 

This RFP does not obligate the Town of Lyman to contract for services specified herein.  

The Town of Lyman reserves the right to extend a contract for ongoing services without reissuing an RFP. 

mailto:Townmanager@lyman-me.gov


6. BID PROPOSAL FORM

Due: October 21st, 2024 by 1:00pm  EST. 

To: Town of Lyman, Select Board 
RFP: Transfer Station – Equipment Sandblast & Paint Services 
11 South Waterboro Rd 
Lyman, ME 04002 

Contractor shall provide a breakdown of costs, including materials, labor, and any other expenses. 

Services/ Materials Quantity Price 

Total Pricing 

Contractor/Vendor warrants its work as specified below against all defects in materials or workmanship. 

___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________ 

The undersigned individual/firm/business guarantees this price for sixty days (60) from the proposal due date. The undersigned submits this 

proposal without collusion with any other person, individual, firm or agency. The undersigned ensures the authority to act on behalf of the 

corporation, partnership or individual they represent; and has read and agreed to all of the terms, requests, or conditions written herein by the 

Town of Lyman.   

By signing this form, the firm listed below hereby affirms that its bid meets the minimum specifications and standards as listed above. 

Signature ____________________________________________ Company ________________________________________ 

Name (print) _________________________________________ Telephone # _____________________________________ 

Title __________________________________________ Website__________________________________________________ 

Address _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Email Address ___________________________________________________________________________________________ 



TOWN OF LYMAN 
11 So. Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002  

Tel: (207)-247-0642 FAX: (207)-499-7563 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

LAND & BUILDING COST TABLES UPDATE/ REVALUATION 

PROJECT TITLE: Property Assessment Equalization Project 

PROPOSAL DUE DATE: October 21st, 2024 by 1:00pm  
Sealed bids will be opened on October 21st, 2024 during the Select Board meeting. 

PROJECT TIMELINE START DATE: July 1, 2025 

PROJECT TIMELINE END DATE: April 1, 2026 

CONTENTS OF THIS RFP: 

1. Introduction
2. Scope of Work
3. Conditions & Instructions to Bidders
4. Pricing
5. Submission of Proposals
6. Bid Proposal Form

1. INTRODUCTION

The Town of Lyman, Maine is undertaking a project to review recent property sales and  
perform a cost tables update revaluation of all properties in town to raise the Certified Ratio to 100% Market Value 
per Maine Constitutional requirements.  The current declared ratio is 76%.   The parcel count for the Town is 
estimated to be 2950. Project timeline will begin July 1, 2025. The goal is to accomplish an effective assessment date 
of April 1, 2026.  

The intention of this RFP is to solicit responses and formal proposals and select a single organization to provide 
services to the Town of Lyman. 

The scope of work is as outlined in this request for proposal. This document does not commit the Town of Lyman to 
any contract for any service, supply, or subscription whatsoever. The Town of Lyman will not reimburse any 
information or administrative costs incurred as a result of participation in response to the RFP. All costs associated 
with response will solely reside at the responding party’s expense.  

Please submit your proposal in a sealed envelope to the Town of Lyman by October 21st, 2024 by 1:00pm EST. 
Proposals must be addressed to: 

Town of Lyman, Select Board 
RFP: Property Assessment Equalization Project 
11 South Waterboro Rd 
Lyman, ME 04002 

Please mark sealed proposals plainly “RFP - Property Assessment Equalization Project”. Proposals will be opened 
publicly during the Select Boards regular meeting on October 21st, 2024. The Town will not except late bids.  
Questions regarding this request for proposal should be directed to: 

townmanager@lyman-me.gov  
Or call the Town Manager Office: 207-247-0642 

ITEM #3: (c.) RFP - Assessment Equalization Project

mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov


2. SCOPE OF WORK

It is the express intent that the project shall include but not be limited to: 

• Full field review of all sales dating from the period 4/1/2023 to 4/1/2025* to ensure accurate assessing
information at the time of sale.  (*Time period may adjust to obtain adequate data for analysis.)

• Perform a market analysis and adjust/update all cost tables to reflect just value for all parcels based upon the
qualified sales during the period used.

• Arrive at the just value of each parcel with separately expressed land and building values as well as total
property values.  Appraisals shall be made based on the definition of just value contained in 36 MRSA 701-A.

• Verify values determined and accuracy of data used via field review to ensure methodology established from
the sales is consistently applied to the entire population of properties.

• Please provide a separate line item for the pricing of rates and services related to visiting properties that the
Assessor has not yet inspected, particularly those that have undergone changes such as new construction, to
update property card data.

Requirements:  

Each firm responding to this solicitation must address the following items in their proposal: 

• A detailed description of the process proposed to be undertaken identifying the key components with the
level of effort to be performed at each step.

• Evidence of employment of at least one Certified Maine Assessor.

• List of staff available to serve the Town of Lyman during the process.  (*Include Resumes.)

• The selected firm and staff assigned must be proficient in and have proven experience working with TRIO
WEB CAMA software.

• Samples of grading and pricing schedules, including land pricing formulas, necessary for revaluations and a
reasonable explanation of the proper usage of the grading and pricing schedules.

• Prior to the completion of the revaluation the selected firm will make themselves available to meet with
taxpayers and staff to review the new valuations.

• Proposals will include all costs associated with the scope of work including anticipated time needed for
meetings with taxpayers to review new valuations.  Proposals should also include a daily rate for additional
taxpayer meetings if needed.

• All data, files, records, photos, etc. gathered and/or used will be turned over to the Assessor’s Office for
retention.



3. CONDITIONS & INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

• Bidders shall use the enclosed bid form and submit additional information/credentials attached with bid form.

• Proposals must include separate line-item costs for any or all the items outlined on the proposal form.

• Proposals must be completed in full and must be signed by a firm official or representative. Proposals may be
withdrawn prior to the time set for the official opening. Request for withdrawn must be submitted in writing.

• Proposals will be opened publicly. Bidders or representatives may be present at opening.

• Issuance of this RFP and receipt of proposals does not commit the Town to award a contract. The Town
reserves the right to postpone receipt date, accepting or rejecting any or all proposals received in response
to this RFP, or to negotiate with any of the consultants/firms submitting an RFP, or to cancel all or part of this
RFP.

• Please state “RFP - Property Assessment Equalization Project” on submitted, sealed envelope.

• The Town of Lyman reserves the right to waive any formality and technicality, whichever is deemed best for
the interest of the Town.

• The Select Board will review sealed bids in an open public meeting and may, at the boards’ discretion, delay award
pending further review. It should be noted that the contract resulting from this RFP will be awarded to the
respondent whose proposal is determined to be in the “best interest” of the Town. Therefore, the proposal
offering the lowest cost may not necessarily be the proposal that is selected for award.

• RIGHT OF REFUSAL. The Town reserves the right to: a) Reject any or all proposals, or to make no award. b)
Select certain applications from the proposals. c) Require modifications to initial proposals. d) to make partial
or multiple awards. e) award based on initial proposals received, without discussion of such proposals. f)
invite selected vendors to make oral presentations to the evaluations team. Failure of a vendor to comply
with the request for meeting may be grounds for bid rejections. g) excuse technical defects in a proposal
when, in its sole discretion, such as excuse is beneficial to the Town.

• The Contractor will furnish the Town with a certificate(s) of insurance executed by a duly authorized
representative of each insurer, showing compliance with the insurance requirements set forth below. The
Contractor shall, at its own expense, obtain and keep in force insurance coverage during the full term of the
contract. Upon the Town’s acceptance of the Contractor’s proposal, a Certificate of Insurance shall be
provided to the Town by the Contractor or the Contractor’s insurance company before any work is
performed.  The Contractor’s policies shall name the Town of Lyman as an additional insured.

o Liability Insurance (Or Commercial Liability): Contractor shall maintain general liability with a limit of
not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), combined single limit.

o Automobile Liability Insurance: Contractor shall maintain automobile liability insurance with a limit
not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit.

o Workers’ Compensation: Contractor will maintain workers’ compensation in amounts required by
Main law and Employer’s Liability Insurance, as necessary, as required by Maine law. If in the event
the contractor is not required to carry workers’ compensation according to Maine law, then the
contractor must provide the Town with an approved Independent Contractors Status from the State
of Maine.

• Project timeline start date will begin July 1, 2025 and funds are subject to appropriation by Annual Town
Meeting



4. PRICING

Proposals will include all costs associated with the scope of work including anticipated time needed for meetings with 
taxpayers to review new valuations.  Proposals should also include a daily rate for additional taxpayer meetings if 
needed.  The Town is requesting a separate line item for the pricing of rates and services related to visiting properties 
that the Assessor has not yet inspected, particularly those that have undergone changes such as new construction, to 
update property card data. Please include this as a separate cost proposal.  

The Town of Lyman will not make any advance payments. Invoices for services performed shall be submitted to the 
Town.  

There is no expressed or implied obligation on the part of the Town of Lyman to reimburse bidders for any expenses 
incurred in preparing or presenting proposals in response to this request.  

5. SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS

All proposals must be submitted in sealed envelopes, addressed to the Town of Lyman, Select Board and plainly 
marked “RFP - Property Assessment Equalization Project” 

Bid proposals will be date stamped on the outside of the envelope immediately upon receipt. Any bid may be 
withdrawn in writing prior to the scheduled time for opening bids. Any bids received after the time and date 
specified shall not be considered and shall be returned to the bidder unopened. Bidders shall bid to specifications 
and any exceptions must be noted. A bidder submitting a bid thereby certifies that the bid is made in good faith 
without fraud, collusion, or connection of any kind with any other bidder for the same work, and that the bidder is 
competing solely on his/her behalf without connection with or obligation to any unsolicited person or firm.  

No electronically submitted proposals will be accepted in response to this request. 

The Town Manager will serve as the single point of contact for this request. All official communication between the 
bidder and the Town upon release of this RFP shall be with the Town Manager. Any other communication will be 
considered unofficial and non-binding on the Town. 

Lindsay Gagne 
Town Manager 
11 South Waterboro Rd 
Lyman, ME 04002 
Tel. (207)-247-0642 
email: Townmanager@lyman-me.gov 

This RFP does not obligate the Town of Lyman to contract for services specified herein.  

The Town of Lyman reserves the right to extend a contract for ongoing services without reissuing an RFP. 

mailto:Townmanager@lyman-me.gov


6. BID PROPOSAL FORM

Due: October 21st, 2024 by 1:00pm  EST. 

To: Town of Lyman, Select Board 
RFP: Property Assessment Equalization Project 
11 South Waterboro Rd 
Lyman, ME 04002 

The bidder shall provide a detailed breakdown of all project-related costs on a separate form, which 
must be attached to this RFP Bid Proposal Form.  

Please provide a separate line item for the pricing of rates and services related to visiting properties that the 
Assessor has not yet inspected, particularly those that have undergone changes such as new construction, to 
update property card data. 

The undersigned individual/firm/business guarantees this price for sixty days (60) from the proposal due date. The 

undersigned submits this proposal without collusion with any other person, individual, firm or agency. The 

undersigned ensures the authority to act on behalf of the corporation, partnership or individual they represent; and 

has read and agreed to all of the terms, requests, or conditions written herein by the Town of Lyman.   

By signing this form, the firm listed below hereby affirms that its bid meets the minimum specifications and 

standards as listed above. 

Signature ____________________________________ Company ________________________________________ 

Name (print) _________________________________ Telephone # _____________________________________ 

Title __________________________________________ Fax # _____________________________________________ 

Address __________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Email Address ___________________________________________________________________________________ 

Web Site _________________________________________________________________________________________ 



1 

LANDOWNER (Town of Lyman) 
TIMBER SALES AGREEMENT 

This agreement is made this _____________ day of ______________________, ________by and between: 

Seller: Purchaser/Buyer: 

Name(s):  Town of Lyman Name(s): Jones Associates Inc 
 Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager 

Address:  11 S Waterboro Rd 
Lyman, ME 04002 

Address:  280 Poland Spring Road 
 Auburn, Maine 04210 

Tel.#:       Tel.#       (207) 241-0235 
Email:      townmanager@lyman-me.gov Email:      rjones@jonesai.com 
SS# or Federal ID#: SS# or Federal ID#:  01-0462789 

(This agreement refers to “Seller” and “Purchaser” throughout.  Where more than one Seller or Purchaser is 
a party to this Agreement, references to “Seller” or “Purchaser”, as applicable, shall mean all Purchasers or 
Sellers collectively). 

The Seller agrees to sell to Purchaser and to allow Purchasers entry upon Sellers’ land, upon the terms and 
conditions stated below: 

I. Property Location / Access / Boundaries
Seller grants to Buyer permission to enter Seller’s land, together with workers and equipment upon the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement, to harvest forest products from the areas designated by Seller and 
remove the forest products listed in this Agreement.  Buyer agrees to cut and remove the forest products 
and to pay Seller according to the terms of this Agreement. (Seller to determine adequate level of detail 
included in Appendix A). 

A. Lot Location and Description
Seller’s lands (“the Lots”) subject to this Agreement is located in (town/township/plantation) Lyman, York  
County, Maine.  Multiple Lots as more fully described below: 

Map and 
Lot 

Account 
No. Address 

Acreage 
(from 
Town) 

03-007 136 Graves Rd 4.73 
03-009 138 Graves Rd 1 
03-062 222 Old Ben Davis Rd 21 
03-063-A 224 Old Ben Davis Rd 26 
03-063-B 225 Old Ben Davis Rd 35 
03-081 252 Pig Farm Rd 33 
03-088 258 Pig Farm Rd 11 
04-007-1 2948 Carlisle Brook Rd 27.6 
07-036 670 Davis Rd 40 
07-037 672 Davis Rd 6.5 
07-082 749 Davis Rd 15.6 

ITEM #3: (d.) Forestry Updates



2 

Designation of Area to be Cut / Survey 

Check the appropriate provision(s) 

    The entire Lot is subject to the terms of this Agreement. 
      X          Only portions of the Lots will be subject to harvest operations. 
      X          Lots containing shoreland zone and or setbacks from Great Ponds will require 
additional tree marking and review from the CEO.  This work will be charged at time and 
materials rate.  (See Appendix B for survey rates) 

B. Marking Boundaries

On land where 10 acres or more is to be harvested, the property owner is by law responsible for clearly 
marking the property line if the cutting is being done within 200 feet of the property line (Title 14 MRSA 
ss. 7552A).  With respect to this requirement, the parties agree that the responsibility to mark boundary 
lines, regardless of the acreage of the area to be harvested, shall be met as follows: 

Check the appropriate provision if applicable: 

Seller agrees to be responsible for marking property lines prior to Purchaser’s cutting. 

     X     Purchaser agrees to determine and mark the property lines at Purchaser’s costs before 
commencing harvesting activities.  If survey is necessary to determine any boundary the cost of that 
survey will be taken from the proceeds of the Seller at Time and Materials rate.  (See  appendix for 
survey rates)  

     Less than ten (10) acres will be harvested and/or limits of the cutting area are sufficiently within 
the interior of the Lot to be more than 200 feet from the nearest property line.  Therefore, neither Seller nor 
Purchaser is obligated under this Agreement to mark boundary lines.  Notwithstanding the parties’ waiver 
of any survey requirements under this Agreement, Purchaser shall be responsible for overseeing the cutting 
operation to ensure that cutting occurs only in the designated areas, and that timber trespass is avoided. 

If applicable, Purchaser, in marking the boundaries is relying on the following information provided by 
Seller:  (Identify plans or survey information). N/A 

Trees on the boundary line with adjacent landowners shall not be cut. 

C. Access

Check appropriate provision: 
      X     Access will be provided by Seller as indicated below. 
_____    Access will be arranged by Purchaser as indicated below. 

1. Access Provided by Seller

Access from the nearest public way to the designated cutting areas shall be over and upon the Lots, or 
along access ROW. 

2. Access Provided by Purchaser:

Check if appropriate. 
  Seller does not have legal access to the area to be cut.  Purchaser shall be responsible for obtaining 

such access at Purchaser’s cost.  Harvesting operations will not proceed until Purchaser has obtained all 



3 

necessary licenses, permits or other legally binding permissions from other landowners to travel over their 
land. 

Purchaser’s Use of Access: As applicable, Purchaser agrees to abide by the terms, rules and regulations 
governing Seller’s or Purchaser’s rights of access to the Lot. 

D. Seller’s Warranty of Title: Seller is the owner of the Lot and the timber on the Lot with the full
authority to sell the timber under the terms of this Agreement.  If Seller has designated or obtained access
rights over lands of others to be used by Purchaser, Seller hereby assures Purchaser that Purchaser may
exercise such rights of access without further grant or permission from the other landowners.

II. Term

Purchaser shall commence harvesting on or about October 15, 2024 
(Upon execution of signed contract by both parties) and shall complete harvesting by October 15, 2025 
unless this contract is terminated as elsewhere provided in this Agreement, or the contract is extended by 
the parties in writing. Harvesting will take place between 7am and 4pm. 

III. Description of Timber to be Cut and Removed

Buyer shall remove and pay for the forest products described on Appendix A 

Payment shall be made (specific weekly, monthly or other arrangement) within 2 weeks of mill payment at 
Seller’s address specified above for forest products removed, as scaled or measured under the terms below.  
Legible scale slips shall accompany the payment. 

IV. Status of Parties

A. Designated Forester

Name of Seller’s forester/agent:     Rick Jones 
Forester/agent’s address:               280 Poland Spring Rd 

    Auburn, ME 04210 
Telephone Number:              241-0235  
If Agent is a Maine licensed professional forester, state license number:         733 

The Seller’s forester/agent shall be the agent of Seller with authority to review and approve forestry 
activities on the land during the term of this Agreement, and Purchaser agrees to consult with the 
forester/agent and abide by the forester’s/agent’s determination and instructions to the Purchaser during all 
stages of the harvest under this Agreement. 

B. Purchaser’s Status;  Purchaser Responsibilities and Warranties: Notwithstanding any other
provisions of this Agreement, no relationship of employer/employee between the Seller and the Purchaser
or between the Seller and any agent, employee or Subcontractor of the Purchaser shall be deemed to exist.
Purchaser shall select its own employees, agents or subcontractors.  Neither the Purchaser nor its
employees, agents or subcontractors shall be subject to any orders, selection, supervision or control of the
Seller.  It is mutually understood and agreed that the Purchaser is deemed to be an independent contractor.
Nothing herein contained shall prohibit the Purchaser from contracting to purchase and harvest forest
products on land of others. Purchaser warrants and represents that Purchaser does and will employ and
utilize the equipment and personnel necessary to perform the harvesting contemplated under this
Agreement in a timely manner.  Purchaser shall be solely responsible for the acquisition, maintenance,
replacement and repair of its equipment, and for the selection, training, supervision, control, direction,
compensation, work rules, discipline and termination of its employees or subcontractors.  Purchaser
warrants and represents that all of its employees will perform in accordance with the requirements of this
Agreement when assigned to the work to be performed thereunder.  Purchaser will equip and train its
employees and subcontractors adequately to perform the required services in a safe, timely and lawful



4 

manner. Purchaser will conduct Purchaser’s business to be at all times in full compliance with all 
requirements of Federal, State, and local law, including applicable common law, statutes and requirements, 
and including but not limited to the requirements of the federal Fair Labor Standards Act, all federal and 
State labor and employment laws, federal immigration laws, the workers’ compensation laws, federal and 
state equal employment laws, the Internal Revenue Code and State tax laws and regulations, the 
unemployment insurance laws, the federal Occupational Safety and Health act of 1970, as amended, and its 
regulations, state laws pertaining to occupational safety and health, state laws and regulations pertaining to 
wood harvesting, and any other laws or governmental rules and regulations pertaining to the services to be 
provided thereunder. 

The purchaser will ensure that full timely payment is made: 
1. for all employee wages and benefits, fuel and supplies;
2. for the lawful disposal of any regulated or hazardous waste or substance it handles;
3. of any and all contributions or taxes for unemployment insurance, old age retirement benefits, Workers’
Compensation or any other such employee entitlements now or hereafter imposed by law.

Purchaser is and will remain in compliance with the Maine Workers Compensation Act and Maine 
Employment Security Law. 

Purchaser agrees to indemnify the Seller from all loss, cost or expense, including defense costs and 
attorneys fees, arising by reason of the breach of any of these warranties or representation.  (Other 
provisions, if applicable)   

C. Subcontractors

Purchaser may contract with a third party to perform any part of the harvest operations contemplated under 
this Agreement without the written consent of Seller.  All subcontractors shall be deemed agents of 
Purchaser for purposes of this Agreement. 

V. Forestry Practices

The following are minimum forestry practices applicable to this Agreement.  Purchaser will, at Purchaser’s 
sole cost and expense, harvest the designated types of species of wood from the designated cutting areas 
during the terms of this Agreement in accordance with the accepted principles of professional forestry, the 
Maine Forest Practices Act and rules and regulations promulgated under 12 M.R.S.A., Chapter 805, 
Subchapter III-A, and the following agreed standards of performance. 

A. Harvest Notification

Before Purchaser begins harvesting operations, the party designated below shall notify the Maine Bureau of 
Forestry, as required under Title 12, ss 8883 of the Maine Revised Statutes. 

(  ) Seller 
(  ) Purchaser 
( X ) Other designated agent (specify)   Forester______________________________ 

The party indicated above shall retain a copy of the notification form and, unless otherwise specified 
below, shall be responsible for reporting harvest information in compliance with Maine law.  If Purchaser 
or a designated agent other than the Seller has the responsibility of filing such harvest reports, the person 
responsible for such filings shall provide copies of the reports to Seller at the time they are submitted to the 
Maine Forest Service. 

B. Scaling

All wood meeting the specifications of the parties as set forth on Paragraph III of this agreement shall be 
measured as specified below. 



5 

Volume or Weight Scales 

Check appropriate item: 

     X    Sales of volume shall be measured in standard cords, board feet, tons, or pounds in 
accordance with the Wood Measurement Rules (see appendix A). 

     X      The parties agree that weight measurement, in accordance with the Wood Measurement 
Rules, may be used. 

Sale of Tree Length Wood 

Check appropriate box: 

_____Butt measure shall be the standard method for measurement of tree length wood, purchased 
under this agreement. 

__X___The parties agree that the following method of measurement may be used, rather than butt 
measure, for tree length wood: 

Weight 

Log Length Stems (partial bole sections of tree length material) 

Log length shall be measured as follows: 

      X      International 1/4 Inch Log Rule shall apply. 
______ other (identify) __________________________________________________________ 

Scaling of products, including scaling procedures and scaling records, shall be carried out and maintained 
in accordance with the directions of Seller.  In the event that scaling is done on the Lot at harvesting site, it 
shall be done by a person or persons acceptable to Seller (who shall in any event be State licensed scalers) 
and the cost of scaling shall be paid by Purchaser. 

In the event that scaling of products is done off premises, it shall be done in a mill yard or at such a place as 
is acceptable to Seller. 

Reports of volume (legible stumpage sheets, measurement tally sheets or the like) shall be provided in full 
to Seller on a monthly basis by Buyer as wood is delivered to receiving mill. 

Further, Purchaser shall forward a monthly report showing in full, the volumes for all wood products 
hauled from the Lot.  Such volume reports will include the following: 

    X      the name of the harvest contractor or subcontractor 
    X      date and time of loading 
    X      produce type and species 
    X      mill of destination 
    X      the name of the hauler 

C. Utilization Requirements

1. Harvesting shall proceed in an orderly manner from the back of the lot to the front, or in an equivalent
manner which will ensure completion of cutting in all areas designated for harvest.  Only wood designated
by the Seller/Seller’s agent shall be harvested.

2. All marked or otherwise designated wood, including defective trees, must be cut.



6 

3. Stump heights shall not exceed six (6) inches, except where obvious obstacles, problems with terrain,
swell of roots, or similar hindrances do not permit such a low cut.  Snow shall be removed as necessary to
comply with this requirement.

4. All trees are to be limbed and cut off at the top end so that no part of any felled trees which will make
merchantable product shall be left in the woods unutilized.

5. Small end diameter shall not be less than the minimums specified below for the indicated types of wood
and product.  All pulp 4"; All hardwood logs 8"; all softwood logs 8”

6. Skidding.  Outside of areas designated for clear cutting and landings, insofar as ground conditions
permit, trees shall not be skidded against residual or reproduction trees.

D. Condition of Roads

Purchaser agrees, at its own expense, to construct roads, and skidder trails in accordance with the 
appropriate rules of the Maine Land Use Regulation Commission and / or the Department of Environmental 
Protection, and any municipal ordinances. 

Purchaser agrees to maintain and leave any existing access roads in the same or better condition than when 
harvesting began.  The cleared size of landings shall not exceed that needed for safe and efficient skidding 
and loading operations. 

E. Transportation Facilities

Purchaser may construct and maintain roads, bridges and other access appurtenances as needed for 
harvesting.  The location and clearing widths of all haul roads and landings constructed by Purchaser shall 
be agreed to between Purchaser and Seller.  Such Agreement shall be by written memorandum before 
construction is started.  Purchaser is responsible for the removal of all access appurtenances needed for 
timber removal at Seller’s request or when the terms expire. 

Check appropriate provision: 

___x_____Purchaser is authorized to cut and use timber for construction, without charge, for forest product 
transportation facilities located on Seller’s Lot.  Unmerchantable timber shall be used for such facilities to 
the extent practicable. 

________Timber cut from the Lot by Purchaser and used in construction of transportation facilities, 
including road construction, shall be paid for by Purchaser at the rates applicable under this agreement. 

F. Slash

Purchaser shall be responsible for disposing of all slash resulting from harvesting operations, so that none 
shall remain on the ground within twenty-five (25) feet of the adjoining property lines.  For purposes of this 
paragraph, adjoining property lines shall include, in addition to land of third parties, the boundaries of 
railroad rights of way, and electric power, telephone, pipeline and other utility easements.  Purchaser shall 
also remove all slash at a distance of fifty (50) feet from the bounds of any adjoining highways or public 
ways. 

Purchaser shall not place, deposit or discharge, directly or indirectly into any inland or tidal waters, or on 
the ice or banks of such waters, any materials resulting from the harvest of forest products (including slabs, 
sawdust, shavings, chips, bark, or other forest products refuse) in such a manner that they may fall or be 
washed into such waters or in a manner which would allow drainage from such deposits to flow or leach 
into such waters. 



7 

G. Litter / Pollution Avoidance

Purchaser shall not discard or otherwise dispose of litter on the property of Seller or any private property, 
into waters of the State or on ice of such waters, or upon any adjacent highway or public way, and shall be 
responsible for off site disposal of garbage and refuse generated by forest operations in a lawful manner.  
For purposes of this paragraph, litter means all waste materials, including bottles, cans, machine parts and 
equipment, junk, paper, garbage and similar refuse, but shall not include the wastes of the primary 
processes of forest product harvesting, such as sawdust and slash. 

H. Fire Suppression

Purchaser shall comply with all forest fire suppression laws of the State of Maine.  

I. General Compliance with Forestry, Land Use and Environmental Laws

Without limiting the scope of the preceding paragraphs, Purchaser shall comply with all laws, ordinances 
and regulations of the municipality where the Lot is located (if the township is organized), the State of 
Maine and of the United States relating to timber cutting; removal and disposal of slash, debris and litter; 
construction of roads, trails and landings; protection of streams, rivers and other waters of the State of 
Maine; soil erosion; and all other laws, regulations and ordinances pertaining to forest product harvest 
operations and their effect on the environment and land use, including but not limited to, the applicable 
standards of the Maine Land Use Regulatory Commission and rules and regulations established thereby and 
forest regeneration and clear-cutting standards of the Bureau of Forestry, Department of Conservation of 
the State of Maine adopted under the Maine Forest Practices Act.  Best Management Practices as published 
in Erosion and Sedimentation Handbook for Maine Timber Harvesting Operations will be implemented. 

Purchaser warrants that Purchaser will promptly notify Seller and Seller’s agent on any occasion on 
which Purchaser may be cited for a violation of laws governing the harvest operation. 

VI. Default/Enforcement of Obligations

Upon the occurrence of any event of default by Purchaser, Seller may, at any time thereafter, do any or all 
or any combination of the following: 

A. Seller reserves the right, for good cause, to halt Purchaser’s harvest operations and terminate this
Agreement, if in the opinion of Seller or Seller’s Designated Forester/Agent, the Purchaser is breaching the
terms and conditions of this Agreement.
B. Enter into the Lot and take possession of all forest products remaining on the Lot
C. Require Purchaser to give an accounting of all forest products hauled from the Lot or yarded thereon.
D. Require Purchaser to pay stumpage at rates and scales specified in this Agreement for all merchantable
materiel left in the woods or wasted in stumps or tops.
E. To grant other permits to third parties to complete the harvesting specified in this Agreement in the
event of termination of this agreement or for unexcused harvesting stumpage by Purchaser.
F. Take corrective action as Seller deems necessary to abate erosion or damage to the Lot and to remove
slash, litter and abandoned property of Purchaser, at Purchaser’s cost.
G. Enjoin any activity of Purchaser in default of this Agreement, and/or seek any other judicial or
administrative remedy available to Seller at law or in equity
Upon the termination or completion of this Agreement, Seller or Agent may examine the Lot and any
access road, and report to Purchaser any failure on the part of the Purchaser to comply with the conditions,
terms and specifications of this Agreement.

VII. Insurance
Purchaser shall provide and maintain during the term of this Agreement insurance as follows:



8 

A. Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance Workers' Compensation Insurance covering
all its employees and any others performing work related to this Agreement, with the coverage set forth in
Maine statutes, and Employer's Liability Insurance covering all such persons; and
B. Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance to
protect against claims for damages for bodily injury, including personal injury to or destruction of property
which may arise from operations performed under this Agreement. The minimum amounts of such
insurance shall be as follows: Bodily Injury Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000 aggregate,
unless another amount is specified here: Property Damage Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000
aggregate, unless another amount is specified here

VIII. Indemnity
Purchaser shall indemnify and hold Seller and Seller’s forester, agents, and employees from and against
any and all manner of claims, suits, fines, penalties and expenses incurred by Seller, and/or Seller’s
forester, agents and employees arising or allegedly arising out of the performance of this Agreement by
Purchaser and Purchaser’s agents, employees, contractors or invitees or on account of Purchaser’s use of
the Lot or its access. In the event Seller shall be forced to resort to legal action to enforce any provision of
this Agreement or to defend against claims or actions resulting from Purchaser’s performance under this
Agreement, Purchaser shall be responsible for all Seller’s costs, including reasonable attorney and paralegal
fees and court costs, and the cost of any professional services necessary for the determination of fault or the
scope of Purchaser’s non-compliance with this Agreement.  Purchaser’s agreement to hold Seller harmless
under this paragraph shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement.

IX. Assignment

Purchaser shall not assign this Agreement without Seller’s prior consent in writing. 

Entire Agreement 

This contract contains the entire agreement of the parties, and neither party shall be bound by any statement 
or representation not contained in this Agreement.  No consent or waiver, expressed or implied by the 
Seller to or of any breach of any obligations of Purchaser under this Agreement shall be construed as a 
consent or waiver to or of any other breach of such obligations.  This Agreement may be amended only by 
writing signed by the Seller and Purchaser, and deny other person against whom enforcement of this 
Agreement is sought. The parties have subscribed their names to this Agreement, agreeing to be bound by 
it, as of the date stated on the first page of this Agreement. 

SELLER PURCHASER 

  Lindsay Gagne, Lyman Town Manager Richard Jones, JAI Forester 



9 

Appendix A – Landowner Agreement between JAI and Town of Lyman   

STUMPAGE PRICES -Town of Lyman Lots 

LOGS (MBF) 

Pine Grade Logs  $ 144.00 
Pine Pallet  $   28.00 
Hemlock  $   36.00 
Hardwood Mat  $ 160.00 
HW Grade Logs (cut, processed, trucked) mill 
price less operating cost  $ 212.00 

PULP (TON) 
Pine/softwood  $   0.80 
Hemlock  $   0.80 
Mixed Hardwood  $   6.40 

CHIPS (TON)  $   0.80 

FIREWOOD (CORD)  $   20.00 



10 

Appendix B –   Jones Associates, Inc.               2024 Rates 

Staff Hourly Rate 

Principal/Forester ............................................................................................................ $120.00 / hour 
Forester ............................................................................................................................ $100.00 / hour 
Forest Technician .............................................................................................................. $65.00 / hour 
Surveyor  ...........................................................................................................................$130.00 / hour 
Survey/CADD Technician  ................................................................................................$90.00 / hour 

Equipment Rates 

Surveyor with Instrument  ............................................................................................. $160.00 / hour 
Surveyor & Technician with Instrument .......................................................................$240.00 / hour 
Survey Technician with Instrument  ..............................................................................$130.00 / hour 

Mileage .................................................................................................................................  $0.58 / mile 



Potential Easem
ent/ RO

W
 area

A
ccess

. ,f 

\\ 
\\ 
If 

II 
// 

,1-'/ 

NIF 
~HAWES -,.w:a.z 

ll,l,laTLDTI03-U 

/1/l'/' 
_j:1///1 

±94' ·--·---·---------r;--------------, I 
_,11' .; 

\ ' 
1 1t , \ ) 
I •I I Q ' \ ', I i 

1\ , I TRAIL LOCATED BY o l 
I I /~FOR8ES ON 10/3/24 

I~ \ I ~"' •~ = •" ' 
11 I ' 

,.. .. it, ~ ,, LOT 62 J 

c,m1sroesrn HAW€ ANO 111 LOCUS PARCEL. EA~ENT~ ill I EA5E"°"' ± 21 AC 
BtNSFiTING LOCUS p Rei'.L I I I 

RESIB•"° IN 9B /001 I J \ Nlf · ,~ ,----,_ ( ~ 'TOWNOFLYMN 

NIP 
NEOOLEA. E<»l410SHUA 

R.l'C»I 
ll4Nl728 

M/#03LDT6' 

I 
I 

I TO 01.D 81:::N. OA VIS ROAO 

OLD BEN DAVIS ROAD 

LOT 63A 
±26 AC 

NIP 
'TOWNOFLYMN 

I 
I APPROX. 

\-,,._ I /CE'-IEtlRY 

••·=·,c,., "'"'~ LOCATION 

I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

__ J 
----------~~-~--:::::::J:__-1.- --

GRAPHIC SCALE 
0 100 200 400 

~ 
1 inch - 200 f l. 

NOTES: 
1. NOT A BOUNDARY SURVEY. TAX MAP PROPERTY LINES 

DIGITIZED FROM A PDF MAP ENTITLED " PROPERTY 
MAPS: TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE" PREPARED BY JAMES 
H. THOMAS, GISSOLUllONS OF MAINE, AND DATED 
APRIL 1, 2012. 

2. SURVEYED PROPERTY LINE OF LOT 62 BASED ON A 
PLAN ENllTLED " STANDARD BOUNDARY SURVEY FOR 
NINA WARD, 368 MAIN STREET, KENNEBUNK, MAINE" 
DATED DECEMBER 2001 BY SURVEY, INC., P.O. BOX 
210, WINDHAM, ME 04062. 

3. TRAIL GEOLOCA TED USING SUB-MEllER GPS ON 
1D/3/24. 

LEGEND 
SURVEYED BOUNDARY LINE 

TAX MAP PROPERTY LINE 

EASFMENT 

STONE WALL 

IUNTTTlE: MAP 3 LOTS 62 & 63A 
WITH SKETCHED EASEMENT 

LYMANTOWNWTS 
LYMAN, MAINE 

PREPAR£D FOR: 

PREPAR£D BY: 

TOWN OF LYMAN 
11 S. WATERBORO RD 

LYMAN, ME 04002 
IUND,\llE: 

TONES I OCTOBER 16, 2024 

1\SSOCIATES INC. 
=."':;·t:~ 

I SCALE: 1" = 200' I 

280 PROJ. # : 23--060LY 

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight



Beaulieu Property Survey



1 

FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT ORDINANCE 

FOR THE 

TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 

ENACTED:  ____________________ 
 Date 

EFFECTIVE:   ____________________ 
 Date 

CERTIFIED BY:   ____________________ 
 Signature 

CERTIFIED BY:   ____________________ 
 Print Name 

 ____________________ 
 Title      Affix Seal DRAFT

ITEM #3: (e.) Floodplain Management Ordinace 



2 

FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT ORDINANCE     

CONTENTS 

ARTICLE PAGE 

I. PURPOSE AND ESTABLISHMENT ................................................................................ 2 

II. PERMIT REQUIRED ......................................................................................................... 2 

III. APPLICATION FOR PERMIT .......................................................................................... 2 

IV. APPLICATION FEE AND EXPERT'S FEE...................................................................... 4 

V. REVIEW STANDARDS FOR FLOOD HAZARD DEVELOPMENT PERMIT
APPLICATIONS ................................................................................................................ 4 

VI. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS ...................................................................................... 5 

VII. CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE ................................................................................ 11 

VIII. REVIEW OF SUBDIVISIONS AND DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS ........................ 11 

IX. APPEALS AND VARIANCES ........................................................................................ 12 

X. ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES ............................................................................. 14 

XI. VALIDITY AND SEVERABILITY ................................................................................ 14 

XII. CONFLICT WITH OTHER ORDINANCES ................................................................... 14 

XIII. DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................................. 15

XIV. ABROGATION ................................................................................................................ 19 

XV. DISCLAIMER OF LIABILITY……………………………………………………….…19 DRAFT



3 

60.3(c) Rev. 8/23 
Prepared on 12/15/2023 by DACF/JP 

DRAFT



4 

ARTICLE I - PURPOSE AND ESTABLISHMENT 

Certain areas of the Town of Lyman, Maine are subject to periodic flooding, causing serious damages to 
properties within these areas.  Relief is available in the form of flood insurance as authorized by the 
National Flood Insurance Act of 1968. 

Therefore, the Town of Lyman, Maine has chosen to become a participating community in the National 
Flood Insurance Program and agrees to comply with the requirements of the National Flood Insurance Act 
of 1968 (P.L. 90-488, as amended) as delineated in this Floodplain Management Ordinance. 

It is the intent of the Town of Lyman, Maine to require the recognition and evaluation of flood hazards in 
all official actions relating to land use in the floodplain areas having special flood hazards. 

The Town of Lyman has the legal authority to adopt land use and control measures to reduce future flood 
losses pursuant to Title 30-A MRSA, Sections 3001-3007, 4352, 4401-4407, and Title 38 MRSA, Section 
440. 

The National Flood Insurance Program, established in the aforesaid Act, provides that areas of the Town 
of Lyman having a special flood hazard be identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency and 
that floodplain management measures be applied in such flood hazard areas.  This Ordinance establishes a 
Flood Hazard Development Permit system and review procedure for development activities in the 
designated flood hazard areas of the Town of Lyman, Maine. 

The areas of special flood hazard, Zones A, AE, and AH for the Town of Lyman, York County, Maine, 

identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency in a report entitled “Flood Insurance Study – 

York County, Maine,” dated July 17, 2024, with accompanying “Flood Insurance Rate Map” dated July 

17, 2024, are hereby adopted by reference and declared to be a part of this Ordinance. 

ARTICLE II - PERMIT REQUIRED 

The Code Enforcement Officer shall be designated as the local Floodplain Administrator. The Floodplain 
Administrator shall have the authority to implement the commitment made to administer and enforce the 
requirements for participation in the National Flood Insurance Program. 

Before any construction or other development (as defined in Article XIII), including the placement of 
manufactured homes, begins within any areas of special flood hazard established in Article I, a Flood 
Hazard Development Permit shall be obtained from the Code Enforcement Officer.  This permit shall be 
in addition to any other permits which may be required pursuant to the codes and ordinances of the Town 
of Lyman, Maine. 

ARTICLE III - APPLICATION FOR PERMIT 

The application for a Flood Hazard Development Permit shall be submitted to the Code Enforcement 
Officer and shall include: 

A. The name, address, and phone number of the applicant, owner, and contractor;

B. An address and a map indicating the location of the construction site;

C. A site plan showing locations of existing and/or proposed development, including but not limited to
structures, sewage disposal facilities, water supply facilities, areas to be cut and filled, and lot
dimensions;

DRAFT



5 

D. A statement of the intended use of the structure and/or development;

E. A statement of the cost of the development including all materials and labor;

F. A statement as to the type of sewage system proposed;

G. Specification of dimensions of the proposed structure and/or development;

[Items H-K.2. apply only to new construction and substantial improvements.] 

H. The elevation in relation to the National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD), North American Vertical
Datum (NAVD), or to a locally established datum in Zone A only, of the:

1. base flood at the proposed site of all new or substantially improved structures, which is
determined:

a. in Zone AE from data contained in the "Flood Insurance Study - York County, Maine," as
described in Article I; or,

b. in Zone A:

(1) from any base flood elevation data from federal, state, or other technical sources (such

as FEMA’s Quick-2 model, FEMA 265), including information obtained pursuant to

Article VI.M. and VIII.D.; or,

(2) in the absence of all data described in Article III.H.1.b.(1), information to demonstrate
that the structure shall meet the elevation requirement in Article VI.H.2.b., Article
VI.I.2.a. or b., or Article VI.J.2.b.

2. highest and lowest grades at the site adjacent to the walls of the proposed building;

3. lowest floor, including basement; and whether or not such structures contain a basement;

4. lowest machinery and equipment servicing the building; and,

5. level, in the case of non-residential structures only, to which the structure will be floodproofed.

I. A description of an elevation reference point established on the site of all developments for which
elevation standards apply as required in Article VI;

J. A written certification by:

1. a Professional Land Surveyor that the grade elevations shown on the application are accurate;
and,

2. a Professional Land Surveyor, registered professional engineer or architect that the base flood
elevation shown on the application is accurate.

K. The following certifications as required in Article VI by a registered professional engineer or
architect:

DRAFT



6 

1. a Floodproofing Certificate (FEMA Form FF-206-FY-22-153, as amended), to verify that the
floodproofing methods for any non-residential structures will meet the floodproofing criteria of
Article VI.I.; and other applicable standards in Article VI;

2. a Hydraulic Openings Certificate to verify that engineered hydraulic openings in foundation
walls will meet the standards of Article VI.N.2.a.;

3. a certified statement that bridges will meet the standards of Article VI.O.;

4. a certified statement that containment walls will meet the standards of Article VI.P.

L. A description of the extent to which any water course will be altered or relocated as a result of the
proposed development; and,

M. A statement of construction plans describing in detail how each applicable development standard in
Article VI will be met.

ARTICLE IV - APPLICATION FEE AND EXPERT'S FEE 

A nonrefundable application fee of $25 for minor development or $50 for new construction or 

substantial improvements shall be paid to the City/Town Clerk and a copy of a receipt for the 

same shall accompany the application. 

An additional fee may be charged if the Code Enforcement Officer, Planning Board, and/or Board of 
Appeals needs the assistance of a professional engineer or other expert.  The expert's fee shall be paid in 
full by the applicant within 10 days after the town submits a bill to the applicant.  Failure to pay the bill 
shall constitute a violation of the ordinance and be grounds for the issuance of a stop work order.  An 
expert shall not be hired by the municipality at the expense of an applicant until the applicant has either 
consented to such hiring in writing or been given an opportunity to be heard on the subject.  An applicant 
who is dissatisfied with a decision to hire expert assistance may appeal that decision to the Board of 
Appeals. 

ARTICLE V - REVIEW STANDARDS FOR FLOOD HAZARD DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 
APPLICATIONS 

The Code Enforcement Officer shall: 

A. Review all applications for the Flood Hazard Development Permit to assure that proposed
developments are reasonably safe from flooding and to determine that all pertinent requirements of
Article VI (Development Standards) have been, or will be met;

B. Utilize, in the review of all Flood Hazard Development Permit applications:

1. the base flood and floodway data contained in the "Flood Insurance Study - York County,
Maine," as described in Article I;

2. in special flood hazard areas where base flood elevation and floodway data are not provided, the
Code Enforcement Officer shall obtain, review, and reasonably utilize any base flood elevation
and floodway data from federal, state, or other technical sources, including information obtained
pursuant to Article III.H.1.b.(1); Article VI.M.; and Article VIII.D., in order to administer Article
VI of this Ordinance; and,

DRAFT



7 

3. when the community establishes a base flood elevation in a Zone A by methods outlined in
Article III.H.1.b.(1), the community shall submit that data to the Maine Floodplain Management
Program.

C. Make interpretations of the location of boundaries of special flood hazard areas shown on the maps
described in Article I of this Ordinance;

D. In the review of Flood Hazard Development Permit applications, determine that all necessary permits
have been obtained from those federal, state, and local government agencies from which prior
approval is required by federal or state law, including but not limited to Section 404 of the Federal
Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 1344;

E. Notify adjacent municipalities, the Department of Environmental Protection, and the Maine
Floodplain Management Program prior to any alteration or relocation of a water course and submit
copies of such notifications to the Federal Emergency Management Agency;

F. If the application satisfies the requirements of this Ordinance, approve the issuance of one of the
following Flood Hazard Development Permits based on the type of development:

1. A two part Flood Hazard Development Permit for elevated structures.  Part I shall authorize the
applicant to build a structure to and including the first horizontal floor only above the base flood
level.  At that time the applicant shall provide the Code Enforcement Officer with an “under
construction” Elevation Certificate completed by a Professional Land Surveyor based on the Part
I permit construction for verifying compliance with the elevation requirements of Article VI,
paragraphs H., I., or J.  Following review of the Elevation Certificate data, which shall take place
within 72 hours of receipt of the application, the Code Enforcement Officer shall issue Part II of
the Flood Hazard Development Permit.  Part II shall authorize the applicant to complete the
construction project; or,

2. A Flood Hazard Development Permit for Floodproofing of Non-Residential Structures that are
new construction or substantially improved non-residential structures that are not being elevated
but that meet the floodproofing standards of Article VI.I.1.  The application for this permit shall
include a Floodproofing Certificate signed by a registered professional engineer or architect; or,

3. A Flood Hazard Development Permit for Minor Development for all development that is not new
construction or a substantial improvement, such as repairs, maintenance, renovations, or
additions, whose value is less than 50% of the market value of the structure.  Minor development
also includes but is not limited to: accessory structures as provided for in Article VI.L., mining,
dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation, drilling operations, storage of equipment or
materials, deposition or extraction of materials, public or private sewage disposal systems or
water supply facilities that do not involve structures; and non-structural projects such as bridges,
dams, towers, fencing, pipelines, wharves, and piers.

G. Maintain, as a permanent record, copies of all Flood Hazard Development Permit Applications,

corresponding Permits issued, and data relevant thereto, including reports of the Board of Appeals on

variances granted under the provisions of Article IX of this Ordinance, and copies of Elevation

Certificates, Floodproofing Certificates, Certificates of Compliance, and certifications of design

standards required under the provisions of Articles III, VI, and VII of this Ordinance.

ARTICLE VI - DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

All developments in areas of special flood hazard shall meet the following applicable standards: 

DRAFT



8 

A. All Development  -  All development shall:

1. be designed or modified and adequately anchored to prevent flotation (excluding piers and
docks), collapse, or lateral movement of the development resulting from hydrodynamic and
hydrostatic loads, including the effects of buoyancy;

2. use construction materials that are resistant to flood damage;

3. use construction methods and practices that will minimize flood damage; and,

4. use electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, and air conditioning equipment, and other service
facilities, that are designed and/or located so as to prevent water from entering or accumulating
within the components during flooding conditions.

B. Water Supply  -  All new and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or
eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the systems.

C. Sanitary Sewage Systems  -  All new and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be designed
and located to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the system and discharges from
the system into flood waters.

D. On Site Waste Disposal Systems  -  On site waste disposal systems shall be located and constructed
to avoid impairment to them or contamination from them during floods.

E. Watercourse Carrying Capacity  -  All development associated with altered or relocated portions of
a watercourse shall be constructed and maintained in such a manner that no reduction occurs in the
flood carrying capacity of the watercourse.

F. Utilities  -  New construction or substantial improvement of any structure (including manufactured

homes) located within Zones A, AE, and AH shall have the bottom of all electrical, heating,

plumbing, ventilation and air conditioning equipment, permanent fixtures and components, HVAC

ductwork and duct systems, and any other utility service equipment, facilities, machinery, or

connections servicing a structure, elevated to at least one foot above the base flood elevation.

G. Physical Changes to the Natural Landscape  -  Certain development projects, including but not

limited to, retaining walls, sea walls, levees, berms, and rip rap, can cause physical changes that

affect flooding conditions.

1. All development projects in Zone AE that cause physical changes to the natural landscape shall

be reviewed by a Professional Engineer to determine whether or not the project changes the base

flood elevation, zone, and/or the flood hazard boundary line.

2. 
a. If the Professional Engineer determines, through the use of engineering judgement, that the

project would not necessitate a Letter of Map Revision (LOMR), a certified statement shall

be provided.

b. If the Professional Engineer determines that the project may cause a change, a hydrologic

and hydraulic analysis that meets current FEMA standards shall be performed.

DRAFT



9 

3. If the hydrologic and hydraulic analysis performed indicates a change to the base flood elevation,

zone, and/or the flood hazard boundary line, the applicant may submit a Conditional Letter of

Map Revision (C-LOMR) request to the Federal Emergency Management Agency for assurance

that the as-built project will result in a change to the Flood Insurance Rate Map. Once the

development is completed, a request for a Letter of Map Revision (LOMR) shall be initiated.

4. If the hydrologic and hydraulic analysis performed show a change to the base flood elevation,

zone, and/or the flood hazard boundary line, as soon as practicable, but no later than 6 months

after the completion of the project, the applicant shall submit the technical data to FEMA in the

form of a Letter of Map Revision request.

H. Residential  -  New construction or substantial improvement of any residential structure located
within:

1. Zone AE and AH shall have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated to at least one foot
above the base flood elevation.

2. Zone AH shall have adequate drainage paths around structures on slopes, to guide floodwater
away from the proposed structures.

3. Zone A shall have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated:

a. to at least one foot above the base flood elevation utilizing information obtained pursuant to

Article III.H.1.b.(1); Article V.B.; or Article VIII.D.; or,

b. in the absence of all data described in Article VI.H.3.a., to at least two feet above the highest

adjacent grade to the structure.

I. Non-Residential  -  New construction or substantial improvement of any non-residential structure

located within:

1. Zone AE and AH shall have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated to at least one foot
above the base flood elevation, or together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities shall:

a. be floodproofed to at least one foot above the base flood elevation so that below that
elevation the structure is watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of
water;

b. have structural components capable of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the
effects of buoyancy; and,

b. be certified by a registered professional engineer or architect that the floodproofing design
and methods of construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for
meeting the provisions of this section.  Such certification shall be provided with the
application for a Flood Hazard Development Permit, as required by Article III.K. and shall
include a record of the elevation above mean sea level to which the structure is
floodproofed.

2. Zone AH shall have adequate drainage paths around structures on slopes, to guide floodwater
away from the proposed structures.

DRAFT



10 

3. Zone A shall have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated:

a. to at least one foot above the base flood elevation utilizing information obtained pursuant to
Article III.H.1.b.(1); Article V.B.; Article VIII.D.; or,

b. in the absence of all data described in Article VI.I.3.a., to at least two feet above the highest
adjacent grade to the structure; or,

c. together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities meet the floodproofing standards of
Article VI.I.1.a., b., and c.

J. Manufactured Homes  -  New or substantially improved manufactured homes located within:

1. Zone AE and AH shall:

a. be elevated such that the lowest floor (including basement) of the manufactured home is at
least one foot above the base flood elevation;

b. be on a permanent foundation, which may be poured masonry slab or foundation walls, with
hydraulic openings, or may be reinforced piers or block supports, any of which support the
manufactured home so that no weight is supported by its wheels and axles; and,

c. be securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation system to resist flotation,
collapse, or lateral movement.  Methods of anchoring may include, but are not limited to:

(1) over-the-top ties anchored to the ground at the four corners of the manufactured home,
plus two additional ties per side at intermediate points (manufactured homes less than
50 feet long require one additional tie per side); or by,

(2) frame ties at each corner of the home, plus five additional ties along each side at
intermediate points (manufactured homes less than 50 feet long require four additional
ties per side).

(2) All components of the anchoring system described in Article VI.J.1.c.(1) & (2) shall be
capable of carrying a force of 4800 pounds.

2. Zones AH shall have adequate drainage paths around structures on slopes, to guide floodwater
away from the proposed structures.

3. Zone A shall:

a. be elevated on a permanent foundation, as described in Article VI.J.1.b., such that the lowest
floor (including basement) of the manufactured home is at least one foot above the base
flood elevation utilizing information obtained pursuant to Article III.H.1.b.(1); Article V.B.;
Article VIII.D.; or,

b. in the absence of all data as described in Article VI.J.3.a., to at least two feet above the
highest adjacent grade to the structure; and,

c. meet the anchoring requirements of Article VI.J.1.c.

DRAFT



11 

K. Recreational Vehicles  -  Recreational Vehicles located within:

1. Zones A, AE, and AH shall either:

a. be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive days; and,

b. be fully licensed and ready for highway use.  A recreational vehicle is ready for highway use
if it is on its wheels or jacking system, is attached to the site only by quick disconnect type
utilities and security devices, and has no permanently attached additions; or,

c. be permitted in accordance with the elevation and anchoring requirements for "manufactured
homes" in Article VI.J.1.

L. Accessory Structures  -  New construction or substantial improvement of Accessory Structures, as

defined in Article XIII, shall be exempt from the elevation criteria required in Article VI.H. & I.

above, if all other requirements of Article VI and all the following requirements are met.

1. Accessory Structures located in Zones A, AE, and AH shall:

a. meet the requirements of Article VI.A.1. through 4., as applicable;

c. be limited in size to a one-story two car garage;

c. have unfinished interiors and not be used for human habitation;

d. have only ground fault interrupt electrical outlets.  The electric service disconnect shall be

located above the base flood elevation and, when possible, outside the Special Flood Hazard

Area.

e. be located outside the floodway;

f. when possible, be constructed and placed on the building site so as to offer the minimum

resistance to the flow of floodwaters and be placed further from the source of flooding than

is the primary structure; and,

g. have hydraulic openings, as specified in Article VI.N.2., in at least two different walls of the
accessory structure.

M. Floodways  -

1. In Zone AE riverine areas, encroachments, including fill, new construction, substantial
improvement, and other development shall not be permitted within a regulatory floodway which
is designated on the community's Flood Insurance Rate Map, unless a technical evaluation
certified by a registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that such
encroachments will not result in any increase in flood levels within the community during the
occurrence of the base flood discharge.

2. In Zones A and AE riverine areas for which no regulatory floodway is designated,
encroachments, including fill, new construction, substantial improvement, and other
development shall not be permitted in the floodway as determined in Article VI.M.3. unless a
technical evaluation certified by a registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating

DRAFT



12 

that the cumulative effect of the proposed development, when combined with all other existing 
development and anticipated development: 

a. will not increase the water surface elevation of the base flood more than one foot at any
point within the community; and,

d. is consistent with the technical criteria contained in FEMA’s guidelines and standards for
flood risk analysis and mapping.

3. In Zones A and AE riverine areas, for which no regulatory floodway is designated, the regulatory
floodway is determined to be the channel of the river or other water course and the adjacent land
areas to a distance of one-half the width of the floodplain as measured from the normal high
water mark to the upland limit of the floodplain.

N. Hydraulic Openings/Flood Vents  -  New construction or substantial improvement of any structure
in Zones A, AE, and AH, that meets the development standards of Article VI, including the elevation
requirements of Article VI, paragraphs H., I., or J. and is elevated on posts, columns, piers, piles, or
crawlspaces may be enclosed below the base flood elevation requirements provided all the following
criteria are met or exceeded:

1. Enclosed areas are not "basements" as defined in Article XIII;

2. Enclosed areas shall be designed to automatically equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior
walls by allowing for the entry and exit of flood water.  Designs for meeting this requirement
must either:

a. be engineered and certified by a registered professional engineer or architect; or,

b. meet or exceed the following minimum criteria:

(1) a minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for
every square foot of the enclosed area;

(2) the bottom of all openings shall be below the base flood elevation and no higher than
one foot above the lowest grade; and,

(3) openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other coverings or devices
provided that they permit the entry and exit of flood waters automatically without any
external influence or control such as human intervention, including the use of electrical
and other non-automatic mechanical means;

3. The enclosed area shall not be used for human habitation; and,

4. The enclosed areas are usable solely for building access, parking of vehicles, or storage.

O. Bridges  -  New construction or substantial improvement of any bridge in Zones A, AE, and AH shall

be designed such that:

1. when possible, the lowest horizontal member (excluding the pilings or columns) is elevated to at

least one foot above the base flood elevation; and,

2. a registered professional engineer shall certify that:

DRAFT



13 

a. the structural design and methods of construction shall meet the elevation requirements of

this section and the floodway standards of Article VI.M.; and,

b. the foundation and superstructure attached thereto are designed to resist flotation, collapse,

and lateral movement due to the effects of wind and water loads acting simultaneously on all

structural components.  Water loading values used shall be those associated with the base

flood.

P. Containment Walls - New construction or substantial improvement of any containment wall located

within:

1. Zones A, AE, and AH shall:

a. have the containment wall elevated to at least one foot above the base flood elevation;

b. have structural components capable of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the
effects of buoyancy; and,

c. be certified by a registered professional engineer or architect that the design and methods of
construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting the
provisions of this section.  Such certification shall be provided with the application for a
Flood Hazard Development Permit, as required by Article III.K.

2. Zones AH shall have adequate drainage paths around containment walls on slopes, to guide
floodwater away from the proposed walls.

Q. Wharves, Piers, and Docks  -  New construction or substantial improvement of wharves, piers, and
docks are permitted in Zones A, AE, and AH, in and over water, and shall comply with all applicable
local, state, and federal regulations.

ARTICLE VII - CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

No land in a special flood hazard area shall be occupied or used and no structure which is constructed or 
substantially improved shall be occupied until a Certificate of Compliance is issued by the Code 
Enforcement Officer subject to the following provisions: 

A. For New Construction or Substantial Improvement of any elevated structure the applicant shall
submit to the Code Enforcement Officer an Elevation Certificate completed by a Professional Land
Surveyor for compliance with Article VI, paragraphs H., I., or J.

B. The applicant shall submit written notification to the Code Enforcement Officer that the development
is complete and complies with the provisions of this ordinance.

C. Within 10 working days, the Code Enforcement Officer shall:

1. review the Elevation Certificate and the applicant’s written notification; and,

2. upon determination that the development conforms with the provisions of this ordinance, shall
issue a Certificate of Compliance.

ARTICLE VIII - REVIEW OF SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS 

DRAFT



14 

The Planning Board shall, when reviewing subdivisions and other proposed developments that require 
review under other federal law, state law, or local ordinances or regulations, and all projects on 5 or more 
disturbed acres, or in the case of manufactured home parks divided into two or more lots, assure that: 

A. All such proposals are consistent with the need to minimize flood damage.

B. All public utilities and facilities, such as sewer, gas, electrical, and water systems are located and
constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damages.

C. Adequate drainage is provided so as to reduce exposure to flood hazards.

D. All proposals include base flood elevations, flood boundaries, and, in a riverine floodplain, floodway
data.  These determinations shall be based on engineering practices recognized by the Federal
Emergency Management Agency.

E. Any proposed development plan must include a condition of plan approval requiring that structures
on any lot in the development having any portion of its land within a Special Flood Hazard Area are
to be constructed in accordance with Article VI of this ordinance.  Such requirement will be included
in any deed, lease, purchase and sale agreement, or document transferring or expressing an intent to
transfer any interest in real estate or structure, including but not limited to a time-share interest.  The
condition shall clearly articulate that the municipality may enforce any violation of the construction
requirement and that fact shall also be included in the deed or any other document previously
described.  The construction requirement shall also be clearly stated on any map, plat, or plan to be
signed by the Planning Board or local reviewing authority as part of the approval process.

ARTICLE IX - APPEALS AND VARIANCES 

The Board of Appeals of the Town of Lyman may, upon written application of an aggrieved party, hear 
and decide appeals where it is alleged that there is an error in any order, requirement, decision, or 
determination made by, or failure to act by, the Code Enforcement Officer or Planning Board in the 
administration or enforcement of the provisions of this Ordinance. 

The Board of Appeals may grant a variance from the requirements of this Ordinance consistent with state 
law and the following criteria: 

A. Variances shall not be granted within any designated regulatory floodway if any increase in flood
levels during the base flood discharge would result.

B. Variances shall be granted only upon:

1. a showing of good and sufficient cause; and,

2. a determination that should a flood comparable to the base flood occur, the granting of a variance
will not result in increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, public expense, or
create nuisances, cause fraud or victimization of the public, or conflict with existing local laws or
ordinances; and,

3. a showing that the issuance of the variance will not conflict with other state, federal, or local
laws or ordinances; and,

4. a determination that failure to grant the variance would result in "undue hardship," which in this
sub-section means:

DRAFT



15 

a. that the land in question cannot yield a reasonable return unless a variance is granted; and,

b. that the need for a variance is due to the unique circumstances of the property and not to the
general conditions in the neighborhood; and,

c. that the granting of a variance will not alter the essential character of the locality; and,

d. that the hardship is not the result of action taken by the applicant or a prior owner.

C. Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the minimum necessary,
considering the flood hazard, to afford relief, and the Board of Appeals may impose such conditions
to a variance as it deems necessary.

D. Variances may be issued for new construction, substantial improvements, or other development for
the conduct of a functionally dependent use provided that:

1. the criteria of Article IX.A. through C. and Article VI.M. are met; and,

2. the structure or other development is protected by methods that minimize flood damages during
the base flood and create no additional threats to public safety.

E. Variances may be issued for the repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, or restoration of Historic
Structures upon the determination that:

1. the development meets the criteria of Article IX.A. through C.; and,

2. the proposed repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, or restoration will not preclude the structure’s
continued designation as a Historic Structure and the variance is the minimum necessary to
preserve the historic character and design of the structure.

F. Variances may be issued for new construction and substantial improvement of Agricultural

Structures being used for the conduct of agricultural uses provided that:

1. the development meets the criteria of Article IX.A. through C.; and,

2. the development meets the criteria of Article VI.M. and Article VI.N.

G. Any applicant who meets the criteria of Article IX.A. through C. and Article IX.D., E., or F. shall be
notified by the Board of Appeals in writing over the signature of the Chairman of the Board of
Appeals that:

1. the issuance of a variance to construct a structure below the base flood level will result in greatly
increased premium rates for flood insurance up to amounts as high as $25 per $100 of insurance
coverage; and,

2. such construction below the base flood level increases risks to life and property; and,

3. the applicant agrees in writing that the applicant is fully aware of all the risks inherent in the use
of land subject to flooding, assumes those risks, and agrees to indemnify and defend the
municipality against any claims filed against it that are related to the applicant's decision to use
land located in a floodplain and that the applicant individually releases the municipality from any

DRAFT



16 

claims the applicant may have against the municipality that are related to the use of land located 
in a floodplain. 

H. Appeal Procedure for Administrative and Variance Appeals

1. An administrative or variance appeal may be taken to the Board of Appeals by an aggrieved
party within thirty days after receipt of a written decision of the Code Enforcement Officer or
Planning Board.

2. Upon being notified of an appeal, the Code Enforcement Officer or Planning Board, as
appropriate, shall transmit to the Board of Appeals all of the documents constituting the record of
the decision appealed from.

3. The Board of Appeals shall hold a public hearing on the appeal within thirty-five days of its
receipt of an appeal request.

4. The person filing the appeal shall have the burden of proof.

5. The Board of Appeals shall decide all appeals within thirty-five days after the close of the
hearing and shall issue a written decision on all appeals.

6. The Board of Appeals shall submit to the Code Enforcement Officer a report of all variance
actions, including justification for the granting of the variance and an authorization for the Code
Enforcement Officer to issue a Flood Hazard Development Permit, which includes any
conditions to be attached to said permit.

7. Any aggrieved party who participated as a party during the proceedings before the Board of
Appeals may take an appeal to Superior Court in accordance with State laws within forty-five
days from the date of any decision of the Board of Appeals.

ARTICLE X - ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES 

A. It shall be the duty of the Code Enforcement Officer to enforce the provisions of this Ordinance
pursuant to Title 30-A MRSA § 4452.

B. The penalties contained in Title 30-A MRSA § 4452 shall apply to any violation of this Ordinance.

C. In addition to any other actions, the Code Enforcement Officer, upon determination that a violation
exists, may submit a declaration to the Administrator of the Federal Insurance Administration
requesting a denial of flood insurance.  The valid declaration shall consist of:

1. the name of the property owner and address or legal description of the property sufficient to
confirm its identity or location;

2. a clear and unequivocal declaration that the property is in violation of a cited State or local law,
regulation, or ordinance;

3. a clear statement that the public body making the declaration has authority to do so and a citation
to that authority;

4. evidence that the property owner has been provided notice of the violation and the prospective
denial of insurance; and,

DRAFT



17 

 5. a clear statement that the declaration is being submitted pursuant to Section 1316 of the National 
Flood Insurance Act of 1968, as amended. 

 
ARTICLE XI - VALIDITY AND SEVERABILITY 
 
If any section or provision of this Ordinance is declared by the courts to be invalid, such decision shall not 
invalidate any other section or provision of this Ordinance. 
 
ARTICLE XII - CONFLICT WITH OTHER ORDINANCES 
 
This Ordinance shall not in any way impair or remove the necessity of compliance with any other 
applicable rule, ordinance, regulation, bylaw, permit, or provision of law.  Where this Ordinance imposes 
a greater restriction upon the use of land, buildings, or structures, the provisions of this Ordinance shall 
control. 
 
ARTICLE XIII - DEFINITIONS 
 
Unless specifically defined below, words and phrases used in this Ordinance shall have the same meaning 
as they have at common law and to give this Ordinance its most reasonable application.  Words used in 
the present tense include the future, the singular number includes the plural, and the plural number 
includes the singular.  The word "may" is permissive; "shall" is mandatory and not discretionary.  
 
Accessory Structure - a structure which is on the same parcel of property as a principal structure and the 

use of which is incidental to the use of the principal structure. 
 
Adjacent Grade - the natural elevation of the ground surface prior to construction next to the proposed 
walls of a structure.  
 
Agricultural Structure - structures that are used exclusively for agricultural purposes or uses in 
connection with the production, harvesting, storage, raising, or drying of agricultural commodities and 
livestock. Structures that house tools or equipment used in connection with these purposes or uses are also 
considered to have agricultural purposes or uses. 
 
Area of Special Flood Hazard - the land in the floodplain having a one percent or greater chance of 
flooding in any given year, as specifically identified in the Flood Insurance Study cited in Article I of this 
Ordinance.  
 
Base Flood - a flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year, 
commonly called the 100-year flood.  
 
Basement - any area of the building having its floor subgrade (below ground level) on all sides.  
 
Building - see Structure. 
 
Certificate of Compliance - A document signed by the Code Enforcement Officer stating that a structure 
is in compliance with all of the provisions of this Ordinance. 
 
Code Enforcement Officer - A person certified under Title 30-A MRSA, Section 4451 (including 
exceptions in subsection 4451, paragraph 1) and employed by a municipality to enforce all applicable 
comprehensive planning and land use laws and ordinances. 
 
Containment Wall - a wall surrounding all sides of an above ground tank to contain any spills or leaks. 
 

DRAFT



18 

Development - any man made change to improved or unimproved real estate.  This includes, but is not 
limited to, buildings or other structures; mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation, drilling 
operations or storage of equipment or materials; and the storage, deposition, or extraction of materials. 
 
Elevated Building - a non-basement building that is: 
 
a. built, in the case of a building in Zones A, AE, or AH, to have the top of the elevated floor elevated 

above the ground level by means of pilings, columns, posts, piers, or shear walls; and, 
 
b. adequately anchored so as not to impair the structural integrity of the building during a flood of up to 

one foot above the magnitude of the base flood. 
 
In the case of Zones A, AE, or AH, Elevated Building also includes a building elevated by means of fill 
or solid foundation perimeter walls with hydraulic openings sufficient to facilitate the unimpeded 
movement of flood waters, as required in Article VI.N. 
 
Elevation Certificate - an official form (FEMA Form FF-206-FY-22-152, as amended) that is used to 
verify compliance with the floodplain management regulations of the National Flood Insurance Program.  
 
Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision - a manufactured home park or subdivision that was 

recorded in the deed registry prior to the adoption date of the community’s first floodplain management 

regulations.  
 
Flood or Flooding -  
 
a. A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally dry land areas from: 
 
 1. The overflow of inland or tidal waters.  
 
 2. The unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source.  
 
b. The collapse or subsidence of land along the shore of a lake or other body of water as a result of 

erosion or undermining caused by waves or currents of water exceeding anticipated cyclical levels or 
suddenly caused by an unusually high water level in a natural body of water, accompanied by a 
severe storm, or by an unanticipated force of nature, such as flash flood or an abnormal tidal surge, or 
by some similarly unusual and unforeseeable event which results in flooding as defined in paragraph 
a.1. of this definition. 

 
Flood Elevation Study - an examination, evaluation, and determination of flood hazards and, if 
appropriate, corresponding water surface elevations.  
 
Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) - an official map of a community, on which the Federal Insurance 
Administrator has delineated both the special hazard areas and the risk premium zones applicable to the 
community.  
 
Flood Insurance Study - see Flood Elevation Study. 
 
Floodplain or Flood-prone Area - any land area susceptible to being inundated by water from any 
source (see Flood or Flooding).  
 

DRAFT



19 

Floodplain Management - the operation of an overall program of corrective and preventive measures for 
reducing flood damage, including but not limited to emergency preparedness plans, flood control works, 
and floodplain management regulations.  
 
Floodplain Management Regulations - zoning ordinances, subdivision regulations, building codes, 
health regulations, special purpose ordinances (such as a floodplain ordinance, grading ordinance, and 
erosion control ordinance), and other applications of police power.  The term describes such state or local 
regulations, in any combination thereof, which provide standards for the purpose of flood damage 
prevention and reduction. 
 
Floodproofing - any combination of structural and non-structural additions, changes, or adjustments to 
structures which reduce or eliminate flood damage to real estate or improved real property, water and 
sanitary facilities, structures, and contents. 
 
Floodway - see Regulatory Floodway. 
 
Floodway Encroachment Lines - the lines marking the limits of floodways on federal, state, and local 
floodplain maps. 
 
Freeboard - a factor of safety usually expressed in feet above a flood level for purposes of floodplain 
management.  Freeboard tends to compensate for the many unknown factors, such as wave action, bridge 
openings, and the hydrological effect of urbanization of the watershed that could contribute to flood 
heights greater than the height calculated for a selected size flood and floodway conditions.  
 
Functionally Dependent Use - a use which cannot perform its intended purpose unless it is located or 
carried out in close proximity to water.  The term includes only docking facilities, port facilities that are 
necessary for the loading and unloading of cargo or passengers, and ship building and ship repair 
facilities, but does not include long-term storage or related manufacturing facilities. 
 
Historic Structure - any structure that is: 
 
a. Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places (a listing maintained by the 

Department of Interior) or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as meeting the 
requirements for individual listing on the National Register; 

 
b. Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as contributing to the historical 

significance of a registered historic district or a district preliminarily determined by the Secretary of 
the Interior to qualify as a registered historic district; 

 
c. Individually listed on a state inventory of historic places in states with historic preservation programs 

which have been approved by the Secretary of the Interior; or, 
 
d. Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places in communities with historic preservation 

programs that have been certified either: 
 
 1. By an approved state program as determined by the Secretary of the Interior, or, 
 
 2. Directly by the Secretary of the Interior in states without approved programs. 
 
Locally Established Datum - for purposes of this ordinance, an elevation established for a specific site to 
which all other elevations at the site are referenced.  This elevation is generally not referenced to the 
National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD), North American Vertical Datum (NAVD), or any other 

DRAFT



20 

established datum and is used in areas where Mean Sea Level data is too far from a specific site to be 
practically used.  
 
Lowest Floor - the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including basement).  An unfinished or flood 
resistant enclosure, usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access, or storage in an area other than 
a basement area is not considered a building's lowest floor, provided that such enclosure is not built so as 
to render the structure in violation of the applicable non-elevation design requirements described in 
Article VI.N. of this ordinance.  
 
Manufactured Home - a structure, transportable in one or more sections, which is built on a permanent 
chassis and is designed for use with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required 
utilities.  For floodplain management purposes the term manufactured home also includes park trailers, 
travel trailers, and other similar vehicles placed on a site for greater than 180 consecutive days.  
 
Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision - a parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land divided into two or 
more manufactured home lots for rent or sale.  
 
Mean Sea Level - for purposes of the National Flood Insurance Program, the National Geodetic Vertical 
Datum (NGVD) of 1929, North American Vertical Datum (NAVD), or other datum to which base flood 
elevations shown on a community's Flood Insurance Rate Map are referenced. 
 
Minor Development - all development that is not new construction or a substantial improvement, such as 
repairs, maintenance, renovations, or additions, whose value is less than 50% of the market value of the 
structure.  It also includes but is not limited to: accessory structures as provided for in Article VI.L., 
mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation, drilling operations, storage of equipment or 
materials, deposition or extraction of materials, public or private sewage disposal systems or water supply 
facilities that do not involve structures; and non-structural projects such as bridges, dams, towers, fencing, 
pipelines, wharves, and piers. 
 
National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) - the national vertical datum, whose standard was 
established in 1929, which is used by the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP).  NGVD was based 
upon mean sea level in 1929 and has been called “1929 Mean Sea Level (MSL)”. 
 
New Construction - structures for which the "start of construction" commenced on or after the effective 
date of the initial floodplain management regulations adopted by a community and includes any 
subsequent improvements to such structures. 
 
North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) - the national datum whose standard was established in 1988, 
which is the new vertical datum used by the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) for all new Flood 
Insurance Rate Maps.  NAVD is based upon the vertical data used by other North American countries 
such as Canada and Mexico and was established to replace NGVD because of constant movement of the 
earth’s crust, glacial rebound and subsidence, and the increasing use of satellite technology. 
 
100-year flood - see Base Flood. 
 
Recreational Vehicle - a vehicle which is: 
 
a. built on a single chassis; 
 
b. 400 square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal projection, not including slideouts; 
 
c. designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a motor vehicle; and, 
 

DRAFT



21 

d. designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living quarters for
recreational, camping, travel, or seasonal use.

Regulatory Floodway - 

a. the channel of a river or other water course and the adjacent land areas that must be reserved in order
to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than a
designated height, and,

b. when not designated on the community’s Flood Insurance Rate Map, it is considered to be the
channel of a river or other water course and the adjacent land areas to a distance of one-half the width
of the floodplain, as measured from the normal high water mark to the upland limit of the floodplain.

Riverine - relating to, formed by, or resembling a river (including tributaries), stream, brook, etc. 

Special Flood Hazard Area - see Area of Special Flood Hazard. 

Start of Construction - the date the building permit was issued, provided the actual start of construction, 
repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, placement, substantial improvement, or other improvement 
was within 180 days of the permit date.  The actual start means either the first placement of permanent 
construction of a structure on a site, such as the pouring of slab or footings, the installation of piles, the 
construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation; or the placement of a manufactured 
home on a foundation.  Permanent construction does not include land preparation, such as clearing, 
grading, and filling; nor does it include the installation of streets and/or walkways; nor does it include 
excavation for basement, footings, piers, or foundations or the erection of temporary forms; nor does it 
include the installation on the property of accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds not occupied as 
dwelling units or not part of the main structure.  For a substantial improvement, the actual start of 
construction means the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of a building, or 
modification of any construction element, whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of 
the building. 

Structure - for floodplain management purposes, a walled and roofed building.  A gas or liquid storage 
tank that is principally above ground is also a structure.  

Substantial Damage - damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost of restoring the 
structure to its before damage condition would equal or exceed 50 percent of the market value of the 
structure before the damage occurred. 

Substantial Improvement - any reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or other improvement of a 
structure, the cost of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the 
start of construction of the improvement.  This term includes structures which have incurred substantial 
damage, regardless of the actual repair work performed.  The term does not, however, include either: 

a. Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of state or local health,
sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been identified by the local code enforcement
official and which are the minimum necessary to assure safe living conditions; or,

b. Any alteration of a Historic Structure, provided that the alteration will not preclude the structure's
continued designation as a historic structure, and a variance is obtained from the community’s Board
of Appeals.

Variance - a grant of relief by a community from the terms of a floodplain management regulation. 

DRAFT



22 

Violation - the failure of a structure or development to comply with a community's floodplain 
management regulations. 

ARTICLE XIV - ABROGATION 

This ordinance repeals and replaces any municipal ordinance previously enacted to comply with the 
National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 (P.L. 90-488, as amended). 

ARTICLE XV - DISCLAIMER OF LIABILITY 

The degree of flood protection required by the ordinance is considered reasonable but does not imply total 
flood protection. 

DRAFT



ITEM #4: (a.) GMFR Report

A
ir

cr
af

t I
nc

id
en

t 
O

ut
si

de
 F

ir
es

 (
no

n-
br

us
h)

 
1 

A
la

rm
s 

(F
ir

e 
/ 

C
O

) 
S

er
vi

ce
 C

al
l /

 P
ub

li
c 

A
ss

is
t 

1 

A
pp

li
an

ce
 / 

C
hi

m
ne

y 
F

ir
e 

S
pe

ci
al

 / 
T

ec
hn

ic
al

 R
es

cu
e 

B
ru

sh
 / 

W
oo

ds
 F

ir
e 

1 
S

tr
uc

tu
re

 F
ir

e 

G
as

 L
ea

ks
 / 

H
az

m
at

 
V

eh
ic

le
 C

ra
sh

 
2 

L
in

es
 / 

T
re

es
 D

ow
n 

1 
V

eh
ic

le
 F

ir
e 

M
ed

ic
al

 E
m

er
ge

nc
ie

s 
1

3
 

W
at

er
 / 

Ic
e 

R
es

cu
e 

M
ut

ua
l A

id
 (

E
M

S)
 

W
E

E
K

 T
O

T
A

L
 

1
9

 

M
ut

ua
l A

id
 (

FI
R

E
) 

Y
E

A
R

 T
O

 D
A

TE
 (

2
0

2
4

) 
8

5
2

 

O
do

r /
S

m
ok

e 
In

ve
st

ig
at

io
n 

Y
EA

R
 T

O
 D

A
TE

 (
20

23
) 

72
5 

P
R

ID
E

/ O
W

N
E

R
S

H
IP

/ P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L
IS

M
 

I IN
C

ID
E

N
T

 S
T

A
T

IS
T

IC
S 
I 

M
O

N
TH

LY
 T

O
TA

LS
 

2
0

2
3

 
2

0
2

4
 

JA
N

: 
8

6
 

92
 

FE
B

: 
6

8
 

7
8

 
M

A
R

: 
6

9
 

1
2

8
 

A
PR

: 
7

0
 

1
0

0
 

M
AY

: 
77

 
75

 
JU

N
: 

72
 

9
5

 
JU

L:
 

7
4

 
8

6
 

A
U

G
: 

7
4

 
7

9
 

SE
P:

 
1

0
6

 
8

8
 

O
C

T:
 

62
 

N
O

V
: 

9
8

 
D

EC
R

: 
1

3
0

 

T
ot

al
 I

nc
id

en
ts

 (
20

23
):

 9
8

6
 

T
ot

al
 I

nc
id

en
ts

 (
20

22
):

 8
9

7
 

T
ot

al
 I

nc
id

en
ts

 (
20

21
):

 8
5

7
 

1
0

/1
5

/2
4

 



Se
pt

em
be

r 
20

24
 / 

20
23

 
I 

M
O

N
TH

LY
 R

EC
A

P 
I 

M
on

th
ly

 I
n

ci
d

en
ts

 
P

oi
nt

s 
o

f I
nt

er
es

t 
T

ra
in

in
gs

 
88

 / 
10

6 
• 

9/
2 

-
H

ol
li

s,
 E

ng
in

e 
&

 A
m

bu
la

nc
e 

to
 H

ol
li

s 
fo

r 
a 

se
ri

ou
s 

cr
as

h 
in

vo
lv

in
g 

a 
tr

ac
to

r 
3

/
8 

tr
ai

le
r 

w
it

h 
fo

ur
 i

nj
ur

ie
s.

 A
M

bu
la

nc
e 

tr
an

sp
or

te
d 

w
it

h 
cr

ew
 o

f 4
 to

 P
or

tla
nd

. 

• 
09

/0
4 

-
L

ym
an

, P
ow

er
 P

ar
ac

hu
te

 c
ra

sh
, B

id
de

fo
rd

 E
M

S 
M

/ A
 fo

r 
a 

pa
ra

m
ed

ic
 . 

D
ay

to
n 

In
ci

d
en

ts
 

T
ra

ns
po

rt
 to

 P
or

tl
an

d.
 

C
er

ti
fi

ca
ti

on
s 

24
 / 

28
 

• 
9/

7-
9/

8 
-A

ru
nd

el
, B

ui
ld

in
g 

F
ir

e 
T

an
k 

84
 r

es
po

nd
ed

, E
ng

in
e 

83
 w

as
 o

ut
 o

f s
er

vi
ce

 f
or

 
0

/
2 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

. 

• 
9/

7-
9/

8 
-

L
ym

an
, 

sm
ok

e 
in

ve
st

ig
at

io
n,

 r
es

ul
ti

ng
 f

ro
m

 s
tr

ee
t t

ak
eo

ve
r.

 
50

+
 v

eh
ic

le
s 

L
ym

an
 I

n
ci

d
en

ts
 

in
vo

lv
ed

. 
Q

ua
li

fi
ca

ti
on

s 
55

 /
 6

4 
• 

9/
15

 -
9 

ca
ll

s 
fo

r 
se

rv
ic

e 
in

cl
ud

ed
 3

 m
ul

ti
-i

nc
id

en
ts

, B
ru

sh
 f

ir
e,

 c
ar

di
ac

 a
rr

es
t, 

&
 E

M
S 

1 
ca

ll.
 A

lf
re

d 
&

 A
R

un
de

l E
M

S 
re

sp
on

de
d,

 G
m

il
ls

 h
ad

 c
re

w
 a

t e
ac

h 
in

ci
de

nt
. 

• 
9/

19
 -

D
ay

to
n,

 G
ar

ag
e 

fi
re

, 
6 

ad
di

ti
on

al
 d

ep
ar

tm
en

ts
 r

es
po

nd
ed

, F
ir

e 
qu

ic
kl

y 
M

ul
ti

-I
nc

id
en

ts
 

co
nt

ro
ll

ed
 a

nd
 e

xt
in

gu
is

he
d.

 1
1 

G
M

il
ls

 r
es

po
nd

er
s 

re
sp

on
de

d,
 2

 o
n 

du
ty

 a
nd

 1
 li

ve
-i

n 
C

ar
ee

r 
St

af
f 

6 
I 

20
 

st
ud

en
t. 

5 
• 

9/
23

 -
D

ay
to

n,
 I

nd
us

tr
ia

l A
cc

id
en

t, 
M

l A
 fr

om
 A

ru
nd

el
, 

5 
to

ta
l 

re
sp

on
de

rs
, C

ri
ti

ca
l 

M
ut

ua
l A

id
 -

G
iv

en
 

In
ci

de
nt

 S
tr

es
s 

D
eb

ri
ef

in
g 

he
ld

. I
nc

id
en

t w
as

 1
 o

f 7
 o

n 
th

at
 d

ay
. 

C
al

l-
F

or
ce

 S
ta

ff
 

• 
B

ed
ro

om
 a

nd
 T

-s
hi

rt
 o

rd
er

 f
ro

m
 E

M
S 

gr
an

t c
om

pl
et

ed
 . 

10
 / 

13
 

• 
A

nn
ua

l A
pp

ar
at

us
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 c

on
ti

nu
es

 . 
49

 

M
ut

ua
l A

id
 -

R
ec

ei
ve

d 
T

ra
n

sp
or

ts
 t

o 
H

os
p

it
al

s 
T

ot
al

 R
es

p
on

d
er

s 
1

6
 / 

6 
40

 
M

ai
ne

 H
ea

lt
h 

M
ai

ne
 H

ea
lt

h 
M

ai
ne

 H
ea

lt
h 

O
th

er
 

In
ci

d
en

ts
 t

o 
D

at
e 

B
id

de
fo

rd
 

Sa
nf

or
d 

P
or

tl
an

d 
M

er
cy

/Y
or

k 
T

ot
al

 R
es

po
nd

er
s:

 M
em

be
rs

 

82
1 

/ 
69

6 
40

 
0 

9 
0 

w
ho

 r
es

p
o

n
d

ed
 to

 a
t l

ea
st

 o
ne

 
in

ci
de

nt
. 



T
h

a
n

k 
yo

u 
to

 e
ve

ry
on

e 
w

ho
 s

ho
w

ed
 u

p 
to

 m
ak

e 
o

u
r 

op
en

 h
ou

se
 

a 
su

cc
es

s!
 A

 s
pe

ci
al

 s
ho

ut
ou

t t
o 

o
u

r 
F

ire
 P

ol
ic

e 
w

ho
 d

ire
ct

ed
 

tr
af

fic
 w

ith
ou

t t
ak

in
g 

a 
br

ea
k 

as
 w

e 
fil

le
d 

th
e 

st
at

io
n 

pa
rk

in
g 

lo
t, 

as
 w

el
l 

as
 t

he
 A

d
ve

n
t 

C
hu

rc
h 

P
ar

ki
ng

 lo
t, 

as
 w

el
l 

as
 t

he
 L

ib
ra

ry
 

an
d 

ev
en

 a
 f

ew
 p

eo
pl

e 
pa

rk
ed

 a
t 

Ly
m

an
 T

ow
n 

H
al

l. 
G

re
at

 jo
b

 e
ve

ry
on

e!
 



Goodwin’s Mills 
FIRE-RESCUE 

PERSONNEL POLICY 

Adopted November 30, 2011 

Amended May 8, 2012 

Amended June 5, 2012 

Amended July 1, 2013 

Amended January 29, 2014 

Amended February 22, 2014 

Revised July 31, 2018 

Amended January 7, 2019 

Amended xxx 

Amended June 17, 2019 

Amended 7/20/2023 

Amended 10/X/2024 

ITEM #4: (a.) GMFR Personnel Policy



 

2 
 

 

Table of Contents 

ARTICLE I: GENERAL PROVISIONS ...................................................................................................... 5 

1.1 Preamble ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

1.2 Purpose ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

1.3 Severability .................................................................................................................................... 5 

1.4 Revision ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE II: Employment ........................................................................................................................... 6 

2.1 Selection ........................................................................................................................................ 6 

2.2 Equal Employment Opportunity ..................................................................................................... 6 

2.3 Recruitment ................................................................................................................................... 6 

2.4 Administration ................................................................................................................................ 6 

2.5 Application ..................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.6 Tests .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

2.7 Scope ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

2.8 Probation Period: ........................................................................................................................... 7 

2.9 Anniversary Date ........................................................................................................................... 7 

2.10 Evaluation ...................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.11 Employment Records .................................................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE III: EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATIONS ................................................................................. 8 

3.1 Full-Time Employment ................................................................................................................... 9 

3.2 Part-Time Employment .................................................................................................................. 9 

3.3 Per Diem Employment ................................................................................................................... 9 

3.4 On-Call Employment ...................................................................................................................... 9 

ARTICLE IV: POSITION DESCRIPTIONS .............................................................................................. 9 

4.1 Position Descriptions ..................................................................................................................... 9 

ARTICLE V: WORK WEEK AND ATTENDANCE .................................................................................... 10 

5.1 Pay Period ................................................................................................................................... 10 

5.2 Wages ......................................................................................................................................... 10 

5.3 Overtime ...................................................................................................................................... 10 

5.4 Time Recording ........................................................................................................................... 10 

5.5 Attendance .................................................................................................................................. 10 

5.6 Snow Days/Extreme or Emergency Conditions ........................................................................... 11 

ARTICLE VI: EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES ........................................................... 11 



3 

6.1 Training ........................................................................................................................................ 11 

6.2 Licenses and Certification ............................................................................................................ 12 

6.3 Physical Examinations/Tests ....................................................................................................... 12 

6.4 Whistleblower Protection ............................................................................................................. 12 

ARTICLE VII: EMPLOYEE / VOLUNTEER CONDUCT ......................................................................... 13 

7.1 Employee Conduct ...................................................................................................................... 13 

7.2 Gratuities ..................................................................................................................................... 13 

7.3 Confidentiality Policy .................................................................................................................... 13 

7.4 Alcohol & Drug Use and Abuse ................................................................................................... 13 

7.5 Driving Policy ............................................................................................................................... 14 

7.6 Loss of License or Certification .................................................................................................... 14 

7.7 Smoking ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

7.8 Dress Code .................................................................................................................................. 15 

7.9 Harassment ................................................................................................................................. 15 

7.10 Workplace Safety and Injury Reporting ....................................................................................... 16 

7.11 Fire Department Property ............................................................................................................ 16 

7.12 Solicitation ................................................................................................................................... 16 

7.13 Political Activity ............................................................................................................................ 16 

7.14 Internet Policy .............................................................................................................................. 16 

ARTICLE VIII: EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE AND GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES ....................................... 17 

8.1 Employee / Volunteer Discipline: ................................................................................................. 17 

8.2 Grievance Procedure ................................................................................................................... 19 

8.3 Notice of Resignation ................................................................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE IX: EARNED BENEFITS ....................................................................................................... 20 

9.1 Holidays ....................................................................................................................................... 20 

9.2 Paid Time Off (PTO) and periods of Leave Without Pay (LWOP) ................................................ 21 

9.4 Retirement Plan Match Description ............................................................................................. 25 

9.5 Maine State Retirement ............................................................................................................... 25 

ARTICLE X: INSURANCES ..................................................................................................................... 25 

10.1 Medical Insurance........................................................................................................................ 25 

10.2 Dental Insurance.......................................................................................................................... 26 

10.3 Income Protection ........................................................................................................................ 26 

10.4 Medical Insurance Alternative ...................................................................................................... 26 

10.5 Vision Plan ................................................................................................................................... 26 



4 

10.6 Life Insurance .............................................................................................................................. 26 

ARTICLE XI: OTHER BENEFITS .......................................................................................................... 26 

11.1 Worker’s Compensation .............................................................................................................. 26 

11.2 Social Security ............................................................................................................................. 27 

11.3 Unemployment Compensation..................................................................................................... 27 

11.4 Bereavement Leave ..................................................................................................................... 27 

11.5 Jury Duty ..................................................................................................................................... 27 

11.6 Reimbursement of Expenses ....................................................................................................... 27 

11.7 Family Medical Leave .................................................................................................................. 27 

11.8 Military Leave: ............................................................................................................................. 29 



 

5 
 

TOWNS OF LYMAN AND DAYTON, MAINE 
 

JOINT MUNICIPAL FIRE-RESCUE DEPARTMENT 
PERSONNEL POLICY 

 

ARTICLE I: GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1.1 Preamble 
Pursuant to the Interlocal Agreement for Joint Operation and Management of Fire and Emergency 
Rescue Services between the Town of Lyman and the Town of Dayton (the “Towns”) dated 
December 20, 2010, as amended (“Interlocal Agreement”), the Towns have established a Joint 
Fire-Rescue Department (“Fire Department”).  The Interlocal Agreement also establishes a joint fire 
commission (the “Fire Commission”) made up of representatives of each Town that will oversee the 
performance of the Fire Department. 
 
The Towns specifically reserve the right to repeal, modify or amend as necessary, these personnel 
policies which are not to be interpreted as creating contractual rights with any employee.  In 
addition, conflicting changes in local, state or federal laws take precedence over the contents of 
these personnel policies, whether or not those changes are expressly incorporated into the policy. 
 
Fire Department personnel will be employees of the Town of Dayton for purposes of payroll and 
related functions, but personnel decisions will be made by the Fire Commission, by the Fire Chief 
who is hired by the Municipal Officers of the Towns, and, in certain instances, by the Municipal 
Officers of the Towns.   By action of the Municipal Officers of the Towns, this Fire-Rescue 
Personnel Policy was voted into effect on November 30, 2011, and subsequently amended as 
noted on the Record of Amendments.  This Fire-Rescue Personnel Policy governs sound working 
relationships between the Towns and Fire Department personnel.    

 
1.2 Purpose 

The general purpose of this policy is to establish a system of personnel administration that meets 
the social, economic and program needs for the Towns.  This policy includes policies and 
procedures for employee hiring and advancement, fringe benefits, discipline and other related 
activities.  Nothing contained herein constitutes a guarantee of continued employment or 
employment for a defined period. 

 
1.3 Severability 

If any provision of these policies or the application hereof to any person or circumstances is held 
invalid, this invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of these policies which can be 
given effect without the invalid provision or application, and for this purpose the provisions of these 
policies are severable. 

 
1.4 Revision 

The Municipal Officers recognize that it may be necessary to make adjustments in their policies 
from time to time in order that they accommodate the changes in year to year business conditions.  
It is therefore encouraged that each department head, chairman and/or members make note of any 



 

6 
 

problems and bring them to the attention of the Fire Commission. The Municipal Officers shall 
make amendments as deemed necessary. 

 

ARTICLE II: EMPLOYMENT 

2.1 Selection 
The selection and employment of all Fire Department personnel shall be governed by the Interlocal 
Agreement and the Fire Department’s policies and procedures. 

      
Applicants must meet the requirements set forth in the Fire Department’s policies and procedures, 
including without limitation, successful completion of the physical agility test, as applicable. 

 
2.2 Equal Employment Opportunity 

The Towns are committed to providing equal employment opportunities for all persons making 
application to the Fire Department, and equal treatment and advancement for its employees.  The 
Fire Department therefore sets forth a policy of nondiscrimination in hiring, employment and 
personnel actions.  The Fire Department is committed to the principal that each individual is 
entitled to equal employment opportunities without regard to religion, sex, age, marital status, race, 
color, ancestry, national origin, creed, political affiliation, veteran status, sexual preference, or 
physical or mental disability. 

 
2.3 Recruitment 

The character of the recruitment and selection process for all Town positions will vary contingent 
with the position.  Within the limits of time during which a position must be filled, there shall be as 
wide a search for qualified candidates as is practical, this may include advertising, open 
competitive examination, contact with state and other employment offices and contact with special 
sources of information.  In appropriate circumstances the Fire Department reserves the right to hire 
from within, without externally posting the job vacancy.  It shall be the duty of the Fire Commission 
and/or the Fire Chief, as applicable, to seek out the most desirable fire-rescue 
employees/volunteers for the Fire Department. Employees shall be given maximum opportunity for 
advancement in the service.  

 
2.4 Administration 

The Fire Commission, Fire Chief and the Municipal Officers shall administer the policies and 
procedures herein as further detailed in the Interlocal Agreement.  The Fire Chief and his/her 
designees are responsible for being familiar with these rules when establishing annual budget 
requests and supervising the Fire Department.  The Fire Chief shall also:   
a. Encourage and exercise leadership in the development of sound personnel practices within the 

Fire Department; 
b. Establish and maintain, with the assistance of the Town Treasurer, records of all employees, 

setting forth as to each employee the title, status or pay, Paid Time Off and other relevant 
information; 

c. Foster and develop programs for the improvement of employee effectiveness, proper courtesy 
when dealing with the public, and respect for Fire Department property; and 

d. Apply this policy and perform any act, which may be necessary or desirable to administer the 
purposes and provisions of this policy. 



7 

2.5 Application 
All applicants must complete an Application for Employment and/or a resume for employment.  
Selection procedures will include, but not be limited to, a completed application, criminal and other 
background checks, proof of driver’s license and reference checks.  The Fire Department relies 
upon the accuracy of information contained in the employment application, as well as the accuracy 
of other data presented throughout the hiring process and employment.  Any willful 
misrepresentations, falsifications, or material omissions in any of this information or data may result 
in the Fire Department’s exclusion of the individual from further consideration for employment or, if 
the person has been hired, termination of employment. 

2.6 Tests 
The Fire Department may, where appropriate, require applicants to submit to interviews, tests and 
examinations which may include, among other requirements, written tests, physical agility tests, 
physical and/or psychological examination(s) as permitted under state and federal law, when job-
related. 

2.7 Scope 
Except as otherwise noted, the rules and procedures set forth in this policy shall apply to all Fire 
Department employees.   

2.8 Probation Period:  
All new employees and every person promoted, or rehired to a position are considered 
probationary for the first six (6) months of employment.   Pursuant to State law, probationary 
employees may be terminated without cause and without right to file a grievance.  At least one (1) 
week before the end of the six (6) months probationary period, the Fire Chief, or if applicable, the 
Fire Commission shall evaluate the performance of the employee with the following results: 

1. Recommendation to the Fire Commission or the Municipal Officers to end the probationary period;
or, if the employee’s performance has not been acceptable or he or she is otherwise not qualified
for the position, recommendation that the employee be terminated before the end of the six (6)
month period.

2. Probationary employees accrue Paid Time Off, but are not eligible to use Paid Time Off until after
their probationary period is completed, unless specifically authorized by the Fire Chief.

2.9 Anniversary Date
For the purpose of figuring benefits, seniority, etc., the initial date of employment is considered the
anniversary date of the individual.

2.10 Evaluation 
In addition to the evaluations conducted for probationary employees, all employees serving either 
full-time or part-time employment will receive an evaluation yearly. Evaluations of the Fire Chief 
shall be conducted and prepared by the Fire Commission.  All other employees shall be evaluated 
by the Fire Chief or his/her designee according to a protocol established by the Fire Chief and 
approved by the Fire Commission. 



8 

Evaluations will relate directly to the employee’s position, work habits and job performance.  Once 
a written evaluation has been completed, the employee and person charged with performing the 
evaluation will meet to discuss the evaluation.  The employee’s signature will be obtained, which 
acknowledges review and understanding of the evaluation and as proof of discussion and 
understanding, although he/she may not necessarily agree.  Refusal to sign will be noted.   

An employee may prepare a written response to any item included in the evaluation.  This 
response shall be submitted to the evaluator and attached to and become part of the evaluation.  A 
copy of the complete evaluation will be provided for the employee and placed in his/her personnel 
file. 

2.11 Employment Records 
A record of each Fire Department employee shall be kept in a secured area in the office of the Fire 
Chief, in accordance with state and federal guidelines. Exception – the record of the Fire Chief 
shall be kept in the Town of Dayton municipal building. The record shall contain all vital statistics 
and other pertinent data of the employee, including hiring data, applications, resumes, references, 
signed job descriptions, Personnel Policy Employee Acknowledgement, probationary and other 
reviews, letters of commendation and recognition, copies of certifications, disciplinary actions, and 
performance evaluations. Any medical information, as well as Worker’s Compensation information 
is part of the employee personnel file, but because of the confidential nature of such information, 
such material is kept in a secure location separated from the employee file.  Copies of personnel 
information that is required for payroll purposes shall be kept in the Town Treasurer’s office. 
a. An employee may, with reasonable notice to the Fire Chief and at a convenient time, review

his/her employment file during regular working hours.
b. Employee files will be treated as confidential, to the extent permitted by law – e.g. “Right to

Know” mandates.  Employee information is available only to the Municipal Officers, Fire
Commission, and Fire Chief, as appropriate.

c. The employee is responsible for notifying the Fire Department of all changes of address and
telephone numbers.

d. The Fire Chief/Fire Commission/Town Treasurer shall ensure that each new employee
completes the necessary administrative forms to commence employment. Employee files will
be reviewed and updated as required on an annual basis.

e. Retention and/or destruction of files for employees that have left the employ of the Fire
Department shall occur according to state and federal guidelines.

ARTICLE III: EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATIONS 

The Fire Chief shall maintain an inventory of the positions in the Fire Department service by classification. 
To aid in the determination of applicability of the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLS) each position 
and/or title within the Fire Department shall be categorized into either exempt or non-exempt categories.  
Exempt or Non-Exempt refers to the applicability of the overtime provisions in the FLSA to the position. 

It will be the responsibility of the Fire Commission and Fire Chief, as applicable, in conjunction with the 
preparation of the position descriptions, to determine exempt or non-exempt status. Because the position 
and not the employee are classified, the qualities of the incumbent in the position shall not be considered. 



 

9 
 

The following types of employment may be made to the Fire Department service in conformity with the 
rules established herein: 
 
3.1 Full-Time Employment 

A full-time employee of the Fire Department works full time (a minimum of forty (40) hours per 
week) and on a continuing, indefinite, and year-round basis. Such employees are subject to all 
applicable personnel policies and shall receive all benefits and rights provided therein. 

 
3.2 Part-Time Employment 

A part-time employee of the Fire Department works less than forty (40) hours per week but more 
than twenty-eight (28) hours a week on a continuing, indefinite and year-round basis.  Such 
employees are subject to all applicable personnel policies.  Part-time employees are not entitled to 
any fringe benefits except for those mandated by law. 

  
3.3 Per Diem Employment 

A per diem employee works on a regular or irregular schedule throughout the year and does not 
fall into any of the other categories in this Section.  Such employees are subject to all applicable 
personnel policies. Per-Diem employees are not entitled to any fringe benefits except for those 
mandated by law. 

 
3.4 On-Call Employment 

In the same manner as a per diem employee, an on-call employee works on an irregular basis to 
render firefighting or emergency services in response to a specific call for service, or other event or 
activity as approved by the Fire Chief, or designee. Other events or activities may include, but are 
not limited to, training and education, equipment or station maintenance, projects, details or 
administrative matters. Periods of service normally involve only a few hours per incident, event or 
activity.  Such employees are subject to all applicable personnel policies. On-call employees are 
not entitled to any fringe benefits except for those mandated by law. 

 

ARTICLE IV: POSITION DESCRIPTIONS  

4.1 Position Descriptions 
Job descriptions for each position in the Fire Department shall be developed by the Fire Chief and 
the Fire Commission and contain the following information:   
 job title 
 classification 
 qualifications 
 expected hours 
 responsible to and evaluated by 
 responsibilities 
 duties 
 testing and certification requirements  

 



10 

ARTICLE V: WORK WEEK AND ATTENDANCE 

5.1 Pay Period 
(a) Pay Periods for Scheduled Employees and Call Force Employees:  The regular pay period

for scheduled employees is fourteen (14) days. Beginning on a Thursday and ending on a
Wednesday. Unless otherwise determined by the Fire Commission.

5.2 Wages 
Rates of pay for employees of the Fire Department shall be set by the Fire Commission, which may 
consider the recommendations of the Fire Chief.  Hourly, weekly, and annual wages shall be based 
on position level attained and years of service and shall be set forth in writing.  

5.3 Overtime 
A. Exempt Employees: Employees, who by the nature of their work, meet the “executive,

administrative or professional” exemption requirements of the Federal Fair Labor Standards
Act (FSLA) are classified as exempt employees. Exempt employees will not receive overtime
pay and are expected to work the number of hours required to perform the job.

B. Non-Exempt Employees: Any time worked by a non-exempt employee, who is an “employee
in fire protection activities” for the purposes of the Fair Labor Standards Act, that is in the
excess of fifty-three (53) hours in a workweek shall be compensated at an overtime pay rate of
time and one-half (1 ½).  This provision applies to non-exempt employees whether full-time or
part-time, or per diem. It does not apply to on-call employees.  For the purpose of computing
overtime within any given week, only those hours spent on the job will be used to calculate
overtime pay.  Paid Time Off, bereavement leave, military/jury leave and all other leave will not
be counted toward calculating overtime pay.

C. Prior Authorization: Prior approval of the Fire Chief is necessary to authorize employee
overtime.

Overtime shall be considered necessary only in critical situations where additional effort is needed 
to complete a task within a certain amount of time.  Temporary adjustments (i.e. same workweek) 
in working hours or realignment of duties within the department shall be considered as alternatives 
to the use of overtime. 

5.4 Time Recording 
For purposes of public accountability, all employees, exempt or non-exempt, must record actual 
hours of work as well as paid or unpaid leave on their timesheets.  Falsification of time records is a 
breach of Town policy and may result in dismissal.  All employees are expected to arrive on time 
and work all hours specified for their particular job.  

5.5 Attendance 
Employees shall be at their respective place of work at the appointed starting time and remain until 
the end of the scheduled workday.  In the event of necessary absence due to illness or any other 
cause, it is the responsibility of the employees to see that the Fire Chief or Duty Officer is advised 
of the reason for absence prior to the start of the workday.  If an absence continues beyond one 



 

11 
 

workday, the employee is responsible for reporting in each day.  (Refer to the Medical Leave 
section for information on extended sick leave reporting requirements). 
 
Similarly, if an employee is going to be unavoidably detained for some reason, he/she must inform 
the Fire Chief or Duty Officer when he/she expects to arrive.  
 
Repeated lateness, unexcused absences, absences without authorization or failure to return to 
duty for the next scheduled shift may be cause for corrective discipline, up to and including 
termination. 

 
Any employee who misses two consecutive work days without notice to the Fire Chief or designee, 
or for the Fire Chief, the Fire Commission Chair, may be considered to have voluntarily quit their 
job.  

 
An employee who has used all of his or her PTO, FMLA and/or  Short Term Disability benefits, and 
is still unable to return to work, may be terminated from employment.  

 
All employees will submit a completed timesheet and/or time card to the Fire Chief on a weekly 
basis in order to maintain the employee’s personnel file as well as for payroll purposes.  After the 
Fire Chief checks and approves the hours worked and paid time off taken, he/she will initial the 
timesheet if hours noted are accurate, speak to the employee regarding any discrepancies, and 
resolve the same.  The Fire Chief will submit all timesheets, including his/her own, to the Town 
Treasurer, who will review the timesheets. The Treasurer will then prepare the Fire Department 
payroll and submit it for inclusion in the Municipal Officers’ warrant. 

 
Late timesheets will not be accepted and compensation will only be issued at the next warrant.  

 
5.6 Snow Days/Extreme or Emergency Conditions 

All employees of the Fire Department are considered essential employees and, as such, when they 
are scheduled or otherwise obligated to work they are required to report to work despite 
emergency conditions or closure of other Town offices.  All employees will notify the Fire Chief or 
his/her designee as soon as possible if they are unable to report to work because of emergency or 
extreme conditions.   

 

ARTICLE VI: EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

6.1 Training 
It is the policy of the Fire Department to provide educational training opportunities for its employees 
at a reasonable expense. This policy shall cover job related seminars and training sessions. 

 
By definition ‘job related’ is intended to cover training which is designed to improve the quality of an 
individual’s performance at his/her job or similar position which might reasonably  be promoted 
into, and which will provide more efficient and/or economic service to the Towns and their citizens. 

 
Employees of the Fire Department may be required to attend trainings as determined and 
approved by the Fire Chief and in accordance with the Fire Department policies and procedures. 



12 

The employee is to make the request in writing and receive the Fire Chief’s prior approval for all 
training classes and seminars. 

6.2 Licenses and Certification 
Employees are required to hold and maintain a valid Maine driver’s license and any other licenses 
and certifications that may be required to lawfully and competently perform the functions of the job 
as determined by the Fire Chief. Failure to do so may result in re-assignment to an alternative 
position or job loss. Employees who lose their license or fail re-certification as necessary must 
immediately inform the Fire Chief of their new status. 

6.3 Physical Examinations/Tests 
a. Employees designated as interior qualified firefighters, hazardous materials operations level,

emergency medical technicians, or others designated by training and classification to work in
an environment that is immediately dangerous to life or health (IDLH) shall be required to
submit to a comprehensive, job related physical examination by a professional licensed health
care provider (PLHCP) selected by the Fire Department. Such examination must satisfy the
requirements of Maine Bureau of Labor Standards, 29 CFR 1910.134(e) (7). The results of
such examination must demonstrate that the employee is fit for duty.

b. Fire Department employees who are employed full-time by another municipal fire department
may be exempt from this provision, provided the individual is hired as an interior qualified
firefighter, hazardous materials operations level (or higher), emergency medical technician, or
other job designated by training and classification to work in an environment that is
immediately dangerous to life or health (IDLH). The physical examination must meet or exceed
the requirements of 29 CFR 1910.134(e) (7). The results of such examination must
demonstrate that the employee is fit for duty. The employee must provide documentation of the
results of such examination to the Fire Chief.

c. Employees not trained or classified to operate in an IDLH environment, in jobs such as:
emergency vehicle operator, fire-police, scene support, exterior firefighter, are required to
report results of a physical examination by a PLHCP, every 3-years following date of hire. The
results of such examination must demonstrate that the employee is fit for duty.  The employee
may have the examination performed by a physician of their choice at the employee’s
expense. The employee may elect to have the examination performed at the Fire Department’s
expense provided the examination is completed by a physician selected by the Fire
Department.

d. All employees shall be required to pass an annual physical agility examination as set forth in
the Fire Department policies and procedures and the Inter-local Agreement. Such examination
shall be composed of tasks and events directly related to the employee’s job assignment,
classification and training.

6.4 Whistleblower Protection 
The Fire Department strives to conduct its business with integrity and in strict compliance with 
applicable Federal, State and Local laws and regulations.  Accordingly, employees/volunteers are 



 

13 
 

encouraged to bring to the attention of the Municipal Officers any actions of municipal officials or 
employees/volunteers that they believe may be improper or unsafe.  The Fire Department will not 
retaliate against any person who makes a report in good faith to the Municipal Officers. 

 

ARTICLE VII: EMPLOYEE / VOLUNTEER CONDUCT 

Taxpayers are entitled to the best service that the Fire Department can give them.  Cooperation and 
teamwork by all employees/volunteers are essential to efficiency. 
7.1 Employee Conduct 

All employees are expected and required to treat the public with promptness, patience, courtesy 
and respect.  Employees are expected to conduct themselves at all times in a manner that will 
bring no discredit to the Fire Department or to the Towns. 

 
7.2 Gratuities 

A Fire Department employee/volunteer is prohibited from soliciting or accepting any gift, gratuity, 
favor, entertainment, loan or any other thing of monetary value from: 
a. any person who has or is seeking to obtain business with the Town; or 
b. any person within or outside Town employment whose interests may be affected by the 

employee’s/volunteer’s performance or non-performance of his/her official duties.  
 

Acceptance of nominal gifts in keeping with special occasions, such as marriage, retirement or 
illness or food and refreshments in the ordinary course of business meetings, or unsolicited 
advertising or promotional materials (e.g., pens, notepads, calendars), is permitted. 

 
7.3 Confidentiality Policy 

During the course of their duties, employees of the Fire Department have access to confidential 
information pertaining to persons or property in the Town.  Employees are prohibited from 
disclosing or discussing any confidential or privileged information with anyone except as is required 
in the course of employment.  Examples include, but are not limited to, labor relations or personnel 
actions. 

 
Employees are expected to respect the confidential nature of such information and are charged 
with the responsibility of releasing only the information that is required under the “Right to Know” 
laws. 

 
7.4 Alcohol & Drug Use and Abuse 

The Fire Department is committed to providing a drug-free, healthful and safe work environment. 
The term ‘drug(s)’ also includes alcohol, and prescription drugs when they are taken other than 
how they are prescribed.  This policy applies during an employee’s/volunteer’s assigned work 
hours, while on the Town premises and while conducting business-related activities off Town 
premises. 

 
Employees are required to report to work drug and alcohol free and free from the smell of alcohol.  
Job performance must be executed in a safe manner.  The possession, sale, or use of alcohol or 
illegal drugs on the employer’s premises is strictly prohibited.  Those who violate this policy are 
subject to corrective discipline up to and including termination of employment. 



 

14 
 

 
Employees seeking assistance for their substance abuse issues will be reasonably supported so 
counseling appointments can be attended.  Employees are accountable for their work performance 
whether they choose to participate in a substance abuse treatment program or not.  Participation in 
a treatment program is voluntary and at the discretion of the employee. 

 
Employees who seek medical treatment may use their Paid Time Off to attend a treatment program 
and may also be eligible for the Family and Medical Leave Act or disability leave. 

 
Employees must notify the Fire Chief and/or Fire Commission, as applicable, as soon as possible 
but no later than five (5) days after any conviction for a drug/alcohol related offense. 

 
Pursuant to Public law 100-690 Title V, Subtitle D, the Town has established the following policy:  
The unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is 
prohibited in the Fire Department’s workplace, or on any Town property. 

 
As a condition of employment with the Fire Department, all employees will abide by the terms of 
the policy and notify the employer of any drug statute conviction for a violation occurring in the 
workplace no later than five (5) days after such conviction. 
 
The Fire Department, within thirty (30) days of receiving notice, with respect to any employee who 
is so convicted, will take one of the following actions: 
a. Require appropriate personnel action against such an employee up to and including 

termination of employment; and/or 
b. Require such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation 

program approved for such purposes by Federal, State, or local health, law enforcement, or 
other appropriate agency. 

 
7.5 Driving Policy 

Any employee, volunteer, official or other person who drives private vehicles on Town business, 
must have a valid driver’s license and a satisfactory driving record.  Any person hired for a position, 
which involves driving for Fire Department business, shall have his/her license checked annually 
for active status. 

 
7.6 Loss of License or Certification 

If it is a requirement for an employee in a specific position to possess a valid driver’s license and/or 
class of driver’s license or certification, then it shall be a condition of employment for the employee 
to maintain such license and/or certification during his/her term of employment.  Failure to do so 
may result in reassignment to an alternative position or job loss.  Employees who lose their license 
or fail to re-certify, as necessary, must immediately inform the Fire Chief of their new status. 

 
7.7 Smoking 

In accordance with the provisions of the Workplace Smoking Act of 1985, the Fire Department has 
adopted a smoking policy.  The Fire Department supports a smoke free work environment.  
Smoking is not permitted inside ANY Fire Department -owned buildings. 

 



15 

7.8 Dress Code 
Fire Department employees shall wear appropriate dress during work related hours. 

7.9 Harassment 
It is the policy of the Fire Department that all employees have the right to work in an environment 
free of harassment and intimidation.  Harassment in the workplace based on sex, race, color, 
national origin, religion, age, marital status, ancestry, creed, political affiliation, veteran status, 
sexual preference, or physical or mental disability also constitutes illegal employment 
discrimination.  The Fire Department does not, and will not, tolerate such harassment and it is 
considered grounds for discipline up to and including termination. 

Examples of harassment related to sex, race, color, national origin, religion, age, marital status, 
ancestry, creed, political affiliation, veteran status, sexual preference, or physical or mental 
disability include the following, which may be a series of incidents or a single occurrence based on 
any of the foregoing categories: 
 Unwelcome advances, gestures, comments or contact;
 Threats;
 Offensive jokes;
 Subjecting employees to ridicule, slurs or derogatory action;
 Basing employment decisions or practices on submission to such harassment;
 Refusal to work with employees in work assignments;
 Inequitable disciplinary actions and work assignments

All complaints of harassment will be promptly and carefully investigated, and all employees are 
assured that they will be free from any and all reprisals or retaliation from filing such complaints.  
Any employee who has a complaint of harassment at work by anyone, including supervisors, co-
workers, or visitors, should immediately bring the problem to the attention of the Fire Chief or Fire 
Commission, as applicable.  

If the complaint involves supervisory personnel, or if the employee is uncomfortable with reporting 
the matter to his/her supervisor, the complaint should be brought to the attention of a Fire 
Commissioner or a Municipal Officer.   

The investigation of an allegation of harassment will include interviews with all relevant persons.  
Employees are assured that the identity of the complainant and the person accused of harassment 
will be kept confidential to the extent possible.  

After the investigation is completed, the findings will be reviewed with the complainant.  If the 
investigation reveals that the complaint appears to be valid, immediate and appropriate corrective 
action, up to and including termination, will be taken to stop the harassment and prevent its 
recurrence.  If the validity of the complaint cannot be determined, immediate and appropriate action 
will be taken to assure that all parties are reacquainted with this harassment policy and to avoid 
harassment in the future. 



16 

7.10 Workplace Safety and Injury Reporting 
When an employee of the Fire Department suffers an injury or accident in the course of 
employment, regardless of how insignificant the injury may appear, a report of the accident must 
be made immediately to the Fire Chief or his/her designee.  Such reports are necessary to comply 
with laws and initiate insurance and worker’s compensation benefits procedures.   

7.11 Fire Department Property 
Employees may not, directly or indirectly, use or allow the use of Fire Department property of any 
kind for other than official activities. All Fire Department property issued to the employee/volunteer 
shall be maintained in good repair and returned to the Fire Department upon request. Failure to 
return Fire Department property may result in legal action against the employee/volunteer. 

Employees/volunteers may not use the telephone facilities for personal calls when the placing of 
such calls would interfere with the employee’s/volunteer’s duties, would incur additional financial 
liability for the Fire Department or would interfere with the use of the facility for official business.  
Any such use should be urgent, infrequent and of short duration.  Similarly, use of private cell 
phones shall be kept to a minimum while on duty.  

7.12 Solicitation 
No employee shall engage in any business other than regular duties of the Fire Department during 
working time, including such activities as selling to fellow employees, lending of money for profit, 
etc. With the exception of Fire Department-approved activities, no solicitation of any kind is 
permitted on Fire Department premises during working time.  Working time includes the working 
time of both the employee, and the employee to whom such activity is directed.  

7.13 Political Activity 
No Fire Department employee shall participate in any political activity, including lobbying, during 
working hours that would be in conflict, incompatible or create an interference with the performance 
of his or her official functions and duties for the Fire Department.  During the course of their 
employment, employees shall refrain from using their influence publicly in any way for or against 
any candidate seeking elective office in the Town government.  Fire Department employees shall 
not work at the polls in support of any political purpose pertaining to the Town government, 
circulate petitions or campaign literature for elective Town officials, or be in any way involved with 
soliciting or receiving subscriptions, contributions or political service from any person for any 
political purpose pertaining to Town government; provided, however, this rule is not to be 
construed to prevent Fire Department employees from becoming, or continuing to be, members of 
any political organization, from attending political meetings, from expressing their views on political 
matters, or from voting with complete freedom in any municipal, state or national election.  

7.14 Internet Policy 
Electronic mail, Internet and telecommunication access are made available to Fire Department 
employees to communicate with each other, other governmental entities, companies and 
individuals for the benefit of the Fire Department. The system is Fire Department property and 
intended for Fire Department business.  The system is NOT to be used for employee personal gain 
or to support or to advocate for non-Fire Department related business or purposes.  All use of the 
Internet must be in compliance with all applicable laws and policies (federal, state and local, in 



 

17 
 

addition to Fire Department policies).  Internet access via Fire Department resources, therefore 
must NOT be used for illegal purposes. 

 
Agency Rights Pursuant to the Electronic Communications Privacy Act of 1986 (18 USC 2510) 
notice is hereby given that there are NO facilities provided by this system for sending or receiving 
private or confidential electronic communications.  System administrators and the Municipal 
Officers have access to ALL mail and user requests, and will monitor messages as necessary to 
assure efficient performance and appropriate use.  Messages relating to or in support of illegal 
activities will be reported to appropriate authorities. Each individual user is responsible for 
complying with this and all other relevant policies when using the Fire Department’s resources for 
accessing the Internet.  Use of these same resources in violation of this policy or of applicable 
department policies is grounds for disciplinary action. The use of the Internet for personal 
enjoyment, such as game playing is also prohibited.  This behavior is also grounds for disciplinary 
action. 

 

ARTICLE VIII: EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE AND GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES 

 
8.1 Employee / Volunteer Discipline: 

Disciplinary action up to and including dismissal may be initiated for reasons that include, but are 
not limited to, the following: 
 Absenteeism and/or tardiness; 
 Insubordination; 
 Unacceptable job performance; 
 Use of alcohol and/or non-prescriptive drugs during the work day or in any way which impairs 

the performance of the position; 
 Willful destruction of public and/or private property; 
 Falsification of documents, concerning the employee’s application to the Fire Department, 

payroll or other departmental operations; 
 Harassing behavior including obscene language directed at employees, volunteers or the 

public; 
 Failure to comply with safety regulations and requirements; 
 Dishonesty of any kind or theft of Fire Department, public or private property; 
 Acceptance of money or gift by an employee/volunteer for any consideration afforded to the 

public in general; 
 Any other action or conduct materially affecting or impairing the efficiency of Fire Department 

services or that brings the Fire Department in public dispute or embarrassment 
 

The disciplinary process may include, but is not limited to the following procedures: 
 

a. Verbal Warning:  The Fire Chief, or, in the case of the Fire Chief as employee, the Fire 
Commission, may verbally warn an employee/volunteer to improve specific performance 
issues or to rectify specific conduct. The date, time and nature of the warning shall be noted in 
the employee's personnel file. When possible, warnings should be given within two (2) days of 



 

18 
 

the knowledge of the offense. The Fire Commission reserves the right to move to a written 
warning, suspension or termination depending on the seriousness of the situation. 
 

b. Written Reprimand:  The Fire Chief, or, in the case of the Fire Chief as employee, the Fire 
Commission, may give a written reprimand to an employee/volunteer for a repeated offense, or 
for an offense serious enough to require more than a verbal warning. 

 
A reprimand will include the nature of the offense, date and time of the offense, possibility of 
future disciplinary action and steps for correction of the action. A copy of the reprimand signed 
by the Fire Chief or Fire Commission and the employee/volunteer will be placed in the 
employee/volunteer personnel file. If the employee/volunteer refuses to sign the reprimand, 
this fact should be noted and witnessed on the reprimand. The Town reserves the right to 
move to suspension or termination depending on the seriousness of the situation. 

 
c. Suspension:  The Fire Chief may recommend to the Fire Commission, or, in the case of the 

Fire Chief as employee, the Fire Commission may recommend to the Municipal Officers of the 
Towns, that an employee/volunteer be suspended with or without pay for a recurring offense or 
an offense that merits suspension, and the Fire Commission or Municipal Officers, as 
applicable, may suspend such an employee. Suspensions will be consistent with FLSA 
requirements. The Fire Commission reserves the right to move to termination depending on 
the seriousness of the situation. 
 
Based on his/her professional judgment, the Fire Chief has the authority to suspend any 
employee/volunteer immediately for reasons stated in Section 8.1 Employee/Volunteer 
Discipline, with such suspension to be effective until either upheld or rescinded at the next Fire 
Commission meeting. 

 
The initial disciplinary/removal authority shall notify the employee of the reasons for the 
suspension and effective date thereof in writing and have a meeting with the employee about 
the charges.  The employee/volunteer shall have an opportunity to respond to the charges 1) 
at the meeting between the employee/volunteer and the initial disciplinary/removal authority 
held to discuss the reasons for the suspension recommendation and at 2) the meeting at which 
the final disciplinary/removal authority (i.e., the Fire Commission or Municipal Officers, as 
applicable) takes action on the recommendation.  The employee may invoke grievance 
procedure set forth in 8.2 during this process. 

 
The employee/volunteer will have the opportunity to respond to the charges prior to serving the 
suspension unless the employee's/volunteer's actions are a threat to self or others and require 
immediate suspension from service. 

 
Employees/volunteers will receive confirmation of their suspension period and the necessary 
corrective steps. The length of suspension is based on the seriousness of the offense and 
what the disciplining authority may determine is warranted. Employees/volunteers will be 
warned of the potential for more serious disciplinary action or dismissal in the event of further 
offenses.  A copy of the letter of suspension will be included in the employee’s/volunteer’s 
personnel file.  Suspension with or without pay may occur for an indefinite period pending 
complete investigation of the incident or offense. 



19 

d. Dismissal: The dismissal of any Fire Department employee/volunteer shall be governed by
the Interlocal Agreement.

The Interlocal Agreement provides for the following dismissal procedures:

1) Fire Chief.  The Fire Commission shall recommend the removal, for cause, of the Fire
Chief to the Municipal Officers of the Towns of Lyman and Dayton, which bodies may take
action to terminate the Fire Chief’s employment.

2) Firefighters and Emergency-Rescue Personnel. The Fire Chief may recommend the
removal of any firefighter or emergency-rescue employee to the Fire Commission, which
body may take action to terminate any such employment for cause.

3) Employees who are not Firefighters or Emergency-Rescue Personnel.  The Fire Chief may
discharge employees who are not firefighters or emergency-rescue personnel.

The initial disciplinary/removal authority shall notify the employee/volunteer of the reasons for 
the dismissal and effective date thereof in writing and have a meeting with the employee about 
the charges.  The employee/volunteer shall have an opportunity to respond to the charges 1) 
at the meeting between the employee/volunteer and the initial disciplinary/removal authority 
held to discuss the reasons for the dismissal recommendation and 2) at the meeting at which 
the final disciplinary/removal authority (i.e., the Fire Chief, Fire Commission or Municipal 
Officers, as applicable) takes action on the recommendation.   The employee may invoke 
grievance procedure set forth in 8.2 during this process. 

e. Volunteers. Given the nature of volunteer status, the Fire Commission or Fire Chief, as
applicable, reserves the right to alter the procedures contained in this policy when dealing with
volunteers.

8.2 Grievance Procedure 
The term “grievance” means any dispute between an employee and management concerning the 
effect, interpretation, application or claim of breach or violation of the Fire Department’s Fire-
Rescue Personnel Policy. 
Excluded from consideration of grievance are those matters pertaining to: hiring, promotion of 
personnel, and compensation adjustments, except that employees working on a year-round basis 
as provided in Sections 3.1 and 3.2 above, may appeal performance evaluations. 

Grievances for suspensions and dismissals may be combined with the process of the final 
suspension or removal authority taking action on the recommendation of the initial authority as 
provided above. For example, if the Fire Chief recommends that a firefighter be removed, the 
employee can grieve that recommendation to the Fire Commission, which shall consider the 
grievance when it makes the final decision on the recommendation of the Fire Chief. 

Steps in the grievance procedure shall be as follows: 



 

20 
 

a. An attempt should be made for an oral agreement between the individual and the initial 
disciplinary/removal authority. 
 

b. If an oral agreement is not reached, the aggrieved may, within five (5) working days, file a 
written complaint with the initial disciplinary/removal authority.  That authority is required to 
make a determination of the merits of the complaint and give a written reply within ten (10) 
working days. 

 
c. If the individual is dissatisfied with the written decision of the initial disciplinary/removal 

authority, the aggrieved may, within three (3) working days, make a formal written appeal to 
either the Fire Commission or, in the case of the Fire Chief as employee, the Municipal 
Officers. Upon receipt of the written appeal, the Fire Commission or the Municipal Officers, as 
applicable, in the case of discipline that is not a suspension or dismissal shall return a formal 
written decision within ten (10) working days. In the case of suspensions or removals, the Fire 
Commission or the Municipal Officers, as applicable, shall hold a meeting with the employee 
(unless the employee declines), after which such body(ies) shall return a formal written 
decision within three (3) working days of such meeting.  In all cases the decision of the 
Municipal Officers (in the case of the Fire Chief) and the Fire Commission (in the case of all 
other employees) shall be final and binding. 

 
8.3 Notice of Resignation 

An employee may resign from Fire Department service in “good standing.” “Good standing” shall 
mean the submittal of a written notice 14 calendar days in advance of the last day of actual work. 
Failure of a resigning employee to comply with this rule may be cause for denying future 
employment with the Fire Department. The Fire Chief or Fire Commission, as applicable, may 
permit a shorter period of notice if extenuating circumstances exist. The resignation should be 
accompanied by a statement by the Fire Commission or Fire Chief, as applicable, as to the 
resigning employee’s service performance and pertinent information concerning the cause of 
resignation. The effective date of the employee’s termination with the Fire Department is 
considered to be the last day actually worked. 

 
Upon separation from service in “good standing,” the Fire Department shall pay all wages owed as 
well as earned and/or pro-rated paid time off due to the employee in accordance with the Paid 
Time Off Section of the Personnel Policy, if any, on the next regular pay day.  

 

ARTICLE IX: EARNED BENEFITS 

 
9.1 Holidays 

a) Holiday pay is earned from the first day of employment for full-time employees. 
 

b) As used herein, the term “holiday” shall refer to weekdays that are officially observed holidays 
for state employees, as set forth by the Maine Department of Administrative and Financial 
Services, Bureau of Human Resources, as follows: 

 
 New Year’s Day 



21 

 Martin Luther King Jr. Day
 Washington’s Birthday (President’s Day)
 Patriot’s Day
 Memorial Day
 Juneteenth
 Independence Day
 Labor Day
 Indigenous Peoples Day
 Veterans’ Day
 Thanksgiving Day
 Thanksgiving Friday
 Christmas Day

c) Each full-time employee will earn 8-hours of holiday pay at their regular hourly wage, for each
observed holiday. Each holiday will be paid-out in the pay-period the holiday is observed.

d) Employees who are on-duty at the Fire Station filling a scheduled shift are entitled to key
holiday incentive pay for each hour worked. Key holiday incentive pay will be paid at an hourly
rate as determined by the Fire Commission.  The key holiday incentive is only paid for hours
worked on the following holidays: New Year’s Day, Independence Day, Thanksgiving Day, and
Christmas Day.

9.2 Paid Time Off (PTO) and periods of Leave Without Pay (LWOP) 
The purpose of Paid Time Off (PTO) is to provide employees with flexible paid time off from work 
that can be used for such needs as vacation, personal or family illness, doctor appointments and 
other activities of the employee's choice. The goal is to reduce unscheduled absences and the 
need for supervisory oversight. 

PTO is accrued by the full-time Fire Department employees, effective July 1,2018, and replaces all 
existing vacation, sick time, and personal business days that have been allotted under prior 
policies. The vacation and sick time accrued in the past will carry over, in excess of the PTO policy, 
per the guidelines at the time. 

A. Guidelines for PTO Use
Each full time employee will accrue PTO based on a bi-weekly pay period and their length of
service as defined below.

 PTO is added to the employee's PTO bank when the bi-weekly paycheck is issued.
 PTO taken will be subtracted from the employee's accrued time bank.
 Temporary employees, part-time, per diem and call force employees are NOT eligible to

accrue PTO.
 Accrual of PTO is contingent on the employee’s hours worked and/or use of accrued PTO, or

combination of hours worked and PTO, for a given bi-weekly pay period.



22 

 PTO is NOT earned in pay periods during which unpaid leave, short or long term disability
leave or workers' compensation leave are taken.  However, PTO will continue to accrue during
periods of family medical leave, jury duty or military leave lasting less than 30 days.

B. Process to Use PTO
Employees may use time from their PTO bank in 15-minute increments. PTO will be used in two
categories;

1) Scheduled PTO (SPTO):  SPTO shall be granted to employees at times agreeable to the Fire
Chief. Requests for SPTO must be submitted to the Fire Chief or designee, or for the Fire
Chief, the Fire Commission Chair, in writing at least seven days in advance.

2) Unscheduled PTO (UPTO):  Used for legitimate, unexpected illness or emergencies. Except
for extreme instances, UPTO must be approved by the Fire Chief or designee, or for the Fire
Chief, the Fire Commission Chair, in advance. A minimum of 2-hours’ notice is desired to use
UPTO. However, employees are expected to give as much notice as possible when
unscheduled absence from work is anticipated. Employees who miss more than three
consecutive scheduled shifts may be required to present a doctor's release to the Fire Chief or
designee, or for the Fire Chief, the Fire Commission Chair, that permits them to return to work.

C. Specific Eligibility, Accumulation, and Usage Rules for Paid Time Off (PTO)
1) PTO will begin to accrue at the employee’s date of hire. However, an employee must

complete the probationary period prior to using any accrued PTO, except as specifically
authorized by the Fire Chief or designee, or for the Fire Chief, the Fire Commission Chair.

2) PTO hours will be earned based on an employee’s years of service as outlined below:
Date of Hire through 2nd year:  Accrue 7.15 hours of PTO each pay period.  For 26 pay
periods per year, the employee will accumulate 186 hours.
3rd through 5th year: Accrue 8.77 hours of PTO each pay period. For 26 pay periods per
year, the employee will accumulate 228 hours.
6th through 9th year: Accrue 10.38 hours of PTO each pay period. For 26 pay periods per
year, the employee will accumulate 270 hours.
10th year and greater: Accrue 12 hours of PTO each pay period. For 26 pay periods per
year, the employee will accumulate 312 hours.

3) Employees may accumulate a up to 480 hours in their PTO bank.  PTO hours accrued
over 480, must be used within the anniversary year.  An employee’s anniversary year is
the 12-month period beginning on the employee’s date of hire as a full-time employee.  A
maximum of 42 PTO hours may be cashed out during an anniversary year, if the employee
is in danger of going over the 480 hour cap. Cash out must be requested  during the last
month of the anniversary year and will be paid on a case-by-case basis.

4) Employees are encouraged to maintain a minimum of 48 hours in their PTO bank, to
ensure adequate PTO in the event an emergency or for unforeseen personal
circumstances.

5) Employees are responsible for monitoring and taking their PTO over the course of a year
so that they do not lose time accrued when the current anniversary year ends. PTO use is



 

23 
 

subject to supervisory approval and is to be used at a time agreeable to the Fire Chief, or 
for the Fire Chief, the Fire Commission Chair. If extenuating circumstances prevented the 
employee from taking scheduled PTO, this PTO may be carried over and taken in the first 
half of the next anniversary year with the approval of the Fire Chief, or for the Fire Chief, 
the Fire Commission Chair. 

 
6) Employees are paid for the PTO they have accrued at employment end, in accordance 

with the prorated schedule: 
a. Less than 5 years of fulltime employment with the GMFR:  50% 
b. 6th year to 15th year of fulltime employment with the GMFR: 75% 
c. Over 16 years of fulltime employment with the GMFR: 100% 

 
D. Excessive Use of UPTO: 

1) Four or more incidents of UPTO in a 12-month period may result in progressive disciplinary 
action up to and including employment termination.  UPTO use, due to illnesses of four 
hours or more, which results in consecutive shifts absent from work, is considered one 
absence incident in relationship to potential disciplinary action. 
 

2) Progressive disciplinary action relative to incidents of excessive UPTO usage is 
administered on a rolling 12 month calendar as follows: 
a. First and Second incident: No disciplinary action - Documented verbal warning. 
b. Third incident: No disciplinary action – Preventive Action Counseling. 
c. Fourth and Fifth incidents: Written warning/Corrective Action Counseling; Fire 

Commission advised. 
d. Sixth incident: Referred to Fire Commission for employment termination. 

 
In the event an employee receives a second or third written warning in a rolling 24 month time 
period, employment may be terminated. 

 
E. Leave Without Pay (LWOP) 
1) Full-time Employees:  
No employee will be allowed to use PTO hours in excess of accrued PTO hours. A negative 
balance in an employee’s PTO bank is not authorized. However, it is understood that unforeseen 
circumstances may arise where an employee will exhaust all accrued PTO hours and have a 
legitimate requirement for leave. In these situations the Fire Chief, or for the Fire Chief, the Fire 
Commission Chair, may authorize Leave Without Pay (LWOP).  

 
LWOP will only be authorized when: 

a. All PTO hours have been exhausted. 
b. No other leave policy applies to the situation in question. 
c. LWOP must be for an unforeseen emergency or another matter of an urgent nature, 

specific need or hardship. 
d. The period of leave will be determined by the Fire Chief, or in the case of the Fire Chief, 

the Fire Commission Chair. 
 



 

24 
 

During LWOP period all pay and other benefits will cease. Employees on LWOP may purchase 
health insurance from the Fire Department at their own expense. Arrangements for payment must 
be made with the Treasurer prior to approval of LWOP. 
 
During LWOP periods full-time employees are not to participate in department activities, unless 
such participation is directly related to maintenance of medical licensure, and only then with the 
express written consent of the Fire Chief, or in the case of the Fire Chief, the Fire Commission 
Chair. 

 
2) Call force, Part-time, Per Diem Employees: 
Situations may arise when non-benefits eligible employees may require a period of leave.  The Fire 
Chief is authorized to grant LWOP to call force, part-time or per diem employees on a case-by-
case basis. The leave period will be determined by the Fire Chief. 

 
LWOP for these employees will only be authorized when: 

a. No other leave policy applies to the situation in question. 
b. LWOP is for an unforeseen emergency or another matter of an urgent nature, a 

specific need or hardship. 
c. Such leave is required by the employee’s primary employer. 
d. Such leave is for personal educational requirements. 

 
During LWOP period all pay and any other benefits will cease. 
 
During LWOP periods employees are not to participate in department activities, unless such 
participation is directly related to maintenance of medical licensure, and only then with the express 
written consent of the Fire Chief. 
 

9.3 EARNED PAID LEAVE (EPL) 

Effective January 1, 2021, Maine enacted a new Paid Time Off law (26 MRS § 637). 

Earned paid leave (EPL) shall accrue for all covered Town employees, as defined by the Employment Security Act, 
26 MRS § 1043(11), at a rate of one (1) hour earned for every forty hours worked during one year of 
employment.  Under the law, employees are eligible to receive paid time off if they are a non-seasonal, part time, per 
diem, or temporary employee who has been employed for at least 120 calendar days.  All probationary full-time 
employees will be covered by EPL for the first 6 months of employment only, after which they will follow the 
Personnel Policy. 

Covered Employees:  Employees making more than $1,000 per year are entitled to one (1) hour of time off for every 
40 hours worked up to a maximum of 40 hours per year.  Employees who have “time-off” benefits for sick leave or 
vacation time which are greater than those provided in this Section 9.3 are unaffected and not covered by the EPL.  

EPL Accrual:  No more than 40 hours of earned paid leave will be accrued during any one-year period of Town 
employment.  The one-year “EPL eligibility period” shall be defined as follows: 

 Existing Town employees hired prior to 01/01/2021: Accrual of EPL for existing employees will begin on 
01/01/2021; such existing employees shall thereafter accrue and use EPL on a calendar year basis 
(January 1st through December 31st annually). 



25 

 Employees hired after 01/01/2021; Employees hired on or after 01/01/2021 will accrue EPL on a rolling one
(1) year basis, commencing on their date of hire’ such employees shall thereafter accrue and use EPL on an
anniversary year basis.

Existing employees who have been employed more than 120 days as of 01/01/2021 may begin using EPL as of 
01/01/2021.  All other employees, including employees hired on or after 01/01/2021, may not use EPL until after 120 
days of Town employment. 

EPL Limit:  The accrual limit is a maximum of 40 hours of accrued time. 

Termination:  EPL does not have a cash value and will not be paid out at termination of employment.  Any employee 
who returns to work for the Town within a one year of the last day of previous employment will have any unused 
balance reinstated.   

Minimum PTO Increments:  The smallest increment of EPL an employee can take is one (1) hour. 

Notice:  

EPL can be used for any purpose.  If EPL is for a scheduled purpose, the Town requires a two-week prior written 
notice of the intention to take time off and must have the request approved for scheduling purposes.  Emergency 
circumstances or illness may make advanced notice impossible. 

All EPL used will be paid at the employee’s regular rate of pay as established in the week immediately prior to taking 
the earned leave. 

9.4 Retirement Plan Match Description 
After the first six (6) months of employment, all fulltime employees are eligible to enter into a 
retirement match program. Open enrollment for the 457(b) program is 6-months from date of hire 
or January and July of any year. There is no match provided by the employer.  

9.5 Maine State Retirement 
MPERS is the retirement offer by the town. Only Full-time employees are eligible for this retirement 
benefit.  

ARTICLE X: INSURANCES 

10.1 Medical Insurance 
Medical insurance is available to full-time (40 hours per week) year round employees’ eligible for 
this coverage. 

The Fire Department pays for 100% of the annual premium cost for employees. The Fire 
Department does not pay any additional amount towards family, spouse or dependent coverage. 
Family, spouse or dependent coverage is available through the Fire Department’s medical 
insurance provider; however, all costs associated with this additional coverage will be the 
responsibility of the employee. If selected, these expenses will be deducted pre-tax from the 
employee’s payroll. Employees should contact the Fire Department Treasurer for additional 
information regarding available Medical Insurance Coverage and associated costs. 



 

26 
 

10.2 Dental Insurance 
Dental insurance is available to full-time (40 hours per week) year round employees’ eligible for this 
coverage. 

 
The Fire Department pays for 100% of the annual premium cost for employees. The Town does 
not pay any additional amount towards family, spouse or dependent coverage. Family, spouse or 
dependent coverage is available through the Fire Department’s dental insurance provider; 
however, all costs associated with this additional coverage will be the responsibility of the 
employee. If selected, these expenses will be deducted pre-tax from the employee’s payroll. 
Employees should contact the Fire Department Treasurer for additional information regarding 
available Dental Insurance Coverage and associated costs. 

 
10.3 Income Protection 

An income protection plan is available for full time employees.  The amount of income protection 
insurance available is 40%, 55% and 70% of employee’s salary.  Cost of this coverage is at the 
expense of the employee. 

 
10.4 Medical Insurance Alternative 

If an eligible employee at the beginning of each calendar year covered elects not to participate in 
the Fire Department’s provided medical insurance coverage and provides documented proof that 
he/she is otherwise covered, the Fire Department will reimburse the employee one-half (1/2) of the 
cost saved as a result of the election of reduced coverage or no coverage. The cash payments 
under this provision are taxable income and shall be paid to the employee as an addition to his/her 
regular paycheck. 

 
10.5 Vision Plan 

A Vision Plan is available to full-time employees. The entire cost of the plan is paid by the 
employee. Plan details are available from the Fire Department Treasurer. 

 
10.6 Life Insurance 

Life insurance for full-time employees is paid by the Fire Department at the level equal to one times 
the employee’s annual salary. Any additional life insurance will be paid by the employee. 

 

ARTICLE XI: OTHER BENEFITS  

Unless otherwise mandated by law, these benefits are available to full-time employees only.  
 
11.1 Worker’s Compensation 

The Town of Dayton provides Worker’s Compensation Insurance coverage for all employees.  
When an on-the-job accident occurs, the affected employee is to report it immediately to the Fire 
Chief or to his/her designee. The Fire Chief or his/her designee shall notify the Municipal Officers’ 
Office immediately of the injury so that any necessary accident and injury reports may be 
completed.  Such reports are necessary to comply with laws and initiate Worker’s Compensation 
benefits. The Fire Department will require documentation from the employee’s doctor or the 
designated Occupational Health Provider in order to return from an on the job injury. 

 



 

27 
 

11.2 Social Security 
The Fire Department participates jointly with employees in Social Security payments.  Benefits 
provided include a retirement feature, survivor’s benefits payment if death occurs before 
retirement, disability insurance and Medicare coverage. 

 
11.3 Unemployment Compensation 

The Fire Department provides unemployment compensation benefits to employees in accordance 
with State and Federal law. 

 
11.4 Bereavement Leave 

Any full-time employee may be excused from work for: 
a. Up to five (5) days/shifts because of the death of his/her spouse or children with up to 72 hours 

of paid leave and/or 
b. Up to three (3) days/shifts because of a death in his/her immediate family with up to 24 hours 

of paid leave. 
 

The employee shall be paid his/her regular rate of pay for the scheduled work hours missed.  It is 
intended that his/her time off be used for the purpose of handling necessary arrangements and 
attendance of the funeral.  One (1) workday may be granted without pay to employees at the 
discretion of the Fire Chief, or in the case of the Fire Chief, the Fire Commission Chair for 
attendance at funerals of persons not covered above. 
 
Immediate family includes:  parents, brothers, sisters, mothers-in-law, fathers-in-law, sisters-in-law, 
brothers-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, step-parents or other relatives living in the same 
household with the employee. 

 
11.5 Jury Duty 

Any full-time employee will be granted special leave, as required, for jury duty or performance of 
other civic duty requiring appearance in court or before another public body. The employee shall be 
paid the difference (if any) in compensation between the amount received from the rendering of 
such service and his or her regular rate of pay, if the service occurs during a workday. 
 
Time paid for Jury Service shall not be counted as time worked for purposes of overtime 
computation. These provisions shall apply only to employees who have completed their probation 
period and who give notice of such absence. 

 
11.6 Reimbursement of Expenses 

Employees shall be reimbursed for reasonable and authorized expenses incurred while carrying 
out Fire Department business. 

 
11.7 Family Medical Leave 

The FMLA entitles eligible employees of covered employers to take unpaid, job-protected leave for 
specific family and medical reasons with continuation of group health insurance coverage under 
the same terms and conditions as if the employee had not taken leave. 
 



28 

Any employee who has been employed by the Fire Department for 12 months (this does not need 
to be consecutive) and who has worked at least 1,250 hours during the year preceding the start of 
the leave is entitled to a family medical leave of up to twelve (12) weeks per year for: 
 the birth and care of a newborn child of the employee;
 placement of a child into the employee’s family by adoption or by a foster care arrangement;
 care of the employee’s spouse, child or parent who has a serious health condition;
 inability of the employee to perform the essential functions of the employee’s position due to a

serious health condition; or
 qualifying exigencies arising out of the fact that the employee’s spouse, child or parent is on

active duty or call to active duty status as a member of the National Guard or Reserves in
support of a contingency operation.

Eligible employees are entitled to twenty-six workweeks of leave during a single 12-month period to 
care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness if the eligible employee is the 
service member’s spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next-of-kin (military caregiver leave). 

Employees who have worked for twelve (12) months but less than 1,250 hours during the past year 
and are not eligible for federal family medical leave, may be eligible for a ten-week family medical 
leave pursuant to the Maine Family and Medical Leave Act. 

The twelve (12)-month period during which the twelve weeks of family medical leave may be taken 
is measured forward from the date an employee’s first family medical leave begins, and the next 
12-month period would begin the first time family medical leave is taken after completion of any
previous 12-month period.
a. To be eligible for a family medical leave, the employee must give at least 30 days’ notice of the

intended date upon which family medical leave will commence and terminate, unless the
employee is prevented from giving notice because of a medical emergency. The employee
requesting family medical leave must do so on a preprinted form available in the Municipal
Officers’ Office.

b. The Fire Department may require certification from a physician to verify the amount of leave
requested by the employee.

c. Family medical leave is without pay. If the employee is enrolled in group medical insurance
prior to utilizing unpaid leave, the Fire Department will pay for the employer’s share of the
medical insurance premium for the period of the unpaid family medical leave; said period not to
exceed twelve (12) weeks. The employee’s share of medical insurance, life insurance, income
protection and retirement benefits will continue during the period of unpaid leave at the cost of
the employee.

d. The employee may use accrued Paid Time Off in accordance with the policies concerning such
leave, to cover absences related to family medical leave; however, the total amount of family
medical leave may not exceed twelve (12) weeks.

e. Paid Time Off does not accrue during an unpaid leave period.
f. Upon the end of the family medical leave, an employee will be restored to the position

occupied by the employee immediately prior to the commencement of the leave or to an
equivalent position with the same employee benefits and pay as existed immediately prior to
the commencement of the leave, except in the event of conditions unrelated to the employee’s



29 

taking of a family medical leave which prevent the restoration to the same or equivalent 
position. 

g. An employee must return to work from the family medical leave no later than the first working
day following the expiration of the leave. If the employee has not returned at the expiration of
the leave, his/her termination date will be the last day she/he was entitled to group coverage.

h. An employee may take leave on an intermittent basis or by working a reduced schedule with
prior written approval by the Fire Chief, or, in the case of the Fire Chief, the Fire Commission
Chair.

11.8 Military Leave: 
Employees who are members of the uniformed services, including: the Armed Forces (Army, Navy, 
Air Force, Marines, Coast Guard); the Army or Air National Guard; Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine, 
or Coast Guard Reserve; or commissioned corps of the Public Health Service, shall have all rights 
and reemployment rights afforded to them under the Uniformed Services Employment and 
Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), and all state laws. Employees should contact the Municipal 
Officers’ Clerk for more details of the rights afforded under this policy and applicable laws. A 
request for military leave under this section must be accompanied by military orders or formal letter 
from the employee’s military commander. 



30 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Towns have by their duly authorized municipal officers caused this 
Personnel Policy to be executed this _____  day of ______ 2024.  

For the Town of Lyman For the Town of Dayton 

By: _________________________ By: ____________________________ 
Jessica Picard, Chair Select Board Scott Littlefield, Chair Select Board 

_________________________  __________________________ 
Victoria Gavel, Select Board    Jarod Harriman, Select Board Member 

_______________________________ ______________________________ 
Amber Swett, Select Board Member Christopher Belanger, Select Board Member 

______________________________ 
David Alves, Select Board Member 

________________________________ 
Joseph Wagner, Select Board Member 



31 

RECORD OF AMENDMENTS 
TO THE GOODWINS MILLS FIRE-RESCUE PERSONNEL POLICY 

Fire Department Personnel Policy Established 
The Selectmen of the Towns of Lyman and Dayton established this Personnel Policy on November 30, 
2011 for the Joint Municipal Fire-Rescue Department (Fire Department) pursuant to the Interlocal 
Agreement between the Towns of Lyman and Dayton for Joint Operation and Management of Fire and 
Emergency Rescue Services. 

First Amendment - adopted on May 8, 2012: 
1) Article III-EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATIONS, last sentence of introductory paragraph -Added

the word “in” to correct an editorial error.
2) Sections 3.1 Full-Time Employment and 3.2 Part-Time Employment - Changed “52 hours per

week” to “40 hours per week“.
3) Section 8.1 Employee/Volunteer Discipline, c.) Suspension - Added new second paragraph to

allow the Fire Chief the authority to immediately suspend an employee/volunteer for reasons
stated in Section 8.1 based on his/her professional judgment.

4) Sections 10.1 Medical Insurance and 10.2 Dental Insurance – Revised these sections to more
clearly state that insurance is available to full time (40 hours per week) year round employees,
does not cover family, spouse or dependents at Town expense, and is deducted pre-tax from
the employee’s payroll.

Second Amendment - adopted on June 5, 2012:  
Section 6.3 Physical Fitness - Amended to bring the Personnel Policy into conformance with the OSHA 29 
CFR 1910.134, Respiratory Protection Standards, as amended by the Maine bureau of Labor Standards for 
Maine Public Sector, and also reduce the annual cost of the physical examinations. 

Third Amendment - adopted on July 1, 2013: 
1) Changed “Joint Fire-Rescue Department” to “Fire Department” throughout document for simplicity.
2) Section 3.4 On-Call Employment – Replaced existing section with a revised section to include, in

addition to firefighting and emergency services, other Fire Department activities such as meetings,
training, details, etc. Also states that the Fire Department personnel policies apply to on call
employees.

3) Section 6.3 Physical Fitness - Deleted the word “annually” in the first sentence to correct an
editorial error.

4) Section 9.1 Holidays – Added a paragraph stating that Fire Station on-duty employees are entitled
to key holiday incentive pay for each hour worked, at an hourly rate determined by the Fire
Commission.

Fourth Amendment - adopted on January 29, 2014: 
Added new Section 10.4 Medical Insurance Alternative. 

Fifth Amendment - adopted on February 22, 2014 to Section 9.2 Vacation: 
1) Allow GMFR employees to have their vacation based on employment anniversary date rather than

fiscal year.
2) States that Fire Commission approves the Fire Chief’s vacation.



32 

Sixth Amendment – adopted July 31, 2015 2018: 
1) Revised Section 6.3 Physical Examinations/Tests to allow employees who work full time for

another Fire Department to submit the medical release from that Department; also allows physical
examinations to be completed by personal physicians based on job descriptions.

2) Added Section 9.2 Paid Time Off and periods of Leave Without Pay, in place of Sections 9.2
Vacation, and 9.3 Sick Leave/Personal Days. Renumbered Section 9.4 Retirement Plan as Section
9.3.

3) Revised Section 9.3 Retirement Plan to increase the Fire Department retirement plan match from
2.5% to 3 % of gross wages; added Sections 10.5, Vision Plan and 10.6, Life Insurance; all to be in
agreement with Town of Lyman Municipal Employees Personnel Policy.

4) Added explanatory material to Section 11.7 Family Medical Leave.
5) Editorial Changes:

a. Revised Section 1.1 Preamble to incorporate Personnel Policy lead-in paragraph.
b. Changed “Boards of Selectmen” to “Municipal Officers”; changed “Town” to “Fire Department”

where appropriate; added and deleted wording for clarity; throughout document.

Seventh Amendment – adopted January 7, 2019: 
1) Revised Section 2.8 Probation Period changing the probation period from six months to 12 months

for all full-time employees newly hired or rehired and 24 months for all part-time, per diem or call
force employees hired or rehired. It also defined rehiring. REPEALED

2) Revised Section 9.3 Retirement Plan. Changing the wording from completing the probationary
period to complete six (6) months of employment.

Eighth Amendment – adopted ?? 

Ninth Amendment – adopted June 17, 2019 
Revised Section 9.3 Retirement Plan 

1) Changed “Fire Department” to Town
2) Match percentage from 3% to 4%, match increasing 1% each year until reaching 6% on 7/1/2021
3) Added reference to 457(b) program

Tenth Amendment – July 23, 2023 
Section 1.1 
      1). Change Lyman to Dayton 
Section 2.11 

1). Change Lyman to Dayton 
Section 5.1 
      1). Removed B. and added call force to biweekly pay 
Section 9.1 
      1). Change Columbus Day to Indigenous Peoples Day 
Added section 9.5  

1) Added Maine State Retirement and removed town match for ICMA
Section 11.1 
      1). Changed Lyman to Dayton 
Section 11.4 



33 

1) Define bereavement hours of pay
Section 9.3 

1) Addition of EPL

Eleventh Amendment 
1. Holidays

a. Addition of Juneteenth
b. Addition of Thanksgiving Friday



ITEM #4: (b.) Cemetery Committee - Adopt a Plot Initiative

LYMAN CEMETERY COMMITTEE 
LOOKING FOR VOLUNTEERS TO 

ADOPT A CEMETERY OR A HEADSTONE 

TO HELP? 

-Are you interested in 
caring for a specific 
Cemetery, or a particular 
stone or 2? 

An honor and a privilege to pay our respects 
to our Veterans 

ALL DONATIONS 
appreciated. For a list or 
view of where cemeteries 
are, see the GPS map, 
and the list of 
Cemeteries. 
We have the flags, and holders for 
any missing Veterans, and if you 
know of a cemetery that's not been 
cared for, please let us know, and if 
you'd like to begin the care. You 
can reach us @ 

lymancemetery2019@gmail.co n1 



From: the2randalls@twc.com
To: Town Manager
Cc: "hollislyman@sacoriver.net"
Subject: RE: Gordon Cemetery Number #48
Date: Saturday, October 5, 2024 1:04:16 PM

Sheila and I will work on some of these details.  

As for a cemetery being in private property, about 95% of them are, however the property
owners must allow us access to the cemetery because they don't technically own the
cemetery.  

Yes, we always as property owners to pass over their land to access the cemetery unless it's
town land.  

Katrina

-----------------------------------------

From: "Town Manager" 
To: "hollislyman@sacoriver.net", "Katrina and Bob Randall"
Cc: 
Sent: Friday October 4 2024 1:13:16PM
Subject: RE: Gordon Cemetery Number #48

Hi Katrina,

If this cemetery is on Private Property, these folks would need to get permission from the
property owners before proceeding. As long as they have the property owner's permission and
they are just focusing on this specific cemetery, they don't need to be sworn in on the
committee.

The committee should review and amend the adopt a plot project and outline some specifics to
avoid any confusion.

Such as,
Private property, getting permission from land owners

If the cemetery is on Town Owned Property, then they probably should be appointed as a
committee member so they can be covered under our volunteer insurance policy.

Defining the role of adopting a plot and/or stone. What does that entail specifically? Mowing,
laying flags, cutting trees, repairs, etc.

It's not clear if you're collecting money donations in general or for specific plots/stones. If
someone wants to donate money for specific plots/stones (Other than the Burbank fundraiser
we have) we won't be able to keep track of those funds ensuring it gets used only for that
specific plot/stone. Money donations will have to go into the general fundraising expense
account.

mailto:the2randalls@twc.com
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:hollislyman@sacoriver.net


Once you guys summarize the details, the Select Board can review it.

Lindsay Gagne
Town Manager
FOAA officer

11 So. Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002

207-247-0642
207-499-7562
townmanager@lyman-me.gov
lyman-me.gov

Under Maine’s Freedom of Access (“Right to Know”) law, all e-mail and e-mail attachments
received or prepared for use in matters concerning Town business or containing information
relating to Town business are likely to be regarded as public records which may be inspected
by any person upon request, unless otherwise made confidential by law. If you have received
this message in error, please notify us immediately by return e-mail. Thank you for your
cooperation.

-----Original Message-----
From: hollislyman@sacoriver.net <hollislyman@sacoriver.net>
Sent: Friday, October 4, 2024 11:41 AM
To: Katrina and Bob Randall <the2randalls@twc.com>; Town Manager
<townmanager@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: Fwd: Gordon Cemetery Number #48

I'm just following up on this. It would make sense to me that this family would become sworn
members and then they can care take this plot.
Let me know if that works.

Thanks,

Sheila

-------- Original Message --------
Subject: Fwd: Gordon Cemetery Number #48
Date: 2024-09-18 1:44 pm
From: hollislyman@sacoriver.net
To: Katrina and Bob Randall <the2randalls@twc.com>, Town Manager
<townmanager@lyman-me.gov>

Hello ladies,



Please see the attached email regarding adopting one of our cemeteries.
I imagine that they would need to be sworn in in order to work in the cemetery? We should 
put together a policy for future and also, to let them know how to go about this.

Thanks,
Sheila

-------- Original Message --------
Subject: Fwd: Gordon Cemetery Number #48
Date: 2024-09-18 9:35 am
From: Lyman Cemetery <lymancemetery2019@gmail.com>
To: Sheila McNeil <hollislyman@sacoriver.net>

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Lyman Cemetery <lymancemetery2019@gmail.com>
Date: Wed, Sep 18, 2024, 9:35 AM
Subject: Re: Gordon Cemetery Number #48
To: Calhan Clark <calhan.clark@gmail.com>

Hello Callhan,

Thank you so much for reaching out. I will find out what is necessary
for you to adopt this cemetery and get back to you!

On Sat, Sep 7, 2024, 6:55 PM Calhan Clark 
wrote:

> Dear Lyman Cemetery Committee,
> My name is Calhan Clark. I am 12 and live in Lyman very close to Peach
> Orchard Road, where Gordon Cemetery #48 is. I was wondering if my
> parents and I could adopt this cemetery. We could visit it monthly,
> seasonally, or every major holiday. I have gone into this cemetery
> many times after school and learned the story of Henry Gordon and his
> family's horrific death. If I adopted the cemetery I would weed whack
> around the stones, put up flags for Henry on veteran holidays, and I
> would clear brush after storms. I believe that if I adopted this
> cemetery it would be in much better shape. Can you let me know what I
> need to do/what the process is to adopt Gordon Cemetery #48.
>
> Best regards, Calhan Clark.
>
>
>



From: katrina randall
To: Town Manager; Sheila McNeil
Subject: Adopt a cemetery
Date: Monday, October 7, 2024 3:34:02 PM
Attachments: If this cemetery is on Private Property from linsay 10 4 2024.docx

ownership of cemeteries and maintenance.docx
LYMAN CEMETERY COMMITTEE.docx

Hi Linsay, 

Attached are 3 documents.   One is the email you sent to me.I've put it into word, and replied in red.  Another is a
highlighted portion of a state law about who and how cemeteries are maintained.  Last is an application idea for
those who
would like to adopt a gravestone, or a cemetery.  

Maybe at the selectman meeting tonight ( I think there's one tonight) it could be presented to them also. 

Let me know your thoughts. 

Thanks !

Katrina

Katrina Randall, RN 
PH: 207-651-2174
Geriatric Care Manager

email: akatrinacare@gmail.com

mailto:akatrinacare@gmail.com
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:HollisLyman@sacoriver.net
mailto:akatrinacare@gmail.com

From Lindsay



If this (peach orchard for instance) cemetery is on Private Property, these folks would need to get permission from the property owners before proceeding. As long as they have the property owner's permission and they are just focusing on this specific cemetery, they don't need to be sworn in on the committee.

The committee should review and amend the adopt a plot project and outline some specifics to avoid any confusion.

Such as,
Private property, getting permission from land owners

If the cemetery is on Town Owned Property, then they probably should be appointed as a committee member so they can be covered under our volunteer insurance policy.

Defining the role of adopting a plot and/or stone. What does that entail specifically? Mowing, laying flags, cutting trees, repairs, etc.

It's not clear if you're collecting money donations in general or for specific plots/stones. (We are trying to follow the suggestion of Amber at the Selectboard meeting).  If someone wants to donate money for specific plots/stones (Other than the Burbank fundraiser we have) we won't be able to keep track of those funds ensuring it gets used only for that specific plot/stone. Money donations will have to go into the general fundraising expense account. (Of course, it will go to the general fund-raising account.  If a person/family want to have their donation go to a specific cemetery, it seems best we ask them to manage the cemetery themselves or use their donation funds to have someone mow, trim, clean up). 

Once you guys summarize the details, the Select Board can review it.


13 § 1303. Ownership and operation

Every cemetery, except Veterans' Memorial Cemetery established under Title 37-A, chapter 2, hereafter established shall

be owned, maintained or operated by a municipality or other political subdivision of the State, a church, a religious or

charitable society, or by a cemetery association incorporated as provided in section 1071 or 1301.

Page 6 of 10

Every such cemetery shall be located in accordance with statutes already in force and effect, and only after consent for

such location has been obtained from the municipality or other political subdivision where the same is proposed to be

located, as well as from the Bureau of Health. No cemetery, community mausoleum, crematory or columbarium hereafter

established shall be maintained or operated for the purpose of private profit or gain, either directly or indirectly, to any

director, officer or member of the cemetery association or other agency owning, maintaining or operating the same, or of

any holding company or development company employed to develop, build and dispose of the same. A cemetery lawfully

established prior to July 24, 1937 may continue to be owned, maintained and operated under the form of organization

adopted therefor. Any corporation organized prior to July 24, 1937 which is authorized or empowered to own, construct,

maintain or operate cemeteries or burial grounds may lawfully own, construct, maintain or operate mausoleums,

crematories or columbaria in connection therewith, in accordance with the laws existing and effective up to the time of July

24, 1937.


LYMAN CEMETERY COMMITTEE

Adopt a Grave Application

Must be completed for each grave, or cemetery



Name of volunteer(s) …………………………………………………………………………………………

Address:………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

Contact number: …………………………………………………………………………………………………..



Name on gravestone (or cemetery) ………………………………………………………………………

Gravestone (or cemetery) location………………………………………………………………………..



Proposed work……………………………………………………………………………………………………..

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

The volunteer(s) understand and agrees that the Cemetery shall not be liable for injury to the volunteer. 

Signature(s) of volunteer………………………………………………………………………………………..

				……………………………………………………………………………………….

Date:……………………………………………………….

Lyman Cemetery Official Approval ……………………………………………………………………….

Town Manager and/or Selectman approval ………………………………………………………….

DATE OF TOWN OFFICIALS: ………………………………………………………………………………….



NOTE: Approval to proceed will be granted by a Cemetery member upon completion by review of the work performed.  Cleaning of stones, or reconstruction of headstones require training from one of the Lyman Cemetery Committee members trained in this work.  



From Lindsay 

If this (peach orchard for instance) cemetery is on Private Property, these folks would need to get 

permission from the property owners before proceeding. As long as they have the property owner's 

permission and they are just focusing on this specific cemetery, they don't need to be sworn in on the 

committee. 

The committee should review and amend the adopt a plot project and outline some specifics to avoid 

any confusion. 

Such as, 

Private property, getting permission from land owners 

If the cemetery is on Town Owned Property, then they probably should be appointed as a committee 

member so they can be covered under our volunteer insurance policy. 

Defining the role of adopting a plot and/or stone. What does that entail specifically? Mowing, laying 

flags, cutting trees, repairs, etc. 

It's not clear if you're collecting money donations in general or for specific plots/stones. (We are trying to 

follow the suggestion of Amber at the Selectboard meeting).  If someone wants to donate money for 

specific plots/stones (Other than the Burbank fundraiser we have) we won't be able to keep track of 

those funds ensuring it gets used only for that specific plot/stone. Money donations will have to go into 

the general fundraising expense account. (Of course, it will go to the general fund-raising account.  If a 

person/family want to have their donation go to a specific cemetery, it seems best we ask them to 

manage the cemetery themselves or use their donation funds to have someone mow, trim, clean up).  

Once you guys summarize the details, the Select Board can review it. 



LYMAN CEMETERY COMMITTEE 

Adopt a Grave Application 

Must be completed for each grave, or cemetery 

Name of volunteer(s) ………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Address:……………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Contact number: ………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Name on gravestone (or cemetery) ……………………………………………………………………… 

Gravestone (or cemetery) location……………………………………………………………………….. 

Proposed work…………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

The volunteer(s) understand and agrees that the Cemetery shall not be liable for 

injury to the volunteer.  

Signature(s) of volunteer……………………………………………………………………………………….. 

………………………………………………………………………………………. 

Date:………………………………………………………. 

Lyman Cemetery Official Approval ………………………………………………………………………. 

Town Manager and/or Selectman approval …………………………………………………………. 

DATE OF TOWN OFFICIALS: …………………………………………………………………………………. 

NOTE: Approval to proceed will be granted by a Cemetery member upon 

completion by review of the work performed.  Cleaning of stones, or 

reconstruction of headstones require training from one of the Lyman Cemetery 

Committee members trained in this work.   



13 § 1303. Ownership and operation 
Every cemetery, except Veterans' Memorial Cemetery established under Title 37-
A, chapter 2, hereafter established shall 
be owned, maintained or operated by a municipality or other political subdivision 
of the State, a church, a religious or 
charitable society, or by a cemetery association incorporated as provided in 
section 1071 or 1301. 
Page 6 of 10 
Every such cemetery shall be located in accordance with statutes already in force 
and effect, and only after consent for 
such location has been obtained from the municipality or other political 
subdivision where the same is proposed to be 
located, as well as from the Bureau of Health. No cemetery, community 
mausoleum, crematory or columbarium hereafter 
established shall be maintained or operated for the purpose of private profit or 
gain, either directly or indirectly, to any 
director, officer or member of the cemetery association or other agency owning, 
maintaining or operating the same, or of 
any holding company or development company employed to develop, build and 
dispose of the same. A cemetery lawfully 
established prior to July 24, 1937 may continue to be owned, maintained and 
operated under the form of organization 
adopted therefor. Any corporation organized prior to July 24, 1937 which is 
authorized or empowered to own, construct, 
maintain or operate cemeteries or burial grounds may lawfully own, construct, 
maintain or operate mausoleums, 
crematories or columbaria in connection therewith, in accordance with the laws 
existing and effective up to the time of July 
24, 1937. 



10/17/24, 1:38 PM Title 13, §1101: Maintenance and repairs; municipality 

Title 13: CORPORATIONS 
Part 2: CORPORATIONS WITHOUT CAPITAL 

Chapter 83: CEMETERY CORPORATIONS 
Subchapter 2: BURYING GROUNDS 

Article 2: DUTIES OF TOWN OR COUNTY 

§1101. Maintenance and repairs; municipality 
1. Grave sites of veterans in ancient burying grounds. In any ancient burying ground, as referenced in Title 

30-A section 5723 (../30-A/title30-Asec5723.html), the municipality in which that burying ground is located, in 
collaboration with veterans' organizations, cemetery associations, civic and fraternal organizations, descendants of 
veterans buried in the ancient burying ground and other interested persons, shall keep in good condition all graves, 
headstones, monuments and markers designating the burial place of Revolutionary soldiers and sailors and veterans 
of the Armed Forces of the United States. To the best of its ability given the location and accessibility of the ancient 
burying ground, the municipality, in collaboration with veterans' organizations, cemetery associations, civic and 
fraternal organizations, descendants of veterans buried in the ancient burying ground and other interested persons, 
shall keep the grass, weeds and brush suitably cut and trimmed on those graves from May 1st to September 30th of 
each year. A municipality may designate a caretaker to whom it delegates for a specified period of time the 
municipality's responsibilities regarding an ancient burying ground A caretaker for a municipality may be 
designated only by a writing signed by the municipal officers as defined in Title 30-A section 2001, subsection 10 
.(../30-A/title30-Asec2001html) .. 

[PL 2019, c. 561, §1 (AMD).] 

1-A Grave sites of persons who are not designated as veterans in ancient burying grounds. To the best of 
its ability given the location and accessibility of the ancient burying ground, the municipality in which an ancient 
burying ground is located may keep the grass, weeds and brush suitably cut and trimmed from May 1st to 
September 30th of each year on all graves, headstones, monuments and markers in the ancient burying ground not 
designating the burial place of Revolutionary soldiers and sailors and veterans of the Armed Forces of the United 
States. A municipality may designate a caretaker to whom it delegates for a specified period of time the 
municipality's functions regarding an ancient burying ground 

[PL 2013, c. 524, §1 (NEW).] 

2. Grave sites of veterans in public burying grounds. A municipality, cemetery corporation or cemetery 
association owning and operating a public burying ground shall, in collaboration with veterans' organizations, 
cemetery associations, civic and fraternal organizations and other interested persons, keep the grave, headstone, 
monument or marker designating the burial place of any veteran of the Armed Forces of the United States in that 
public burying ground in good condition and repair from May 1st to September 30th of each year. 

A municipality in which a public burying ground is located may, in collaboration with veterans' organizations, 
cemetery associations, civic and fraternal organizations and other interested persons, adopt standards of good 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/13/title13sec1101. html 1/2 

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight



10/17/24, 1:38 PM Title 13, §1101: Maintenance and repairs; municipality 

condition and repair to which grave sites of veterans of the Armed Forces of the United States must be kept. The 
standards at a minimum must detail how to maintain the grave, grass and headstones. 

If a municipality does not adopt standards, the municipality, cemetery corporation or cemetery association shall 
apply the following standards of good condition and repair: 

A [PL 2013, c. 524, §1 (RP).] 

B. [PL 2013, c. 524, §1 (RP).] 

C. [PL 2013, c. 524, §1 (RP).] 

D.Ensurethatgrassissuitablycutandtrimmed; [PL 2013, c. 524, §1 (AMO) .J 

E.Keepaflatgravemarkerfreeofgrassanddebris;and [PL 2013, c. 524, §1 (AMO) .J 

F.Keeptheburialplacefreeoffallentrees,branches,vinesandweeds. [PL 2013, c. 524, §1 (AMO) .J 

[PL 2013, c. 524, §1 (AMO).] 

SECTION HISTORY 

PL 1977, c. 255, §1 (AMO). PL 1999, c. 700, §1 (AMO). PL 2013, c. 421, §1 (RPR). PL 2013, c. 

524, §1 (AMO). PL 2019, c. 561, §1 (AMO). 

The Reviser's Office cannot provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the public. 

If you need legal advice, please consult a qualified attorney. 

Office of the Revisor of Statutes (mailto:webmasteuos@legislature.maine.gQY) • 7 State House Station • State House Room 108 • Augusta, Maine 04333-0007 

Data for this pageextrac!Ed on 10/01/202416:24:11. 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/13/title13sec1101. html 2/2 



10/17/24, 2:50 PM Title 30-A, §2901 : Decoration of veterans' graves on Memorial Day 

Title 30-A: MUNICIPALITIES AND COUNTIES 
Part 2: MUNICIPALITIES 

Subpart 3: MUNICIPAL AFFAIRS 

Chapter 131: HISTORY AND OBSERVANCES 

§2901. Decoration of veterans' graves on Memorial Day 
1. Decoration of veterans' graves. Each municipality, as directed by its municipal officers, annually shall 

decorate on the day Memorial Day is observed the graves of veterans of the Armed Forces of the United States of 
America with an American flag and appropriate flag holders. 

[PL 1999, c. 700, §3 (AMD).] 

2. Erection of flagpole as alternative. 

[PL 1999, c. 700, §3 (RP).] 

3. No effect on individuals' right to decorate. This section does not in any way affect the right of any friend 
or relative of a deceased veteran to decorate the grave. 

[PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD); 

PL 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .] 

4. Bell ringing on Veterans Day. Each municipality shall, unless it will cause the municipality to incur an 
additional expense, cause any public bell or clarion within its possession or control to be rung at 11:00 am on 
Veterans Day, and the municipal officers of each municipality shall request that any other bell or clarion within the 
municipality be rung voluntarily at 11:00 a.m. on Veterans Day, and shall take such steps as are necessary to properly 
coordinate public and volunteer events. 

[PL 1999, c. 700, §3 (AMD).] 

5. Unorganized townships. If veterans' graves as described in this section are located in an unorganized 
township, the county in which that unorganized township is located is subject to the provisions in this section. 

[PL 1999, c. 700, §3 (NEW).] 

6. Graves on land owned by Federal Government Veterans' graves located on a site that was owned by the 
Federal Government as of January 1, 2000 are not subject to the requirements of this section 

[PL 1999, c. 700, §3 (NEW).] 

SECTION HISTORY 

PL 1987, c. 737, §§A2,C106 (NEW). PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 

104, §§C8,10 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 211 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 700, §3 (AMD). 

The Reviser's Office cannot provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the public. 

If you need legal advice, please consult a qualified attorney. 

Office of the Reviser of Statutes (mailto:webmaster,,ros@legislature.maine.ggy) • 7 State House Station • State House Room 108 • Augusta, Maine 04333-0007 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/30-A/title30-Asec2901.html 1/2 

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight



10/17/24, 2:50 PM Title 30-A, §2901 : Decoration of veterans' graves on Memorial Day 

Data for this page extracted on 10/01/202416:24:11. 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/30-A/title30-Asec2901.html 2/2 



10/17/24, 1:38 PM Title 13, §1101-A: Definition 

Title 13: CORPORATIONS 
Part 2: CORPORATIONS WITHOUT CAPITAL 

Chapter 83: CEMETERY CORPORATIONS 
Subchapter 2: BURYING GROUNDS 

Article 2: DUTIES OF TOWN OR COUNTY 

§1101-A. Definition 
As used in this article, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms have the following meanings. 

[PL 2003, c. 421, §1 (AMD) .] 

1. Ancient burying ground. "Ancient burying ground" means a cemetery established before 1880 in which 
burial is restricted to: 

A Members of the family or families that established the cemetery, their descendants or others as chosen by 
the members of the family or families that established the cemetery; or [ PL 2 o 19, c . 5 61, §2 (NEW) . J 

B. Persons or a group of persons as specified by the persons or group of persons that established the cemetery. 
[PL 2019, c. 561, §2 (NEW).] 

The existence of an ancient burying ground may be established in accordance with section 1101-B, subsection 3 
.( .. /13/title13secll01-B.html). 

[PL 2019, c. 561, §2 (RPR) .] 

2. Columbarium. "Columbarium" means a structure or room or space in a mausoleum or other building 
containing niches or recesses for disposition of cremated human remains or human remains that have been 
subjected to natural organic reduction. 

[PL 2023, c. 676, §4 (AMD) .] 

3. Community mausoleum. "Community mausoleum" means an aboveground structure designed for 
entombment of human remains of the general public, as opposed to the entombment of the remains of family 
members in a privately owned, family mausoleum of no more than 6 crypts. 

[PL 2003, c. 421, §1 (NEW).] 

4. Public burying ground. 0 Public burying ground" means a burying ground or cemetery in which any person 
may be buried without regard to religious or other affiliation and includes a cemetery owned and operated by a 
municipality, a cemetery corporation or a cemetery association. 

[PL 2013, c. 524, §2 (NEW).] 

SECTION HISTORY 

PL 1999, c. 700, §2 (NEW). PL 2003, c. 421, §1 (AMD). PL 2013, c. 524, §2 (AMD). PL 2019, c. 
561, §2 (AMD). PL 2023, c. 676, §4 (AMD). 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/13/title13sec1101-A. html 1/2 

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight



10/17/24, 1:38 PM Title 13, §1101-A: Definition 

The Reviser's Office cannot provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the public. 
If you need legal advice, please consult a qualified attorney. 

Office of the Revisor of Statutes (mailto:webmaster,,ros@J!lgislature.maine.gQY) • 7 State House Station • State House Room 108 • Augusta, Maine 04333-0007 

Data for this page extracted on 1 0/01 /2024 16:24:11. 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/13/title13sec1101-A. html 2/2 



10/17/24, 1:39 PM Title 13, §1101-B: Ancient burying grounds 

Title 13: CORPORATIONS 
Part 2: CORPORATIONS WITHOUT CAPITAL 

Chapter 83: CEMETERY CORPORATIONS 
Subchapter 2: BURYING GROUNDS 

Article 2: DUTIES OF TOWN OR COUNTY 

§1101-B. Ancient burying grounds 
1. Access to ancient burying grounds on privately owned land. The owner of an ancient burying ground shall 

provide a municipality or its caretaker designated pursuant to .( .. /13/titlel3sec1101.html) 
.(../13/titlel3sec110lhtml)section 1101 (../13/titlel3sec1101.html) access necessary to perform the duties pursuant to 
.(../13/titlel3sec110lhtml)_( .. /13/titlel3sec1101.html)section 1101 ( .. /13/titlel3sec110lhtml) and Title 30-A, section 
2901 (../30-A/title30-Asec2901.html). Any unreasonable denial to provide access may result in the owner being held 
responsible for any fines, court costs and attorney's fees incurred by municipalities in legally obtaining access or for 
failing to meet the requirements of .( . ./13/titlel3sec1101.html)_( .. /13/titlel3sec110lhtml)section 1101 
.(../13/titlel3sec110lhtml). 

[PL 2013, c. 421, §2 (AMD) .] 

2. Maintenance by landowner. A person who owns a parcel of land that contains an ancient burying ground 
and chooses to deny access to the municipality or its caretaker designated pursuant to .( .. /13/titlel3sec1101.html) 
.(../13/titlel3sec110lhtml)section 1101 ( .. /13/titlel3sec1101.html) shall assume the duties as described in 
(../13/titlel3sec110lhtml) ( .. /13/titlel3sec1101.html)section 1101 (../13/titlel3sec110lhtml) and Title 30-A, section 
290]., subsection 1 (../30-A/title30-Asec290lhtml). Maintenance of an ancient burying ground by the owner 
exempts the municipality from performing the duties as described in .( .. /13/titlel3sec1101.html) 
.(../13/titlel3secl10lhtml)section 1101 ( . ./13/titlel3sec110lhtml). 

A municipality or its caretaker designated pursuant to section 1101 ( .. /13/titlel3sec1101.html) to carry out the 
municipality's functions regarding an ancient burying ground must have access to any ancient burying ground 
within the municipality in order to determine if the ancient burying ground is being maintained in good condition 
and repair. If an ancient burying ground or a veteran's grave within an ancient burying ground is not maintained in 
good condition and repair, the municipality may take over the care or appoint a caretaker to whom it delegates the 
municipality's functions regarding an ancient burying ground 

[PL 2013, c. 524, §3 (AMD) .] 

3. Documentation; lack of documentation or apparent marked boundaries. The existence of an ancient 
burying ground may be documented in papers, including: 

A Records of the register of deeds; [PL 2019, c. 561, §3 (NEW). J 

B. Property deeds; [PL 2019, c. 561, §3 (NEW). J 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/13/title13sec1101-B. html 1/2 

(See 1101 above)

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight



10/17/24, 1:39 PM Title 13, §1101-B: Ancient burying grounds 

C. Manuscripts or published records of the history of a county or municipality; [PL 2019, c. 561, §3 

(NEW).] 

D. Records of a municipality; or [ PL 2 o 19, c . 5 61, §3 (NEW) . J 

E. Historical or current maps. [PL 2019, c. 561, §3 (NEW) . J 

A lack of documentation of an ancient burying ground as described in this subsection may not disprove the existence 
of an ancient burying ground if there is physical evidence of its existence. 

A lack of apparent marked boundaries of an ancient burying ground may not disprove the existence of an ancient 
burying ground. 

[PL 2019, c. 561, §3 (NEW).] 

SECTION HISTORY 

PL 1999, c. 700, §2 (NEW). PL 2013, c. 421, §2 (AMO). PL 2013, c. 524, §3 (AMO). PL 2019, c. 

561, §3 (AMO) . 

The Reviser's Office cannot provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the public. 

If you need legal advice, please consult a qualified attorney. 

Office of the Reviser of Statutes (mailto:webmaster,,ros@legislature.maine.gov) • 7 State House Station • State House Room 108 • Augusta, Maine 04333-0007 

Data for this page extracted on 1 0/01 /2024 16:24:11. 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/13/title13sec1101-B. html 2/2 



10/17/24, 1:48 PM Title 13, §1303: Ownership and operation 

Title 13: CORPORATIONS 
Part 2: CORPORATIONS WITHOUT CAPITAL 

Chapter 83: CEMETERY CORPORATIONS 
Subchapter 3: PUBLIC CEMETERIES 

§1303. Ownership and operation 
Every cemetery, except Veterans' Memorial Cemetery established under Title 37-A, chagter 2 (../37-A/title37-

Ach2sec0.html), hereafter established shall be owned, maintained or operated by a municipality or other political 
subdivision of the State, a church, a religious or charitable society, or by a cemetery association incorporated as 
provided in section 1071 ( . ./13/title13sec1071.html) or 1301 ( .. /13/title13sec1301.html). [ PL 197 3, c. 5 3 7, §19 

(AMO).] 

Every such cemetery must be located in accordance with statutes already in force and effect, and only after 
consent for such location has been obtained from the municipality or other political subdivision where the same is 
proposed to be located, as well as from the Department of Health and Human Services. A cemetery, community 
mausoleum, crematory, natural organic reduction facility or columbarium hereafter established may not be 
maintained or operated for the purpose of private profit or gain, either directly or indirectly, to any director, officer 
or member of the cemetery association or other agency owning, maintaining or operating the same, or of any 
holding company or development company employed to develop, build and dispose of the same. A cemetery lawfully 
established prior to July 24, 1937 may continue to be owned, maintained and operated under the form of 
organization adopted therefor. Any corporation organized prior to July 24, 1937 that is authorized or empowered to 
own, construct, maintain or operate cemeteries or burial grounds may lawfully own, construct, maintain or operate 
mausoleums, crematories or columbaria in connection therewith, in accordance with the laws existing and effective 
uptothetimeofJuly24,1937. [PL 2023, c. 676, §7 (AMO) .J 

SECTION HISTORY 

PL 1967, c. 502, §2 (AMO). PL 1973, c. 537, §19 (AMO). PL 2023, c. 676, §7 (AMO). 

The Reviser's Office cannot provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the public. 
If you need legal advice, please consult a qualified attorney. 

Office of the Reviser of Statutes (mailto:webmasteuos@legislature.maine.gov) • 7 State House Station • State House Room 108 • Augusta, Maine 04333-0007 

Data for this page extracted on 10/01/202416."24:11. 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/13/title13sec1303.html 1/1 

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight



10/17/24, 1:41 PM Title 13, §1371: Approval for repair, maintenance and removal 

Title 13: CORPORATIONS 
Part 2: CORPORATIONS WITHOUT CAPITAL 

Chapter 83: CEMETERY CORPORATIONS 
Subchapter 5: PROTECTION AND PRESERVATION 

§1371. Approval for repair, maintenance and removal 
1. Prior authorization or approval for repair, maintenance or removal Any person may repair, maintain or 

remove, subject to the restrictions of subsection 2 ( .. /13/title13sec1371.html) or 3_( .. /13/title13sec1371.html), any 
tomb, monument, gravestone, marker or other structure placed or designed as a memorial to the dead, or any 
portion or fragment of any such memorial, or any fence, railing, curb or other enclosure for the burial of the dead, 
after obtaining written approval of the owner or operator of the cemetery or burial ground, if an owner or operator 
exists, and one of the following, in the following order of priority. 

A The person must first seek the authorization of the owner of the burial lot or a lineal descendant of the 
deceased buried there, if the owner or a lineal descendant is reasonable to locate and notify. [ PL 2 o 15, c. 

294, §1 (AMO) . ] 

A-1 If an owner or lineal descendant listed in paragrBph A ( .. /13/title13sec1371.html) cannot reasonably be 
located and notified, the person shall seek the authorization of a next of kin, if reasonable to locate and notify, 
of the deceased buried there. [PL 2015, c. 294, §1 (NEW). J 

B. If none of the persons listed in paragrBph A ( . ./13/title13sec1371.html) or A-1 ( .. /13/title13sec1371.html) can 
reasonably be located and notified, the person shall obtain the written approval of the municipality or, in the 
case of unorganized territory, the county in which the cemetery or burial ground is located. [ PL 2 o 15, c. 

294, §1 (AMO) . ] 

[PL 2015, c. 294, §1 (AMO).] 

2. Conditions on removal for repair, restoration or preservation. Removal of a tomb, monument, 
gravestone, marker or other structure placed or designed as a memorial to the dead, or a portion or fragment of a 
memorial, is permitted only for the purpose of preservation. A tomb, monument, gravestone, marker or other 
structure placed or designed as a memorial to the dead, or a portion or fragment of a memorial, may not be 
removed from the confines of the cemetery or burial ground, except that a person who has obtained authorization 
or approval described in subsection 1 ( . ./13/title13sec1371.html) may remove all or a portion of a memorial for a 
period of no longer than 6 months for the purpose of repair, restoration or preservation, but only when repair, 
restoration or preservation can not reasonably be accomplished on the site of the cemetery or burial ground. Prior 
to removal of the memorial, a notice must be submitted to the municipality, or to the county in the case of 
unorganized territory, stating the location of the burial ground, the identification of the memorial, the authority 
requesting the removal, the site to which the memorial will be temporarily removed, the proposed date of removal 
and the proposed date of replacement in the burial ground. 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/13/title13sec1371.html 1/2 

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight

Lindsay Gagne
Highlight



10/17/24, 1:41 PM Title 13, §1371: Approval for repair, maintenance and removal 

[PL 2015, c. 294, §1 (AMD) .] 

3. Permanent removal of memorial If a tomb, monument, gravestone, marker or other structure placed or 
designed as a memorial to the dead is in such poor condition that it cannot be preserved in its original location, that 
memorial may be removed by a person who has obtained authorization or approval described in subsection 1 
.(../13/title13sec1371.html) to another location accessible to the public. Prior to removal of the memorial, a notice 
must be submitted to the municipality, or to the county in the case of a memorial in unorganized territory, stating 
the location and identification of the memorial, the authority requesting the removal and the site to which the 
memorial will be moved and providing documentation of the reason the memorial cannot be preserved in its 
original location. 

When possible, a replacement or replica of the removed memorial must be placed in the original location along with 
information as to the location of the original memorial. If such placement is not possible, a sign must be placed 
recording the new location of the memorial. 

[PL 2015, c. 294, §1 (NEW).] 

All costs associated with actions taken pursuant to this section must be paid by the person or entity that 
requests the repair, maintenance or removal of a tomb, monument, gravestone, marker or other structure placed or 
designed as a memorial to the dead, or any portion or fragment of any such memorial, or any fence, railing, curb or 
otherenclosureintheburiallotorcemetery. [PL 2015, c. 294, §1 (NEW) .J 

The owner, operator or caretaker of a burial lot or a cemetery association that authorizes removal of a 
memorial pursuant to this section is not responsible or liable for the location or care of the memorial. [ PL 2 o 15, 

c. 294, §1 (NEW).] 

SECTION HISTORY 

PL 1987, c. 326, §1 (NEW). PL 1997, c. 193, §1 (AMD). PL 2015, c. 294, §1 (AMD). 

The Reviser's Office cannot provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the public. 
If you need legal advice, please consult a qualified attorney. 

Office of the Reviser of Statutes (mailto:webmaster,,ros@~gislature.maine.gQY) • 7 State House Station • State House Room 108 • Augusta, Maine 04333-0007 

Data for this page extracted on 1 0/01 /2024 16:24:11. 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/13/title13sec1371.html 2/2 



10/17/24, 1:42 PM Title 13, §1373:Authorityto maintain 

Title 13: CORPORATIONS 
Part 2: CORPORATIONS WITHOUT CAPITAL 

Chapter 83: CEMETERY CORPORATIONS 
Subchapter 5: PROTECTION AND PRESERVATION 

§1373. Authority to maintain 
A municipality may authorize any cemetery association or historical society to maintain any cemetery or burial 

ground owned, maintained or operated by the municipality. [PL 1987, c. 326, §1 (NEW) . J 

SECTION HISTORY 

PL 1987, c. 326, §1 (NEW). 

The Reviser's Office cannot provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the public. 
If you need legal advice, please consult a qualified attorney. 

Office of the Revisor of Statutes {mailto:webmaster,,ros@~gislature.maine.gQY) • 7 State House Station • State House Room 108 • Augusta, Maine 04333-0007 

Data for this page extracted on 1 0/01 /2024 16:24:11. 

https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/statutes/13/title13sec1373.html 1/1 







ITEM #4: (c.) ECO ME Rep Survey Results

TownManager
Pencil

TownManager
Pencil

TownManager
Pencil



TownManager
Pencil







E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 1

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
0
1
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
7
3
2
,1

1
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
3
2
,1

1
9
.0

0
2
0
3
,5

3
9
.7

0
0
.0

0
5
2
8
,5

7
9
.3

0

  
  

1
1

 -
 T

O
W

N
 H

A
L
L

3
9

9
,5

1
9

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

9
9

,5
1

9
.0

0
1

1
7

,9
7

8
.3

0
0

.0
0

2
8

1
,5

4
0

.7
0

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
3
9
9
,5

1
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
9
9
,5

1
9
.0

0
1
1
7
,9

7
8
.3

0
0
.0

0
2
8
1
,5

4
0
.7

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
0
1
 -

 T
O

W
N

 M
G

R
9
8
,7

5
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
8
,7

5
7
.0

0
3
0
,3

8
6
.8

0
0
.0

0
6
8
,3

7
0
.2

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
0
3
 -

 H
R
 &

 F
IN

A
N

C
E

7
6
,7

7
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
6
,7

7
2
.0

0
2
3
,6

2
2
.1

6
0
.0

0
5
3
,1

4
9
.8

4

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
0
5
 -

 T
O

W
N

 C
LE

R
K
/T

6
4
,1

6
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
4
,1

6
5
.0

0
1
9
,7

4
3
.0

4
0
.0

0
4
4
,4

2
1
.9

6

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
0
6
 -

 A
D

M
IN

 C
LE

R
K

8
1
,2

0
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
8
1
,2

0
2
.0

0
1
5
,3

2
6
.7

4
0
.0

0
6
5
,8

7
5
.2

6

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
1
5
 -

 A
S
S
E
S
S
O

R
7
8
,6

2
3
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
8
,6

2
3
.0

0
2
4
,1

9
1
.6

8
0
.0

0
5
4
,4

3
1
.3

2

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
4
3
 -

 E
LE

C
T
R
IC

IA
N

0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,7

0
7
.8

8
0
.0

0
-4

,7
0
7
.8

8

  
  

1
3

 -
 E

L
E

C
T

IO
N

S
9

,7
7

9
.0

0
0

.0
0

9
,7

7
9

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

9
,7

7
9

.0
0

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
9
,7

7
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,7

7
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,7

7
9
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
8
2
 -

 B
A
LL

O
T
 C

LE
R
K

9
,4

2
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,4

2
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,4

2
9
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
8
3
 -

 T
M

 M
O

D
E
R
A
T
O

R
3
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
5
0
.0

0

  
  

1
7

 -
 P

L
A

N
N

IN
G

1
0

5
,5

4
1

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

0
5

,5
4

1
.0

0
3

0
,6

7
9

.7
7

0
.0

0
7

4
,8

6
1

.2
3

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
1
0
5
,5

4
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
5
,5

4
1
.0

0
3
0
,6

7
9
.7

7
0
.0

0
7
4
,8

6
1
.2

3

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
4
1
 -

 C
E
O

6
9
,5

7
6
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
9
,5

7
6
.0

0
2
1
,7

4
2
.3

7
0
.0

0
4
7
,8

3
3
.6

3

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
4
2
 -

 C
E
O

 C
LE

R
K

3
0
,8

6
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
0
,8

6
5
.0

0
8
,1

9
0
.3

2
0
.0

0
2
2
,6

7
4
.6

8

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
4
7
 -

 P
B

5
,1

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
,1

0
0
.0

0
7
4
7
.0

8
0
.0

0
4
,3

5
2
.9

2

  
  

1
8

 -
 A

P
P

E
A

L
S

 B
D

3
9

2
.0

0
0

.0
0

3
9

2
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

9
2

.0
0

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
3
9
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
9
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
9
2
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
4
8
 -

 A
P
P
E
A
LS

 B
O

A
R

3
9
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
9
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
9
2
.0

0

  
  

2
1

 -
 R

E
C

R
E

A
T

IO
N

4
,0

8
7

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,0
8

7
.0

0
1

,0
2

1
.7

5
0

.0
0

3
,0

6
5

.2
5

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
4
,0

8
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,0

8
7
.0

0
1
,0

2
1
.7

5
0
.0

0
3
,0

6
5
.2

5

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
2
7
 -

 R
E
C
 D

IR
E
C
T

4
,0

8
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,0

8
7
.0

0
1
,0

2
1
.7

5
0
.0

0
3
,0

6
5
.2

5

  
  

3
1

 -
 T

R
A

N
S

F
E

R
 S

T
A

1
3

1
,4

1
9

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

3
1

,4
1

9
.0

0
3

5
,8

7
5

.3
6

0
.0

0
9

5
,5

4
3

.6
4

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
1
3
1
,4

1
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
3
1
,4

1
9
.0

0
3
5
,8

7
5
.3

6
0
.0

0
9
5
,5

4
3
.6

4

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
3
1
 -

 T
R
F
 S

T
A
T
IO

N
1
3
1
,4

1
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
3
1
,4

1
9
.0

0
3
5
,8

7
5
.3

6
0
.0

0
9
5
,5

4
3
.6

4

  
  

5
1

 -
 R

O
A

D
S

4
2

,6
6

7
.0

0
0

.0
0

4
2

,6
6

7
.0

0
1

3
,1

2
8

.3
2

0
.0

0
2

9
,5

3
8

.6
8

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
4
2
,6

6
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
2
,6

6
7
.0

0
1
3
,1

2
8
.3

2
0
.0

0
2
9
,5

3
8
.6

8

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
5
1
 -

 R
D

 C
O

M
M

4
2
,6

6
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
2
,6

6
7
.0

0
1
3
,1

2
8
.3

2
0
.0

0
2
9
,5

3
8
.6

8

  
  

7
1

 -
 G

A
3

,5
0

3
.0

0
0

.0
0

3
,5

0
3

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

3
,5

0
3

.0
0

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
3
,5

0
3
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,5

0
3
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,5

0
3
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
7
1
 -

 G
A
 D

IR
E
C
T

3
,5

0
3
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,5

0
3
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,5

0
3
.0

0

  
  

7
2

 -
 A

C
O

7
,6

9
7

.0
0

0
.0

0
7

,6
9

7
.0

0
2

,3
6

8
.3

2
0

.0
0

5
,3

2
8

.6
8

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
7
,6

9
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,6

9
7
.0

0
2
,3

6
8
.3

2
0
.0

0
5
,3

2
8
.6

8

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
7
5
 -

 A
C
O

7
,6

9
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,6

9
7
.0

0
2
,3

6
8
.3

2
0
.0

0
5
,3

2
8
.6

8

  
  

9
9

 -
 N

O
T

 S
P

E
C

IF
IE

2
7

,5
1

5
.0

0
0

.0
0

2
7

,5
1

5
.0

0
2

,4
8

7
.8

8
0

.0
0

2
5

,0
2

7
.1

2

ITEM #4: (d.) Expense Report



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 2

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
0
1
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
 C

O
N

T
'D

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
2
7
,5

1
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
7
,5

1
5
.0

0
2
,4

8
7
.8

8
0
.0

0
2
5
,0

2
7
.1

2

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
7
9
 -

 H
E
A
LT

H
 O

F
F
IC

1
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
9
1
 -

 E
X
T
R
A
 T

IM
E

2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
9
2
.8

8
0
.0

0
2
,3

0
7
.1

2

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
9
9
 -

 S
E
LE

C
T
 B

O
A
R
D

2
3
,5

1
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
3
,5

1
5
.0

0
2
,2

9
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
1
,2

2
0
.0

0

1
0
2
 -

 B
E
N

E
F
IT

S
2
4
0
,2

4
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
4
0
,2

4
5
.0

0
7
6
,5

3
7
.3

0
0
.0

0
1
6
3
,7

0
7
.7

0

  
  

1
1

 -
 T

O
W

N
 H

A
L
L

1
0

,7
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
0

,7
0

0
.0

0
3

,0
6

7
.6

5
0

.0
0

7
,6

3
2

.3
5

  
  

  
  
2
0
 -

 B
E
N

E
F
IT

S
1
0
,7

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,7

0
0
.0

0
3
,0

6
7
.6

5
0
.0

0
7
,6

3
2
.3

5

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
8
0
 -

 T
R
A
IN

IN
G

8
,9

4
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
8
,9

4
5
.0

0
2
,1

2
6
.9

0
0
.0

0
6
,8

1
8
.1

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
9
0
 -

 M
E
M

B
 &

 D
U

E
S

1
,7

5
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,7

5
5
.0

0
9
4
0
.7

5
0
.0

0
8
1
4
.2

5

  
  

1
3

 -
 E

L
E

C
T

IO
N

S
3

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

3
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
2
0
 -

 B
E
N

E
F
IT

S
3
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
8
0
 -

 T
R
A
IN

IN
G

3
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
0
0
.0

0

  
  

1
7

 -
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
S

 C
O

5
4

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

5
4

0
.0

0
1

4
5

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

9
5

.0
0

  
  

  
  
2
0
 -

 B
E
N

E
F
IT

S
5
4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
4
0
.0

0
1
4
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
9
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
8
0
 -

 T
R
A
IN

IN
G

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
1
1
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
9
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
9
0
 -

 M
E
M

B
 &

 D
U

E
S

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
0
.0

0
3
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
.0

0

  
  

3
1

 -
 T

R
A

N
F
E

R
 S

T
A

T
5

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
5

0
0

.0
0

2
6

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

2
4

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
2
0
 -

 B
E
N

E
F
IT

S
5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
2
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
4
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
8
0
 -

 T
R
A
IN

IN
G

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
2
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
4
0
.0

0

  
  

9
9

 -
 N

O
T

 S
P

E
C

IF
IE

2
2

8
,2

0
5

.0
0

0
.0

0
2

2
8

,2
0

5
.0

0
7

3
,0

6
4

.6
5

0
.0

0
1

5
5

,1
4

0
.3

5

  
  

  
  
2
0
 -

 B
E
N

E
F
IT

S
2
2
8
,2

0
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
2
8
,2

0
5
.0

0
7
3
,0

6
4
.6

5
0
.0

0
1
5
5
,1

4
0
.3

5

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
0
1
 -

 F
IC

A
5
6
,1

2
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
6
,1

2
2
.0

0
1
6
,1

5
1
.5

8
0
.0

0
3
9
,9

7
0
.4

2

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
1
0
 -

 H
E
A
LT

H
1
1
6
,0

8
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
1
6
,0

8
5
.0

0
4
1
,8

7
7
.1

8
0
.0

0
7
4
,2

0
7
.8

2

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
1
1
 -

 D
E
N

T
A
L

4
,4

1
4
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,4

1
4
.0

0
1
,5

3
2
.6

5
0
.0

0
2
,8

8
1
.3

5

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
1
4
 -

 L
IF

E
 N

O
 M

E
D

3
7
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
7
0
.0

0
1
6
4
.1

0
0
.0

0
2
0
5
.9

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
3
0
 -

 4
5
7
B
 E

R
 M

A
T
C

1
7
,2

1
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
7
,2

1
7
.0

0
4
,8

6
9
.2

7
0
.0

0
1
2
,3

4
7
.7

3

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
3
1
 -

 M
P
E
R
S
 E

R
3
3
,9

9
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
3
,9

9
7
.0

0
8
,4

6
9
.8

7
0
.0

0
2
5
,5

2
7
.1

3

1
1
0
 -

 G
E
N

 A
D

M
IN

1
6
2
,9

3
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
6
2
,9

3
5
.0

0
5
6
,7

0
9
.4

8
2
1
,7

5
0
.0

0
8
4
,4

7
5
.5

2

  
  

1
1

 -
 T

O
W

N
 H

A
L
L

1
4

2
,1

6
7

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

4
2

,1
6

7
.0

0
5

3
,2

0
2

.6
1

2
1

,7
0

5
.0

0
6

7
,2

5
9

.3
9

  
  

  
  
3
2
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 E

Q
7
5
,4

5
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
5
,4

5
9
.0

0
3
6
,5

5
6
.0

8
2
0
,0

5
0
.0

0
1
8
,8

5
2
.9

2

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S

7
5
,4

5
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
5
,4

5
9
.0

0
3
6
,5

5
6
.0

8
2
0
,0

5
0
.0

0
1
8
,8

5
2
.9

2

  
  

  
  
3
9
 -

 C
O

N
T
 S

V
S
 O

T
H

1
1
,6

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
1
,6

6
0
.0

0
2
,3

3
6
.4

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
8
,3

2
3
.6

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
5
 -

 M
E
M

B
 &

 D
U

E
S

7
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
9
9
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

4
,1

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,1

6
0
.0

0
2
,3

3
6
.4

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
8
2
3
.6

0

  
  

  
  
5
0
 -

 U
T
IL

IT
IE

S
1
0
,4

7
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,4

7
0
.0

0
2
,5

9
1
.0

4
0
.0

0
7
,8

7
8
.9

6



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 3

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
1
0
 -

 G
E
N

 A
D

M
IN

 C
O

N
T
'D

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
8
0
 -

 C
O

M
M

1
0
,4

7
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,4

7
0
.0

0
2
,5

9
1
.0

4
0
.0

0
7
,8

7
8
.9

6

  
  

  
  
6
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

1
7
,9

9
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
7
,9

9
8
.0

0
6
,5

2
2
.4

7
0
.0

0
1
1
,4

7
5
.5

3

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
1
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

1
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
3
,3

6
2
.7

9
0
.0

0
7
,6

3
7
.2

1

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
5
0
 -

 P
O

S
T
A
G

E
6
,9

9
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
,9

9
8
.0

0
3
,1

5
9
.6

8
0
.0

0
3
,8

3
8
.3

2

  
  

  
  
8
0
 -

 A
D

V
E
R
, 
P
R
IN

T
1
6
,8

8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
6
,8

8
0
.0

0
1
,3

7
9
.5

0
6
5
5
.0

0
1
4
,8

4
5
.5

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
8
1
0
 -

 A
D

V
E
R
T
IS

E
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
8
0
.0

0
2
,0

2
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
8
3
0
 -

 F
O

R
M

S
8
,7

8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
8
,7

8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
7
5
.0

0
8
,6

0
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
8
5
0
 -

 T
O

W
N

 R
E
P
O

R
T

2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
8
6
0
 -

 T
A
X
 B

IL
LS

3
,6

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,6

0
0
.0

0
1
,3

7
9
.5

0
0
.0

0
2
,2

2
0
.5

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

9
,7

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,7

0
0
.0

0
3
,8

1
7
.1

2
0
.0

0
5
,8

8
2
.8

8

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
1
0
 -

 M
IL

E
A
G

E
/T

R
A
V

8
,7

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
8
,7

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

4
4
.9

7
0
.0

0
7
,4

5
5
.0

3

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
1
1
 -

 M
I/

T
R
A
V
 E

LE
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,6

5
8
.9

8
0
.0

0
-1

,6
5
8
.9

8

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
1
5
 -

 E
E
 R

E
C
O

N
IT

1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
9
1
3
.1

7
0
.0

0
8
6
.8

3

  
  

1
7

 -
 B

L
D

G
S

 &
 C

O
D

E
1

6
,2

6
8

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

6
,2

6
8

.0
0

3
,5

0
6

.8
7

4
5

.0
0

1
2

,7
1

6
.1

3

  
  

  
  
3
9
 -

 C
O

N
T
 S

V
S
 O

T
H

2
,5

2
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

2
8
.0

0
1
,9

8
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
4
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
5
 -

 M
E
M

B
 &

 D
U

E
S

1
,9

2
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,9

2
8
.0

0
1
,9

2
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
9
9
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

6
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
0
0
.0

0
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
4
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
6
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
2
4
9
.4

0
0
.0

0
9
5
0
.6

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
1
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

2
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
0
0
.0

0
2
5
.0

9
0
.0

0
1
7
4
.9

1

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
5
0
 -

 P
O

S
T
A
G

E
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
2
2
4
.3

1
0
.0

0
7
7
5
.6

9

  
  

  
  
8
0
 -

 A
D

V
E
R
, 
P
R
IN

T
2
,0

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,0

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
5
.0

0
1
,9

9
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
8
1
0
 -

 A
D

V
E
R
T
IS

E
2
,0

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,0

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
5
.0

0
1
,9

9
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

1
0
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

6
9
.4

7
0
.0

0
9
,2

3
0
.5

3

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
1
0
 -

 M
IL

E
A
G

E
/T

R
A
V

3
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

6
9
.4

7
0
.0

0
1
,7

3
0
.5

3

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
9
9
 -

 M
IS

C
7
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
0
.0

0

  
  

1
9

 -
 C

O
M

M
IT

T
E

E
S

4
,5

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,5
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

4
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,5

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
9
9
 -

 M
IS

C
4
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,5

0
0
.0

0

1
1
5
 -

 E
LE

C
T
IO

N
S

1
5
,5

1
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
5
,5

1
7
.0

0
2
,3

5
8
.3

8
1
,0

2
0
.0

0
1
2
,1

3
8
.6

2

  
  

1
3

 -
 E

L
E

C
T

IO
N

S
1

5
,5

1
7

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

5
,5

1
7

.0
0

2
,3

5
8

.3
8

1
,0

2
0

.0
0

1
2

,1
3

8
.6

2

  
  

  
  
3
9
 -

 C
O

N
T
 S

V
S
 O

T
H

1
0
,6

6
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,6

6
2
.0

0
2
,1

3
3
.6

5
1
,0

2
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
8
.3

5

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
9
9
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

1
0
,6

6
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,6

6
2
.0

0
2
,1

3
3
.6

5
1
,0

2
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
8
.3

5

  
  

  
  
6
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

2
,7

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,7

0
0
.0

0
2
2
4
.7

3
0
.0

0
2
,4

7
5
.2

7

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
1
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
2
2
4
.7

3
0
.0

0
2
7
5
.2

7

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
5
0
 -

 P
O

S
T
A
G

E
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
7
0
 -

 S
IG

N
S

2
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
0
0
.0

0



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 4

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
1
5
 -

 E
LE

C
T
IO

N
S
 C

O
N

T
'D

  
  

  
  
8
0
 -

 A
D

V
E
R
, 
P
R
IN

T
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
8
1
0
 -

 A
D

V
E
R
T
IS

E
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

9
5
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
5
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
5
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
1
0
 -

 M
IL

E
A
G

E
/T

R
A
V

9
5
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
5
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
5
5
.0

0

1
1
7
 -

 G
E
N

 A
D

M
IN

 I
N

3
8
,5

4
3
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
8
,5

4
3
.0

0
2
2
,3

5
3
.5

0
0
.0

0
1
6
,1

8
9
.5

0

  
  

9
9

 -
 N

O
T

 S
P

E
C

IF
IE

3
8

,5
4

3
.0

0
0

.0
0

3
8

,5
4

3
.0

0
2

2
,3

5
3

.5
0

0
.0

0
1

6
,1

8
9

.5
0

  
  

  
  
3
8
 -

 C
O

N
T
 S

V
S
 I

N
S

3
8
,5

4
3
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
8
,5

4
3
.0

0
2
2
,3

5
3
.5

0
0
.0

0
1
6
,1

8
9
.5

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
2
5
 -

 I
N

S
 P

R
O

P
 &

 C
2
0
,3

8
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
0
,3

8
2
.0

0
1
6
,8

7
6
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,5

0
6
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
2
6
 -

 I
N

S
 W

.C
.

1
6
,5

1
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
6
,5

1
1
.0

0
5
,3

9
9
.5

0
0
.0

0
1
1
,1

1
1
.5

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
2
7
 -

 I
N

S
 U

N
E
M

P
LO

Y
1
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
2
8
 -

 I
N

S
 V

O
LU

N
T
E
E

1
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
5
0
.0

0
7
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
2
.0

0

1
1
9
 -

 C
O

N
T
IN

G
E
N

C
Y

2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

0
0
.0

0

  
  

1
1

 -
 T

O
W

N
 H

A
L
L

2
,5

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
2

,5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
2

,5
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
9
9
 -

 M
IS

C
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

0
0
.0

0

1
2
5
 -

 A
C
O

9
,3

2
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,3

2
8
.0

0
6
,7

8
6
.7

3
0
.0

0
2
,5

4
1
.2

7

  
  

7
2

 -
 A

C
O

9
,3

2
8

.0
0

0
.0

0
9

,3
2

8
.0

0
6

,7
8

6
.7

3
0

.0
0

2
,5

4
1

.2
7

  
  

  
  
3
9
 -

 C
O

N
T
 S

V
S
 O

T
H

7
,6

2
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,6

2
8
.0

0
6
,6

0
6
.5

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

2
1
.5

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
8
1
 -

 A
C
O

7
,6

2
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,6

2
8
.0

0
6
,6

0
6
.5

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

2
1
.5

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

1
,7

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,7

0
0
.0

0
1
8
0
.2

3
0
.0

0
1
,5

1
9
.7

7

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
1
0
 -

 M
IL

E
A
G

E
/T

R
A
V

1
,7

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,7

0
0
.0

0
1
8
0
.2

3
0
.0

0
1
,5

1
9
.7

7

1
2
8
 -

 H
H

S
 G

/A
1
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

0
0
.0

0

  
  

7
1

 -
 G

A
1

,5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
,5

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
,5

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
3
9
 -

 C
O

N
T
 S

V
S
 O

T
H

1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S

1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
6
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

1
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
5
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
1
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

1
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
5
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

3
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
5
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
1
0
 -

 M
IL

E
A
G

E
/T

R
A
V

3
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
5
0
.0

0

1
2
9
 -

 H
H

S
 S

O
C
IA

L 
S

1
,1

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

3
2
.0

0

  
  

7
5

 -
 S

O
C

IA
L
 S

E
R

V
1

,1
3

2
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
,1

3
2

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
,1

3
2

.0
0

  
  

  
  
9
1
 -

 O
T
H

E
R
 S

O
C
 S

V
1
,1

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

3
2
.0

0



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 5

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
2
9
 -

 H
H

S
 S

O
C
IA

L 
S
 C

O
N

T
'D

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
9
9
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

1
,1

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

3
2
.0

0

1
3
1
 -

 R
O

A
D

S
8
3
9
,0

4
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
8
3
9
,0

4
8
.0

0
1
2
,6

6
7
.9

7
0
.0

0
8
2
6
,3

8
0
.0

3

  
  

5
1

 -
 R

O
A

D
S

8
3

9
,0

4
8

.0
0

0
.0

0
8

3
9

,0
4

8
.0

0
1

2
,6

6
7

.9
7

0
.0

0
8

2
6

,3
8

0
.0

3

  
  

  
  
3
3
 -

 C
O

N
T
 P

R
O

F
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

E
R
V

1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
4
0
 -

 R
E
P
A
IR

S
 &

 M
A

8
3
8
,0

4
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
8
3
8
,0

4
8
.0

0
1
2
,6

6
7
.9

7
0
.0

0
8
2
5
,3

8
0
.0

3

  
  

  
  
  
  
4
8
1
 -

 R
D

S
/C

O
N

S
T
R
U

C
3
4
4
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
4
4
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
4
4
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
4
8
2
 -

 R
D

S
/R

E
S
U

R
F
A

3
2
3
,5

4
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
2
3
,5

4
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
2
3
,5

4
8
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
4
8
3
 -

 R
D

S
/R

E
P
A
IR

S
1
7
0
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
7
0
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
2
,6

6
7
.9

7
0
.0

0
1
5
7
,8

3
2
.0

3

1
4
1
 -

 B
&

G
 C

A
R
E
 &

 M
2
5
,0

0
4
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
5
,0

0
4
.0

0
4
,9

8
6
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
0
,0

1
8
.0

0

  
  

1
1

 -
 T

O
W

N
 H

A
L
L

1
5

,2
7

2
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
5

,2
7

2
.0

0
4

,3
9

1
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
0

,8
8

1
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
1
0
,7

2
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,7

2
2
.0

0
3
,3

9
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,3

2
4
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S

1
0
,7

2
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,7

2
2
.0

0
3
,3

9
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,3

2
4
.0

0

  
  

  
  
4
0
 -

 R
E
P
A
IR

S
 &

 M
A

4
,5

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,5

5
0
.0

0
9
9
3
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,5

5
7
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
4
1
0
 -

 B
LD

G
S
 &

 G
R
O

U
4
,5

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,5

5
0
.0

0
9
9
3
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,5

5
7
.0

0

  
  

2
1

 -
 R

E
C

R
E

A
T

IO
N

3
,6

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

,6
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

,6
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
1
,3

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,3

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,3

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S

1
,3

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,3

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,3

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
4
0
 -

 R
E
P
A
IR

S
 &

 M
A

2
,3

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,3

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,3

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
4
1
0
 -

 B
LD

G
S
 &

 G
R
O

U
2
,3

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,3

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,3

0
0
.0

0

  
  

2
2

 -
 B

U
N

G
A

N
U

T
1

,6
6

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
,6

6
0

.0
0

3
7

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
,2

9
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
6
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
6
0
.0

0
3
7
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
9
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S

6
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
6
0
.0

0
3
7
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
9
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
4
0
 -

 R
E
P
A
IR

S
 &

 M
A

1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
4
1
0
 -

 B
LD

G
S
 &

 G
R
O

U
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

2
3

 -
 K

B
P

1
9

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
9

0
.0

0
2

2
5

.0
0

0
.0

0
-3

5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
1
9
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
9
0
.0

0
2
2
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
-3

5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S

1
9
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
9
0
.0

0
2
2
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
-3

5
.0

0

  
  

3
1

 -
 T

R
A

N
S

F
E

R
 S

T
A

4
,2

8
2

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,2
8

2
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,2
8

2
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
3
,1

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,1

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,1

3
2
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S

3
,1

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,1

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,1

3
2
.0

0

  
  

  
  
4
0
 -

 R
E
P
A
IR

S
 &

 M
A

1
,1

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

5
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
4
1
0
 -

 B
LD

G
S
 &

 G
R
O

U
1
,1

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

5
0
.0

0



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 6

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
4
2
 -

 B
&

G
 M

O
W

IN
G

 C
O

N
T
'D

1
4
2
 -

 B
&

G
 M

O
W

IN
G

6
2
,6

0
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
2
,6

0
2
.0

0
3
3
,6

1
7
.6

0
5
,5

5
4
.4

0
2
3
,4

3
0
.0

0

  
  

5
1

 -
 R

O
A

D
S

1
1

,5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
1

,5
0

0
.0

0
1

1
,4

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
1
1
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
1
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
1
,4

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
7
0
 -

 M
O

W
IN

G
1
1
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
1
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
1
,4

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
0
.0

0

  
  

9
0

 -
 M

IS
C

5
1

,1
0

2
.0

0
0

.0
0

5
1

,1
0

2
.0

0
2

2
,2

1
7

.6
0

5
,5

5
4

.4
0

2
3

,3
3

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
5
1
,1

0
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
1
,1

0
2
.0

0
2
2
,2

1
7
.6

0
5
,5

5
4
.4

0
2
3
,3

3
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
7
0
 -

 M
O

W
IN

G
5
1
,1

0
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
1
,1

0
2
.0

0
2
2
,2

1
7
.6

0
5
,5

5
4
.4

0
2
3
,3

3
0
.0

0

1
4
3
 -

 B
&

G
 P

LO
W

IN
G

6
7
2
,5

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
7
2
,5

4
0
.0

0
1
6
6
,8

6
0
.0

0
2
9
6
,6

4
0
.0

0
2
0
9
,0

4
0
.0

0

  
  

1
1

 -
 T

O
W

N
 H

A
L
L

4
,6

4
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,6
4

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,6
4

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
4
,6

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,6

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,6

4
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
6
0
 -

 P
LO

W
 &

 S
A
N

D
4
,6

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,6

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,6

4
0
.0

0

  
  

2
2

 -
 B

U
N

G
A

N
U

T
7

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
7

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

7
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
7
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
6
0
 -

 P
LO

W
 &

 S
A
N

D
7
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
0
0
.0

0

  
  

2
3

 -
 K

B
P

1
,2

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

,2
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

,2
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
6
0
 -

 P
LO

W
 &

 S
A
N

D
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0

  
  

3
1

 -
 T

R
A

N
S

F
E

R
 S

T
A

9
,0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
9

,0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
9

,0
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
9
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
6
0
 -

 P
LO

W
 &

 S
A
N

D
9
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

5
1

 -
 R

O
A

D
S

6
5

7
,0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
6

5
7

,0
0

0
.0

0
1

6
6

,8
6

0
.0

0
2

9
6

,6
4

0
.0

0
1

9
3

,5
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
6
5
7
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
5
7
,0

0
0
.0

0
1
6
6
,8

6
0
.0

0
2
9
6
,6

4
0
.0

0
1
9
3
,5

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
6
0
 -

 P
LO

W
 &

 S
A
N

D
6
5
7
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
5
7
,0

0
0
.0

0
1
6
6
,8

6
0
.0

0
2
9
6
,6

4
0
.0

0
1
9
3
,5

0
0
.0

0

1
4
5
 -

 B
&

G
 W

A
S
T
E
 S

V
1
8
,2

2
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
8
,2

2
5
.0

0
4
,7

4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
3
,4

8
5
.0

0

  
  

1
1

 -
 T

O
W

N
 H

A
L
L

1
,8

2
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

,8
2

0
.0

0
6

9
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

,1
3

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
1
,8

2
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,8

2
0
.0

0
6
9
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

3
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
3
0
 -

 W
A
S
T
E
 S

V
S

1
,8

2
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,8

2
0
.0

0
6
9
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

3
0
.0

0

  
  

2
1

 -
 R

E
C

R
E

A
T

IO
N

4
,1

7
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,1
7

0
.0

0
7

1
5

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

,4
5

5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
1
,7

1
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,7

1
0
.0

0
1
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

5
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
3
0
 -

 W
A
S
T
E
 S

V
S

1
,7

1
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,7

1
0
.0

0
1
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

5
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
5
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 W

A
2
,4

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,4

6
0
.0

0
5
5
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,9

0
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
3
1
 -

 P
R
O

F
 P

O
R
T
A
 P

2
,4

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,4

6
0
.0

0
5
5
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,9

0
5
.0

0

  
  

2
2

 -
 B

U
N

G
A

N
U

T
6

,6
7

5
.0

0
0

.0
0

6
,6

7
5

.0
0

2
,2

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,4
7

5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
2
,3

8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,3

8
0
.0

0
9
8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,4

0
0
.0

0



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 7

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
4
5
 -

 B
&

G
 W

A
S
T
E
 S

V
 C

O
N

T
'D

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
3
0
 -

 W
A
S
T
E
 S

V
S

2
,3

8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,3

8
0
.0

0
9
8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,4

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
5
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 W

A
4
,2

9
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,2

9
5
.0

0
1
,2

2
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,0

7
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
3
1
 -

 P
R
O

F
 P

O
R
T
A
 P

4
,2

9
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,2

9
5
.0

0
1
,2

2
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,0

7
5
.0

0

  
  

2
3

 -
 K

B
P

4
,0

2
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,0
2

0
.0

0
9

7
5

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

,0
4

5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
1
,5

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

6
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
3
0
 -

 W
A
S
T
E
 S

V
S

1
,5

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,5

6
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
5
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 W

A
2
,4

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,4

6
0
.0

0
9
7
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,4

8
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
3
1
 -

 P
R
O

F
 P

O
R
T
A
 P

2
,4

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,4

6
0
.0

0
9
7
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,4

8
5
.0

0

  
  

5
1

 -
 R

O
A

D
S

1
,5

4
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

,5
4

0
.0

0
1

6
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

,3
8

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
1
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 B

L
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
1
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

4
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
3
0
 -

 W
A
S
T
E
 S

V
S

1
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,2

0
0
.0

0
1
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

4
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
5
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 W

A
3
4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
4
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
3
1
 -

 P
R
O

F
 P

O
R
T
A
 P

3
4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
4
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
4
0
.0

0

1
4
7
 -

 B
&

G
 E

N
E
R
G

Y
2
6
,7

3
4
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
6
,7

3
4
.0

0
4
,9

1
7
.3

6
0
.0

0
2
1
,8

1
6
.6

4

  
  

1
1

 -
 T

O
W

N
 H

A
L
L

1
0

,4
8

4
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
0

,4
8

4
.0

0
1

,3
3

4
.0

4
0

.0
0

9
,1

4
9

.9
6

  
  

  
  
5
0
 -

 U
T
IL

IT
IE

S
1
0
,4

8
4
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,4

8
4
.0

0
1
,3

3
4
.0

4
0
.0

0
9
,1

4
9
.9

6

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

P
A
N

E
3
,9

8
4
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,9

8
4
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,9

8
4
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
6
0
 -

 E
LE

C
T
R
IC

IT
Y

6
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
,3

3
4
.0

4
0
.0

0
5
,1

6
5
.9

6

  
  

2
1

 -
 R

E
C

R
E

A
T

IO
N

7
5

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

7
5

0
.0

0
1

1
6

.2
4

0
.0

0
6

3
3

.7
6

  
  

  
  
5
0
 -

 U
T
IL

IT
IE

S
7
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
5
0
.0

0
1
1
6
.2

4
0
.0

0
6
3
3
.7

6

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
6
0
 -

 E
LE

C
T
R
IC

IT
Y

7
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
5
0
.0

0
1
1
6
.2

4
0
.0

0
6
3
3
.7

6

  
  

2
2

 -
 B

U
N

G
A

N
U

T
2

,5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

2
,5

0
0

.0
0

1
,0

6
3

.4
4

0
.0

0
1

,4
3

6
.5

6

  
  

  
  
5
0
 -

 U
T
IL

IT
IE

S
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

6
3
.4

4
0
.0

0
1
,4

3
6
.5

6

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
6
0
 -

 E
LE

C
T
R
IC

IT
Y

2
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

6
3
.4

4
0
.0

0
1
,4

3
6
.5

6

  
  

2
3

 -
 K

B
P

2
,0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
2

,0
0

0
.0

0
1

9
4

.9
9

0
.0

0
1

,8
0

5
.0

1

  
  

  
  
5
0
 -

 U
T
IL

IT
IE

S
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
1
9
4
.9

9
0
.0

0
1
,8

0
5
.0

1

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
6
0
 -

 E
LE

C
T
R
IC

IT
Y

2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
1
9
4
.9

9
0
.0

0
1
,8

0
5
.0

1

  
  

3
1

 -
 T

R
A

N
S

F
E

R
 S

T
A

4
,5

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,5
0

0
.0

0
1

,1
2

5
.2

0
0

.0
0

3
,3

7
4

.8
0

  
  

  
  
5
0
 -

 U
T
IL

IT
IE

S
4
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

2
5
.2

0
0
.0

0
3
,3

7
4
.8

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
6
0
 -

 E
LE

C
T
R
IC

IT
Y

4
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

2
5
.2

0
0
.0

0
3
,3

7
4
.8

0

  
  

5
1

 -
 R

O
A

D
S

6
,5

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
6

,5
0

0
.0

0
1

,0
8

3
.4

5
0

.0
0

5
,4

1
6

.5
5

  
  

  
  
5
0
 -

 U
T
IL

IT
IE

S
6
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

8
3
.4

5
0
.0

0
5
,4

1
6
.5

5

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
6
0
 -

 E
LE

C
T
R
IC

IT
Y

6
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

8
3
.4

5
0
.0

0
5
,4

1
6
.5

5

1
4
8
 -

 B
&

G
 S

IG
N

S
9
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
,0

0
0
.0

0
2
7
7
.1

2
0
.0

0
8
,7

2
2
.8

8



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 8

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
4
8
 -

 B
&

G
 S

IG
N

S
 C

O
N

T
'D

  
  

2
1

 -
 R

E
C

R
E

A
T

IO
N

5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
5

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
6
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
7
0
 -

 S
IG

N
S

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0

  
  

2
2

 -
 B

U
N

G
A

N
U

T
5

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
5

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

5
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
6
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
7
0
 -

 S
IG

N
S

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0

  
  

2
3

 -
 K

E
N

N
E

B
U

N
K

 P
D

5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
5

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
6
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
7
0
 -

 S
IG

N
S

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0

  
  

3
1

 -
 T

R
A

N
S

F
E

R
 S

T
A

5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
5

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
6
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
7
0
 -

 S
IG

N
S

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0

  
  

5
1

 -
 R

O
A

D
S

7
,0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
7

,0
0

0
.0

0
2

7
7

.1
2

0
.0

0
6

,7
2

2
.8

8

  
  

  
  
6
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

7
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,0

0
0
.0

0
2
7
7
.1

2
0
.0

0
6
,7

2
2
.8

8

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
7
0
 -

 S
IG

N
S

7
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,0

0
0
.0

0
2
7
7
.1

2
0
.0

0
6
,7

2
2
.8

8

1
5
0
 -

 T
R
F
 S

T
A
T
IO

N
3
4
5
,3

7
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
4
5
,3

7
5
.0

0
7
3
,5

9
8
.4

3
0
.0

0
2
7
1
,7

7
6
.5

7

  
  

3
1

 -
 T

R
A

N
S

F
E

R
 S

T
A

3
4

5
,3

7
5

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

4
5

,3
7

5
.0

0
7

3
,5

9
8

.4
3

0
.0

0
2

7
1

,7
7

6
.5

7

  
  

  
  
3
5
 -

 C
T
R
C
T
 S

V
S
 W

A
3
2
2
,4

1
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
2
2
,4

1
5
.0

0
7
2
,7

6
9
.4

5
0
.0

0
2
4
9
,6

4
5
.5

5

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S

5
,2

8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
,2

8
0
.0

0
4
0
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,8

7
3
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
4
9
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S
 C

A
N

2
,4

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,4

0
0
.0

0
6
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,8

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
5
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S
 T

IP
1
8
5
,5

2
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
8
5
,5

2
5
.0

0
4
4
,4

9
9
.4

9
0
.0

0
1
4
1
,0

2
5
.5

1

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
5
1
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S
 T

W
4
3
,8

7
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
3
,8

7
5
.0

0
8
,9

6
7
.4

6
0
.0

0
3
4
,9

0
7
.5

4

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
5
2
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S
 R

E
C

1
6
,9

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
6
,9

6
0
.0

0
3
,3

8
6
.5

0
0
.0

0
1
3
,5

7
3
.5

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
5
5
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S
 H

A
U

3
0
,5

2
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
0
,5

2
5
.0

0
6
,6

1
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
3
,9

1
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
5
6
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S
 H

W
1
7
,5

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
7
,5

5
0
.0

0
4
,5

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
2
,9

9
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
5
7
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S
 H

R
8
,7

7
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
8
,7

7
5
.0

0
1
,7

1
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,0

6
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
5
8
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S
 H

W
O

2
,7

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,7

5
0
.0

0
5
0
9
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,2

4
1
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
5
9
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

V
S
 M

E
T

8
,7

7
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
8
,7

7
5
.0

0
1
,5

2
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,2

5
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
4
0
 -

 R
E
P
A
IR

S
 &

 M
A

1
1
,8

3
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
1
,8

3
0
.0

0
2
8
0
.6

4
0
.0

0
1
1
,5

4
9
.3

6

  
  

  
  
  
  
4
5
0
 -

 E
Q

U
IP

M
E
N

T
1
1
,8

3
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
1
,8

3
0
.0

0
2
8
0
.6

4
0
.0

0
1
1
,5

4
9
.3

6

  
  

  
  
5
0
 -

 U
T
IL

IT
IE

S
5
,8

8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
,8

8
0
.0

0
5
4
8
.3

4
0
.0

0
5
,3

3
1
.6

6

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
7
0
 -

 F
U

E
L

2
,8

8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,8

8
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,8

8
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
8
0
 -

 C
O

M
M

3
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
5
4
8
.3

4
0
.0

0
2
,4

5
1
.6

6

  
  

  
  
6
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

4
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,2

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
1
0
 -

 S
U

P
P
LI

E
S

2
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
6
9
0
 -

 P
P
G

4
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,0

0
0
.0

0



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 9

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
5
0
 -

 T
R
F
 S

T
A
T
IO

N
 C

O
N

T
'D

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

1
,0

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

5
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
2
0
 -

 S
T
A
T
E
 F

E
E
'S

5
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
5
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
3
0
 -

 H
E
A
LT

H
 &

 W
E
L

5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
0
.0

0

1
6
1
 -

 P
A
R
K
S
 &

 R
E
C

1
0
,3

1
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,3

1
0
.0

0
4
,3

4
7
.5

4
0
.0

0
5
,9

6
2
.4

6

  
  

2
1

 -
 R

E
C

R
E

A
T

IO
N

8
,1

1
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
8

,1
1

0
.0

0
3

,7
1

8
.1

8
0

.0
0

4
,3

9
1

.8
2

  
  

  
  
4
0
 -

 R
E
P
A
IR

S
 &

 M
A

1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
4
5
0
 -

 E
Q

U
IP

M
E
N

T
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

7
,1

1
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,1

1
0
.0

0
3
,7

1
8
.1

8
0
.0

0
3
,3

9
1
.8

2

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
4
0
 -

 R
E
C
 P

R
O

G
R
A
M

S
6
,8

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
,8

6
0
.0

0
3
,5

4
8
.8

8
0
.0

0
3
,3

1
1
.1

2

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
9
9
 -

 M
IS

C
2
5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
5
0
.0

0
1
6
9
.3

0
0
.0

0
8
0
.7

0

  
  

2
2

 -
 B

U
N

G
A

N
U

T
6

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
6

0
0

.0
0

7
9

.8
0

0
.0

0
5

2
0

.2
0

  
  

  
  
5
0
 -

 U
T
IL

IT
IE

S
6
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
0
0
.0

0
7
9
.8

0
0
.0

0
5
2
0
.2

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
8
0
 -

 C
O

M
M

6
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
0
0
.0

0
7
9
.8

0
0
.0

0
5
2
0
.2

0

  
  

2
3

 -
 K

P
B

1
,6

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
1

,6
0

0
.0

0
5

4
9

.5
6

0
.0

0
1

,0
5

0
.4

4

  
  

  
  
5
0
 -

 U
T
IL

IT
IE

S
1
,6

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,6

0
0
.0

0
5
4
9
.5

6
0
.0

0
1
,0

5
0
.4

4

  
  

  
  
  
  
5
8
0
 -

 C
O

M
M

1
,6

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,6

0
0
.0

0
5
4
9
.5

6
0
.0

0
1
,0

5
0
.4

4

1
7
1
 -

 R
E
S
 E

Q
U

IP
7
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

9
9

 -
 N

O
T

 S
P

E
C

IF
IE

7
,5

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
7

,5
0

0
.0

0
7

,5
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
9
5
 -

 R
E
S
E
R
V
E
S

7
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
7
0
 -

 T
O

W
N

 R
E
S
E
R
V
E

7
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
0
.0

0
7
,5

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

1
7
3
 -

 R
E
S
 B

LD
G

1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

9
9

 -
 N

O
T

 S
P

E
C

IF
IE

1
0

,0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
0

,0
0

0
.0

0
1

0
,0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
9
5
 -

 R
E
S
E
R
V
E
S

1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
7
0
 -

 T
O

W
N

 R
E
S
E
R
V
E

1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

1
7
5
 -

 R
E
S
 C

O
N

 S
V
C

2
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
2
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

9
9

 -
 N

O
T

 S
P

E
C

IF
IE

2
2

,0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

2
2

,0
0

0
.0

0
2

2
,0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
9
5
 -

 R
E
S
E
R
V
E
S

2
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
2
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
7
0
 -

 T
O

W
N

 R
E
S
E
R
V
E

2
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
2
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

1
7
7
 -

 R
E
S
 M

IS
C

9
0
,2

1
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
0
,2

1
5
.0

0
9
0
,2

1
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

9
9

 -
 N

O
T

 S
P

E
C

IF
IE

9
0

,2
1

5
.0

0
0

.0
0

9
0

,2
1

5
.0

0
9

0
,2

1
5

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
9
5
 -

 R
E
S
E
R
V
E
S

9
0
,2

1
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
0
,2

1
5
.0

0
9
0
,2

1
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 1

0

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
7
7
 -

 R
E
S
 M

IS
C
 C

O
N

T
'D

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
7
0
 -

 T
O

W
N

 R
E
S
E
R
V
E

9
0
,2

1
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
0
,2

1
5
.0

0
9
0
,2

1
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

1
7
9
 -

 R
E
S
E
R
V
E
S
 G

M
F

9
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
9
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

9
1

 -
 G

M
F
R

9
0

,0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

9
0

,0
0

0
.0

0
9

0
,0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
9
5
 -

 R
E
S
E
R
V
E
S

9
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
9
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
7
8
 -

 G
M

F
R
 R

E
S
E
R
V
E

9
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
9
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

1
8
1
 -

 O
U

T
S
 G

E
N

 A
D

1
3
0
,6

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
3
0
,6

5
0
.0

0
7
9
,8

1
9
.1

5
0
.0

0
5
0
,8

3
0
.8

5

  
  

1
1

 -
 T

O
W

N
 H

A
L
L

6
3

,2
5

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

6
3

,2
5

0
.0

0
3

5
,9

7
5

.0
0

0
.0

0
2

7
,2

7
5

.0
0

  
  

  
  
3
3
 -

 C
O

N
T
 P

R
O

F
6
3
,2

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
3
,2

5
0
.0

0
3
5
,9

7
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
7
,2

7
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

E
R
V

4
0
,2

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
0
,2

5
0
.0

0
3
3
,5

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
,7

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
2
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

E
R
V
 L

E
1
7
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
7
,0

0
0
.0

0
2
,4

2
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
4
,5

7
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
2
3
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

E
R
V
 A

U
6
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

1
5

 -
 C

E
M

E
T

E
R

IE
S

4
,2

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

,2
0

0
.0

0
1

,1
5

8
.6

5
0

.0
0

3
,0

4
1

.3
5

  
  

  
  
3
7
 -

 C
O

N
T
 O

U
T

4
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,2

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

5
8
.6

5
0
.0

0
3
,0

4
1
.3

5

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
9
9
 -

 C
O

N
T
 S

V
S
 O

T
H

4
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
,2

0
0
.0

0
1
,1

5
8
.6

5
0
.0

0
3
,0

4
1
.3

5

  
  

1
7

 -
 P

L
A

N
N

IN
G

2
2

,2
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

2
2

,2
0

0
.0

0
1

,6
8

5
.5

0
0

.0
0

2
0

,5
1

4
.5

0

  
  

  
  
3
3
 -

 C
O

N
T
 P

R
O

F
2
2
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
2
,2

0
0
.0

0
1
,6

8
5
.5

0
0
.0

0
2
0
,5

1
4
.5

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

E
R
V

5
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
1
,6

8
5
.5

0
0
.0

0
3
,3

1
4
.5

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
2
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

E
R
V
 L

E
1
7
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
7
,2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
7
,2

0
0
.0

0

  
  

2
2

 -
 B

U
N

G
A

N
U

T
4

1
,0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
4

1
,0

0
0

.0
0

4
1

,0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
3
7
 -

 C
O

N
T
 O

U
T

4
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
4
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
9
9
 -

 C
O

N
T
 S

V
S
 O

T
H

4
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
4
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

1
8
5
 -

 O
U

T
S
O

U
R
C
E
 O

T
2
0
7
,5

4
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
0
7
,5

4
1
.0

0
2
0
7
,5

4
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

9
5

 -
 L

IB
R

A
R

Y
1

5
7

,2
9

1
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
5

7
,2

9
1

.0
0

1
5

7
,2

9
1

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
3
7
 -

 C
O

N
T
 O

U
T

1
5
7
,2

9
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
5
7
,2

9
1
.0

0
1
5
7
,2

9
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
9
9
 -

 C
O

N
T
 S

V
S
 O

T
H

1
5
7
,2

9
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
5
7
,2

9
1
.0

0
1
5
7
,2

9
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

9
9

 -
 N

O
T

 S
P

E
C

5
0

,2
5

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

5
0

,2
5

0
.0

0
5

0
,2

5
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
3
7
 -

 C
O

N
T
 O

U
T

4
5
,2

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
5
,2

5
0
.0

0
4
5
,2

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
9
9
 -

 C
O

N
T
 S

V
S
 O

T
H

4
5
,2

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
4
5
,2

5
0
.0

0
4
5
,2

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

5
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
9
9
 -

 M
IS

C
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

1
8
6
 -

 O
U

T
S
 G

M
F
R

7
0
6
,6

9
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
0
6
,6

9
5
.0

0
2
3
5
,5

6
5
.0

0
4
7
1
,1

3
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

9
1

 -
 G

M
F
R

7
0

6
,6

9
5

.0
0

0
.0

0
7

0
6

,6
9

5
.0

0
2

3
5

,5
6

5
.0

0
4

7
1

,1
3

0
.0

0
0

.0
0



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 1

1

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
8
6
 -

 O
U

T
S
 G

M
F
R
 C

O
N

T
'D

  
  

  
  
3
7
 -

 C
O

N
T
 O

U
T

7
0
6
,6

9
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
7
0
6
,6

9
5
.0

0
2
3
5
,5

6
5
.0

0
4
7
1
,1

3
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
9
1
 -

 G
M

F
R
 P

E
R
S
O

N
N

5
0
6
,4

2
4
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
6
,4

2
4
.0

0
1
5
2
,1

1
8
.7

5
3
5
4
,3

0
5
.2

5
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
9
2
 -

 G
M

F
R
 C

O
N

T
R
A
C

2
0
0
,2

7
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
0
0
,2

7
1
.0

0
8
3
,4

4
6
.2

5
1
1
6
,8

2
4
.7

5
0
.0

0

1
9
1
 -

 O
T
H

E
R
 C

IP
9
5
,8

6
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
9
5
,8

6
1
.0

0
2
,5

2
2
.3

4
0
.0

0
9
3
,3

3
8
.6

6

  
  

1
1

 -
 T

O
W

N
 H

A
L
L

6
3

,1
6

1
.0

0
0

.0
0

6
3

,1
6

1
.0

0
1

,6
6

0
.0

8
0

.0
0

6
1

,5
0

0
.9

2

  
  

  
  
3
3
 -

 C
O

N
T
 P

R
O

F
5
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
3
1
0
 -

 P
R
O

F
 S

E
R
V

5
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
0
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
7
0
 -

 E
Q

U
IP

M
E
N

T
1
3
,1

6
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
3
,1

6
1
.0

0
1
,6

6
0
.0

8
0
.0

0
1
1
,5

0
0
.9

2

  
  

  
  
  
  
7
1
0
 -

 C
O

M
P
 E

Q
U

IP
1
1
,8

0
1
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
1
,8

0
1
.0

0
1
,6

1
8
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
0
,1

8
3
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
7
3
0
 -

 O
F
F
IC

E
 E

Q
U

IP
3
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
6
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
7
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R
 E

Q
U

IP
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
4
2
.0

8
0
.0

0
9
5
7
.9

2

  
  

2
1

 -
 R

E
C

R
E

A
T

IO
N

3
,1

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

,1
0

0
.0

0
8

6
2

.2
6

0
.0

0
2

,2
3

7
.7

4

  
  

  
  
7
0
 -

 E
Q

U
IP

M
E
N

T
3
,1

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,1

0
0
.0

0
8
6
2
.2

6
0
.0

0
2
,2

3
7
.7

4

  
  

  
  
  
  
7
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R
 E

Q
U

IP
3
,1

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,1

0
0
.0

0
8
6
2
.2

6
0
.0

0
2
,2

3
7
.7

4

  
  

2
2

 -
 B

U
N

G
A

N
U

T
3

,6
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

3
,6

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

3
,6

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
7
0
 -

 E
Q

U
IP

M
E
N

T
6
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
7
1
0
 -

 C
O

M
P
 E

Q
U

IP
6
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

3
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
9
9
 -

 M
IS

C
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

3
1

 -
 T

R
A

N
S

F
E

R
 S

T
A

2
6

,0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

2
6

,0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
2

6
,0

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
7
0
 -

 E
Q

U
IP

M
E
N

T
2
6
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
6
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
6
,0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
7
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R
 E

Q
U

IP
2
6
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
6
,0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
6
,0

0
0
.0

0

1
9
5
 -

 R
S
U

 #
 5

7
0
.0

0
5
,9

9
0
,6

0
6
.6

7
5
,9

9
0
,6

0
6
.6

7
1
,9

9
6
,8

6
8
.8

8
3
,9

9
3
,7

3
7
.7

9
0
.0

0

  
  

9
2

 -
 R

S
U

 #
 5

7
0

.0
0

5
,9

9
0

,6
0

6
.6

7
5

,9
9

0
,6

0
6

.6
7

1
,9

9
6

,8
6

8
.8

8
3

,9
9

3
,7

3
7

.7
9

0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

0
.0

0
5
,9

9
0
,6

0
6
.6

7
5
,9

9
0
,6

0
6
.6

7
1
,9

9
6
,8

6
8
.8

8
3
,9

9
3
,7

3
7
.7

9
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
9
9
 -

 M
IS

C
0
.0

0
5
,9

9
0
,6

0
6
.6

7
5
,9

9
0
,6

0
6
.6

7
1
,9

9
6
,8

6
8
.8

8
3
,9

9
3
,7

3
7
.7

9
0
.0

0

1
9
7
 -

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

0
.0

0
3
6
9
,3

4
6
.1

7
3
6
9
,3

4
6
.1

7
3
6
9
,3

4
6
.1

7
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

9
7

 -
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
0

.0
0

3
6

9
,3

4
6

.1
7

3
6

9
,3

4
6

.1
7

3
6

9
,3

4
6

.1
7

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

0
.0

0
3
6
9
,3

4
6
.1

7
3
6
9
,3

4
6
.1

7
3
6
9
,3

4
6
.1

7
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
9
9
 -

 M
IS

C
0
.0

0
3
6
9
,3

4
6
.1

7
3
6
9
,3

4
6
.1

7
3
6
9
,3

4
6
.1

7
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

1
9
9
 -

 O
V
E
R
LA

Y
5
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
-2

,6
7
8
.3

8
5
2
,3

2
1
.6

2
1
,7

1
5
.5

0
0
.0

0
5
0
,6

0
6
.1

2

  
  

9
9

 -
 N

O
T

 S
P

E
C

IF
IE

5
5

,0
0

0
.0

0
-2

,6
7

8
.3

8
5

2
,3

2
1

.6
2

1
,7

1
5

.5
0

0
.0

0
5

0
,6

0
6

.1
2



E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

F
U

N
D

: 
1

9
:4

1
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 1

2

1
0
/1

7
/2

0
2
4

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
9
9
 -

 O
V
E
R
LA

Y
 C

O
N

T
'D

  
  

  
  
9
0
 -

 O
T
H

E
R

5
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
-2

,6
7
8
.3

8
5
2
,3

2
1
.6

2
1
,7

1
5
.5

0
0
.0

0
5
0
,6

0
6
.1

2

  
  

  
  
  
  
9
9
9
 -

 M
IS

C
5
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
-2

,6
7
8
.3

8
5
2
,3

2
1
.6

2
1
,7

1
5
.5

0
0
.0

0
5
0
,6

0
6
.1

2

F
in

a
l 
T
o
ta

ls
4
,6

2
8
,1

1
9
.0

0
6
,3

5
7
,2

7
4
.4

6
1
0
,9

8
5
,3

9
3
.4

6
3
,7

8
7
,3

9
0
.1

5
4
,7

8
9
,8

3
2
.1

9
2
,4

0
8
,1

7
1
.1

2



Report to Selectmen 

Month of September 2024 

2024-2025 Tax Year 

Real Estate Tax Commitment - $8,315,962.30 

Personal Property Tax Commitment – $     37,823.73 

Total Tax Commitment: $8,353,786.03 

Supplemental Taxes YTD: $    219.00 

Abatements Granted YTD: $ 63.05     

Prior Year(s) Abatement(s) YTD: $    

Real Estate / Personal Property Tax Payments Collected $3,481,673.42 
Includes Current, Delinquent, Prepayments, and Lien Payments for the month. 

Year to Date: $3,614,966.80 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

Monthly Excise Tax 

Excise Tax Received 

Vehicles registered here at office:    $104,571.84 

Online Rapid Renewal Service       13,854.16 

Total Vehicle Excise   $118,426.00 

Boat Excise 

Boats registered here at office:    $   39.60 

Online Registration Service   $___  0.00 

Total Boat Excise    $          39.60 

Total Excise   $ 118,465.60 

Excise Tax Reimbursement      $     

Excise Tax Collected by State 

Year-to-date excise collection   $  402,776.41 

Respectfully submitted: Susan J. Bellerose, Tax Collector 

ITEM #4: (e.) Tax/Excise Report



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday October 7th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

These are summary minutes in nature only and a full video recording of the proceeding is available to view on our 
YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams or visit our website: 

https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/ 

Selectboard members present: Jessica Picard, Victoria Gavel, Joseph Wagner, David Alves 
Selectboard members absent: Amber Swett  

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 
a. Select Board/ Ordinance Review Committee – Public Hearing re: November 5th, Municipal

Referendum

Ordinance Review Committee was on hand to help answer questions.

David Dulong asked questions about maps and the map that the change is referencing.  He also
states that the new proposed map has deleted dimensions that were previously there.  Linsday
Gagne explains that the map has a tax map overlay now, where it hadn’t previously.  Josh Eon states
that the only way to show the Zone line is if there is defined footage.   David Dulong makes a
statement regarding the Board of Assessment Review and how they operate.

Public Hearing Closed at 6:15 p.m.

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others

Timber Harvesting of Town owned property: 

Jessica Picard makes a statement regarding the timber harvesting of Town owned property.   The 
Forester met with the logging company and the logger will be accessing the Town lots that are on 
Duke Lane and Old Ben Davis via a lot the logging company owns adjacent to.   Josh Eon asked about 
how the logger will be accessing the property.   Jessica Picard stated that we don’t have detailed 
information yet.   Brian Marston asked questions about the lots on Old Ben Davis Road and would 
like to know if the lots are going to be sold etc.    Victoria Gavel explained that the Board has not yet 
made any further decisions regarding these properties.   Bob Eon asked how much the Town will be 
making on the logging. David Alves stated that we don’t know the dollar amount yet.  Josh Grieb 
asked if the abutting landowners will be notified when the lots are going to be cut.  Jessica Picard  
stated that there is no Town ordinance or requirement to notify abutters if a lot is going to be cut.  
Jessica Picard asked if anyone has specific questions about wildlife, noise levels, hunting, vernal 
pools to please contact the Town Manager. 

Overhauling Chadbourne Field: 

Greg Mitchell came before the Board regarding Massabesic Little League and the overhauling of 
Chadbourne Field which he had discussed with the Board last Spring.   Jessica Picard asks Greg 
Mitchell to provide a general diagram of the plans to Lindsay Gagne so she can forward them to the 
Buildings and Grounds Committee. 

DRAFT
ITEM #5: (a.) Minutes

https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams
https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/


Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday October 7th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

Victoria Gavel motions to move forward with the plans regarding the Chadbourne Field overhaul.  
David Alves: Seconds.   Motion passes 4-0-0 

Mail   •York County Sheriff Report

ITEM #3 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Franchise Agreement, Updates if any

None
b. Review Quote for Replacement Bridge at Bunganut Park, tabled from last meeting

A discussion regarding different designs for the bridge took place.  David Alves, who is the
committee liaison, will continue speaking with the committee to get final plans.

c. Joseph Wagner & Karen Kane – AARP Age Friendly Projects
Joseph Wagner & Karen Kane report on information they have garnered from their recent research.
Joseph Wagner mentions that he would like to see an Ad Hoc Committee made up of at least one
member from every committee to discuss items, possibly once a month.   Joseph Wagner also
mentions the yellow dot program.  He also mentions a program regarding an address registry.
Joseph Wagner brings up the application that needs to be filed by October 15th.

David Alves motions to allow Joseph Wagner and Karen Kane to obtain grants without needing to 
meet with the Board.  Jessica Picard seconds.   Motion passes 4-0-0 

ITEM #4 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Fire Chief – All Hands

Chief Duross explains that the GMFR has a system in which they keep part of their records called
Community Connect.   He asked Joseph Wagner if they could add the address registry program that
Joseph Wagner brought up during the AARP Age Friendly Projects discussion to the survey to see if
there is interest in the community.  A discussion takes place regarding Knox Boxes and being able to
use them at private residences.

b. Treasurer Expense Report – Reviewed in Packet

ITEM #5 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Staff Review Committee, CEO requesting a liaison (David Alves or Victoria Gavel)

David Alves motions to appoint Victoria Gavel to the Staff Review Committee.  Joseph Wagner
seconds.  Motion passes 4-0-0

b. Parks & Recs – Request for approval of $7,829.25 from the Playground Fundraiser Expense
Account to purchase a new playground set.
David Alves motions to approve.  Victoria Gavel seconds.   Motion passes 4-0-0

c. Parks & Recs – Request to waive insurance requirements for Town sponsored yoga events
David Alves motions to approve the waiver.  Joseph Wagner seconds.   Motion passes 4-0-0

ITEM #6 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 9/16/2024

David Alves motions to approve.   Victoria Gavel seconds.   Motion passes 4-0-0.

ITEM #7 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #13 in the amount of $29,830.06

Victoria Gavel motions to approve.   David Alves seconds.  Motion passes 4-0-0

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday September 16th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 3 of 3 

b. Accounts Payable Warrant #14 (FY2025) in the amount of $730,784.42
Victoria Gavel motions to approve.  Joseph Wagner seconds.   Motion passes 4-0-0

OTHER None 

ADJOURN David Alves motions to adjourn.  Victoria Gavel seconds.   Motion passes 4-0-0 

__________________________________________ 
Jessica Picard 

__________________________________________ 
David Alves 

_____________________________________________ 

Amber Swett 

_____________________________________________ 

Joseph Wagner 

_____________________________________________ 

Victoria Gavel

I, Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting of 3 pages 
are the original minutes of the Select Board Meeting dated October 16th, 2024 

_____________________________________ 

Lindsay Gagne DRAFT



ITEM #7: (a.) Payroll Warrant





ITEM #7: (b.) AP Warrant














	2024  Recovery Residence Maximums & All Appendicies.pdf
	Sheet1
	2024 GA Maximums - Appendix A.pdf
	Persons in Household
	Persons in Household
	Piscataquis County

	2024 GA Maximums - Appendix C.pdf
	2024-2025 GA Housing Maximums
	Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas
	Metropolitan FMR Areas
	Metropolitan FMR Areas


	2024 GA Maximums - Appendix D, E, & F & Summary Sheet.pdf
	Monthly
	Weekly
	Number in Household
	Monthly
	Weekly
	Number in Household

	2024 GA Maximums - Appendix H.pdf
	Funeral Maximums
	Burial Maximums
	Cremation Maximums




	Telephone: 
	Fax: 
	Address: 
	Email Address: 
	Web Site: 
	Text1: 
	Text2: 
	Text4: 


